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Indicted for C.rand Larceny in eFiet Degree, 

For the Pebble,. 
ASSISTANT DIST rnt ATTORNEY EDER. 

rOr the Defendants, 
MR FURSTEMERG. 

Tried before HON. THOMAS 0 T. CRAIN 

try on the 5th day of April, 1918 840.' - 

ROBERT00 called asawitness pn behalf of 

the People, being duly sworn and examined, testified

follows: 

(Residenc 27 West 18th St 

T EXAM/NATION BY. MR. EDER: 

What is your business? A Driver. 

Whom are you working for? A M 3. OlOonnell 

q• Did youwork: for him on the 1:3 day of Mardh 

Y 

d yoi t 

iert. •A Yes i 

on your wagon, that dal to an 

............. ' ...... IA.. .0. 



now many cameo? A; rive calzsits and one bale. 

Q 'Where did youlake them from? A aOth, Street and Fifth 

kirenue. 

4 is thai a stand that O'OOnnela. hasthe slivery 

merohandOet— A Yea. 

• Q *Where did you take it „to? A To Piet 37 gastrIli r  

Q What kind of wagon dld you take them in? A Open tru 

d truck. • 

(1 Any name on the truok? A Al. J. 010onnel 4 4 West 20th* 

Q What kind of horse we  it? A Blaoks 

q What pier did yo U say it was? A 3?., 

Q Where is that? A Foot of Jaokson Street. • 

Q New York County? A yes.. 

Q When• you oame to that pier what did you do? A I drove 

in the line with the rest of the trucks. - 

Q Did you get off the truok? A Yes. 

Q What CUd. you do? A 1 walked to the platform to see -the 

oheokeri 

, How -long wertheree  talking to the ohecker? A 

five minutes. 

Q Did you come back to where your truok wae? A Yes 

Q Was the truok there? A No. 

Q Did you see tho five oases 

d on yOur trubla A No 

or the bale that on 

When after that did yob. see that same horse and WaO? 

A X seon,it about one ololook that afternoon. 

••• 



Where? A At tlio eta 

Did yoa eVer see any .of those oases that were on your 

wagon that day? A Yes' 

WWN in, the wrelaper 

aeon •Q40 Of the bales thatthe goods 

Where? A M. O.Oonne11 showed it to me, 

When? A . •Ab'out bhe nezt day after that. 

OROSS EXAVINATI01 BY MR. FURSTENBERG: 

q What time did you leave your stand 

k? A. I left the stable, that morning. 

q With the load? A Yes, 

t time' A About 7:05. 

Q And you saw your ho' se and wagon agan at 
,r0 

A. Yes. 

Q The same day? A Yee. 

BY TM COURT: 

q Where was your Maxd, where you saw the horse 

at one ololook? A 20th Street and Fifth Avenue. 

BY MB, FORSTEUBERG: 

Q- Where was your stable that you left in the moz'Xi 

A Clarkson and Washington. 

IR CT XJMINATI.ON BY MR. R: 

4 Were- there any marks on th bate or oa 

hem Ort your wagon? A • Yes. 

' What marks? A 

138110 Danbuty* Conne tiout 

reaclløot 

„ 



Voa: at this borlap.bag, is that the bat or the tole 

queotiOnt A That.wao the hag, that wao,What X had to as  the 

checker about that mar4o Danburr 'Oonneotiout. 

The burlap bag is marked or identification 

tbit I 

NICHOLAS 1% 0 CON EL voe 

beh4f of the P001, duly sworn and examined 

tollows. 

(Residenoe 107 West 11th tree t.) 

CT EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER: 

Q What is your buainese? A Tr king. 

Q How -long have you been in, the trucking busin 

A Thirty years. 

Where do you keep our s and? A 4 West 20th 

Q In this county? A Yes. 

Do you remember the 13th day o± Maroh, A Yee. 

Q Was one David Rpherts in your mPloy as a drive that' 

day? Yes. 

Were you there in the morningwh n he plaoed. oertain 

A hie truok?' A Yes. 

gow many oases? A Five oases and -the ba 

Were those oases d Ivor I to you by your ouo 

A They were. 

Q What oustomero del v 

noichMan4 on 

operty 

e$ the Selina Mufmoturing Company one,  

Selina) 'WO trim Zoner & ohise one, Loo Naudbaum and ono bale 



from Wistman & SOW. That is. six. 

Q What time did this hoe and wagon leave tour'stand? 

'the morning he left abovt bat past seven or eht o 

You, have bought horses and wagons during the thirt 

bave been in lousiness? ' A I 'have. 

A great many times? A Yes. 

Xn the open market? P Yes. 

You have bought and sold them? ' A Yes. 

What would be the fir and reasonable market value * 

the horse wagon and havtess that Roberts drove 

with him? A Abont $600. 

Q Did you reoeive a telephone all 'from Rober 

ing? A Ye 

Q How 'soon after that did you see your horse and wagon 

A About eleven ololook I.oen the horse and wagon back to the' 

stand again. 

Q Eleven o' look? A About von. 

Q Any oases on it? A No. 

Q Any bale on it? A No, nothing 

Q Did ahyOne tele bone to you? 

Objeoted to. 

'THE COURT: Ile say- he r000lved 

Roberts 

q *Did youget telephone oall from 

A X got telephone oll 

Objepted to, 

phone oall fa: 

other the, 



nE coung: Yon or n 

THE IITTNESO: =as. 

EDER: 

Afte ing that telephone all what did you dol, 

A I-seht me son down to the MoDougal reet station houne ktit-

'the truck and horse. 

. . , 
.1bet-yoUr sdh-came with yeur trtix& and h e? A BEt41:-

:the etand.-

•QDid yOu pee any.of the cases that were on that 

the bale that was on .that wagon, after At had left)TOUr 

A I saw them in Police Headquarters in the loaeeMentt 

Q Then? A The'following'morning 

Thais? A The day after. 

Q The day after the 13th? A Yoe the 14th. 

Q You saw the same oases? A The same' eases' 

Q And the same bale? A /090 and the eame bale. -

Q I show you this burlap bag and ask you if that is 

bag A That 40 ,the bag that the, Sherman goods were in 

flame 'is on it. 

-Y9la saw that in Mquter 

rnd that was in the °Roes. • 

Q Word there -1,),ny marks on the aee.  that pu.st ?, A The. 

Marks were all oorapea of just this one ease fltalley 

. . 

s? A The cases were empty 

Reiohman Thy have little rubber stamp. They stallip t eir 

ame on and that was 'till on the, cases It is on the ease 



MOSS VXAMIN'ATION BY MR. FURSTENBERG: 

gow many truoke have you? A Twelve. 

Were you, Present at the lading of all theu0 trucks? 

What other tru ks were leado,  on the 13th? A. rhero my 

have n,two or three others. 

Q Do you know? A I do. 

Q How many trucks were loac3..ed. on the morning of the Lth? 

A That I cannot answer. 

Q Can you tell me the contents of any of the othe trucks . 

on the morning of the 13th? A No, we have so niany. ie have 

so much goods I couldn't tell you, 

Q But you do remember being present when this 

truck was being loaded? A Yes. 

Q You were present when it left he stand about 7 WI? • 

It left the stable at about seven. 

tand or stable? A The stand. 

Q So thdt if Roberts your drive gays that he 1 

o is mistaken about that, is that right? 

Objeoted to. Sustained. 

Where did. this truok leave the morning of tl 

batt or the, stbte? A I am mistaken about the 

A. Yes. 

port-



On the mornixxg f the 13th did e these riot pack-

e ,oases and bale 'put upon the truek, did you see that. 

your eyes, yes or no? A Not on the morning of the 13th, 

no, sir. 

Q Did you see. them put on -that truck at any time 

say on the 12th? A on the -evening of the 12th. 

Q Mare were you -when you saw those packages put upon the 

A _Right on the laid walk. 

The sidewalk in front of what plaoe2 A ;4WøstOth S 

In other Words, on the afternoon of the 12th, you being 

on the sidewalk of 26th Street saw the packages that you have 

been speaking about tak 

ruck? A I did. 

from he sidewalk and put upon Your 

Q Did you see the truok driven away by anyone on that al-

oon with the Aokag e on it? didi' 

Q When did you nest see the truck? A About quarter to 

seven the next morning at the stable. 

Atthat time wow thire anything on the truok? A.There was. 

,Were the packagesthat you have been speaking about at 

that time on the tru k? A They were. 

Q So you-didoee the truok with he packages on t in yo 

stable on the morning of the 13th? A Yes. 

Q Tad you see the truck driven out of your ab e 

morning? A I handed the man 

that 



II • 

--Did you see? A Yee. 

Q You did? A—Tear--

11 AndLwho drove the truo -Ott? A Roberts. 

Q Men did you next see the truck again? A About 

ook. 

Q 'Did Ou ever see tliepaokagea after you saw them on t 

morning of the 13th on the trua'in your stable? A No, sir.' 

BY R. FURSTENBERG: - 

Do you remember the date they were axrea 

Q, on the 13th? A Yoe. 

Q. That is to say the sameday that the goods we 

miseing? A Yea.. 

0.1 

t d? , A The 13th. 

epo, 
, 

Q Do you know who arrested the defendants? A ,Yes, air.1 

Q Who arrested them? A ()Moor Landrigan. 

Q How long have you known Officer Landrigan? A I know 1114 

for a long time as Offioer Landrigan but not perlionalIy. 

Q About how long? A Five or six years, maybe, I know of. 

him, but never spoke to the man until the day ot the affair. 

Q And where did yoU go after the defendants were arrest d? 

did not go any place. 

Q Did you gc; to Headquarters the next day A No, 1 came 

dovtn here to -4-

Q, With whom did you come dawn here? A I was 

With 

00 

Q With whom did you cope dawn here, if anyone?' A Myse 

Q Who did you meet down ere? A , This' gentleman. (In,* 

diCating Mr.  Ed r.) 



Anyone else but 14 —Eder?  

theie and-tWo other officera. 

Q ?Mere wae this meeting? A 

Q At that time the defendants wer 

ee? A They were sitting outeide; 

Q WI/A:re they sitting outside when you ar 

rrived first? A I couldnkt say that 

Mr. Ederls offioe they were there. 

Q Was there any talk about bringing these defend over 

for you to look at? A. No. 

Objected to as immaterial. Overruled. 

Q Was there anything said to you as to why you should come 

ao*i A Well, to fix up the'oase that the goods was gotten, that 

was all. 

Q Had you been previously informed that the defendants,would 

be arraigned in the Magistrate's Court? A No, not before that 

day. 

Objected to as immaterial. Overruled. 

Q Had you? A No, sir. 

q When were you notifed of -the defendants' arrest? A Why, 

the next day I.got a telephone call that the.goode were found. 

(4 Did Officer Landrigan tell ou to be in the Magistrate's 

Court at anytime? 

()Voted to. 

THE COURT; If there was some claim that his witness 

identified those defendants, then the eViaenoe Mild be 



U. 

reeeiValoolmt there is no contention by he People that this 

Witness identified the defendants. 

MR. FURSTENBERO: Very well, thaft is all, 

RED MOT EXAMINATION BY MR EDER: 

Q When the driver left the place on the morning o the 

did you give him these receipts? A I did 

Q Did you ask him to have them signed at the Per 

Was WhOe,he was going with them. 

(1 You gave him these receipts? A Yes. 

A That 

The receipts are marked or id ntifioation People e 

hibit 2 

',LIAM LAWS() No called asawitness in behalf of 

the People, duly sworn and examined,- testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR.' EDER: 

Q. Mow long have you been a police officer?- A Fi teen 

years on the. 11th :day of September, 1917.. 

Do you remember the 13th day ofMaroh4 1918?, A. 700..‘ 
r • 

Q 'Did You on that day see a. wagon with the mark M. 3. 

Q! Connell &I Son? 

Objected to.. Objention.overruled.. 

A I did. 

Q Where? A on Torcelter rtibeet between Hou.toi and 
Anyone 

q Nom on .the wagon? A No, Ir. 

q How long did you have the 4,:on under observation? 

Aboutton or ±iftten minutes. 



I? 0 

.Q, 1lb one 1;111 the wagon? / 

Q Any geOde 0 the wagon? A No.  

q,Anroaxias? A No, 

4
 

Any iiiles? A No. 

Q What did you do with he horse and wagon? A 

to the lpth Preoinote 

Where is that? A On MoDouga. t est be 

You left It here? X left it here. 

EXAMINATZON BY MR. FUR MBERG: 

What time was A 10:3o A. M. 

The Court admonishes the jury in a000rdanoe with 0000. 

tion 415 of the Code of Criminal Prooedure and takes an a 

journment until Monday morning next, April 8th, 1918, a 

10:30.  

New Yo 

Trial resumed, 

„ April 8th, 918. 

OHAR-LES MILL'R—R called asawitness in 'b'ehal 0 

the People, being duly eworn and examined, testified as f01.0 

lows: 

(Reeidenoe 38 West l3nd Street.) 

OCAMINATIOX BY MR. MR; 

What is your busineo? A 3hipiug olerk. 

Q For whom? A Salena  klanufaoturing Company. 

• Q What bwineso Are they in? A 1 Oetton 'geode 
,O, 



9 You rementer the 1 th day of March, 2918?  A 
Year.'•

 

Did you deliver -any goods to Nicholas ,1‘. O'Connell? 

A I did not deliver them personally* The gpeds were packed 

q Did you see the goods 'pecked? A Yes. 

Q What goods were they? A ae pieces or satine. 

Q Were you there when they were packed? A Yes'. 

Q Were you, there when they were delivered to the xPress at? 

A •Y 0. 

Q Where were they oonuigned to? A 3ohn 3. Winolieri,t; 

Vernon,New York. 

Q Did you ever fter those goods left your Lilac() on th 

12th day of March, 19180 see the same goods again? A Yes. 

Q Where? A Police Headquarters. 

Q When? V A ,A day later. 

The day after you shipped it? A one or two days, 

don't remember just how it was. 
A 

Q• The same goods you shipped.? A Yes. 
'shor 

q The same amount? No there was about six pieces ;WM 

aitoss EXAMINATION BY MR. FURSTENBERG: 

MR. FUR TENBERG: I.move to strike out the witness 

testimony as )having no bearing on the case. 

Motion dented nd exception. 

Do you 000upY oft? A No, the store. 

How many PooPle were employed there? A About,rQWteeX.0 

q. Tim many shipping clerks are there 



TT'Sfrr. 

You did not pack the'padst A Yes -

•thought yct  Said yon did not paok 

em 

Q Didn' 

oked? 

you newer the Distriet At orne 

THE COURT: said lie did not deliver them. 

Did you see •Ilem.paoked or pack hem? A / pa 

BY MR. EMI 

Q How long have you been connected with that 

A Since last May. 

Q Do you know the market price o merchandise that they 

sell? A Well, yes. 

Q You see it sold and bogght? . A Yes. 

q What was the fair and. reasonable market value of that 

oaSe on that day? 

Objeoted to 

.THE COURT: I will allow you to examine him. 

BY mil, FURSTENBEAG: 

CI' Did you over buy any of these goods? A No 

Q Did you ever sel 

BY R. EDEA: 

, Q Did you see it bou t.in your place? 

By THE COURT: 

Have you been present when goods of that kind. 

Purohased an* somebody connected with your establishme 

A Might1y,at a( lance but never had no conneotion with t. 

of these goods? A No. 

.1 



fin COURT: 1. think r will take =tics 0! the 

-this youhg mall is shipping oleXk and although he 'has anr., 

eweVed certain ormal questions which on their surtace veuld 

qualir him to answer, I do not believe that he is quail 

tied to exPres 

take it - 

nion,as to the value soX willnet, 

l'AMES V. M a L A U L I X, called as a*witness 

behalf of the People being duly sworn and examined, testi-

fied as follows: 

(Residence 376 st 109th Str t.) 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EDR: 

Q What is your. business? A Shipping clerk. 

Q What firm? 'A Staliey'Peichman & Compan. 

Q What business? A Lace curtains.. 

Q Do you remember the 121h day of March, 1918? A 

Q Were you such shipping olerk on that day? A Yes. 

Q How long have you been connected with that firm? A About 

Jaixteen years. 

Q Did you pack .ny goods that da4 that were shippedxby 

O'Connell? A Yes, sir, we had a case for the Curran Drygoods 

Company, Waterbury, Oonneotiout. 

Q, Did you paok th5,it case yourie1f A Yes. 

Q Did. you deliver it to 00Oonnel e drive? A Yes, 

Q Do yeu remember what it contained? 4 Yes. 

What? A 64 ,patr, of curtains, one piece Of pariel Yard 

Pi 000 of muslin good° and one Pi000 o „ • 



7 

DIA—YOu ever see those 0004e after they left your Place? 

At Police Headquarters, 

Q When? A lihe day after. 

Q: Teo days after you shIPPed it? A Yes. 

Q Did you find the same goods there? A Yes. 

4), The same quantity? A Yes no, some missing 24 pairs 

urt ins and. two pieces of muslin yard goods missing 

Q since you have been with your firm did you yourselfPur-

oha e any goods in your Place? A Yes. 

Q, And did you sell any goods in your place? A 

Q Did you see it sold? A Yes. 

Q And charged for? A Yes. 

,Are you acquainted with the fair and reasonable market 

value of the merchandise in question? A Yee. 

Q What was the fair and reasonable market value of the 

goods shipped by you on that day by OlOonnellis express? 

A $251.50• 

Objected to. 

THE COURT: Strike out the motion and will give you 

an opportunity to make your objection. 

MR. FURSTENBERG: I object to the question. 

THE OOURT: This evidence differs from that of the 
0 

last witness, from the oiroumStando that this witness says. 

that he has bought goods. I think I will let him give 

testimony. 

=BERG 1 di;eot your Honor's attention to 

6 



the fact that the question was  only directed, as. to the. our.* 

tains while the witness has deseribed the contents of that 

case aa being any number of Other things.. 

BY MR EDER 

Q You saw those artioles sold in your laoe? A Yeom 

Q•All of them? A Yes._ 

q

 

And purchased in your e? A Yes. 

Q. During the sixteen years you have been e plo ed h 

A Yee. 

Q And you know the different valuesof e different item 

A Yes. 

Q Anyou know its market value? A Yes. 

Q How much were the curtains Worth? $250.51 

Q How much were the other artiolee worth? A That is th 

contents Of the whole case. 

Q What were the =tine worth, can you say without 

tng at anything? A No. 

Q Have you anything.by which you can refresh your reool-

1 otion? A Yes. 
a. 

Q A bill? have a memorandum of the contents Of 

FURSTE1 ERG: I objeot to his reading the items. 

THE COURT: You may look at the memorandum and if that 

refreshes' your reoollection you iy tell. us from reoolleotton 

what alus was. 

A aoh cost a different price .noI would not be able tel rom 



m 

q Is t4is 0, memorandum you made yourself? ,A No, sir, a 

memorandum front the firm ,of' the contents ot the ease, 
BY •THE COURT:-

5 

Q What kind of goods were he curtWin made of? .A Isass0 

curtains and Marquisace curtains and muslin yard goods and 

fills and paner yard goods. 

THE COURT: I do not think theat this witness can give 

testimony as to the value. There are people connected Wit1. 

that firm who undoubtedly know what the Value of these ar.i. 

ticles was. This witness. may describe *hat he put into the 

case, and then, if he saw that case after he packed it, 

taken by the man whom he knew at the time as One employed 

by the truckman, he may •testify to that fact. 

MR EDER: Re ha testified to that. 

THE COURT: There is a.careful and methodical way o±. 

presenting,gb and I think we will take time to do it in 

. that way. 

BY THE COURT 

Q You were inside of the loft of your emploYers? A Yes., 

Q And your business was that of a shipping.clerk?•A Yes. 

9 1 understand that ith you hands you put certain'things 

into a case? A Yea. 

That you have been trlkirtg about? A Toe. 

"Q Now, on what day did you do that? A On the lath of 

March 

AMC. 



0.1 An Stet 

Of what year A . 1918. 

q And what Wae t that you put into that oase? A. 84 pairs 

f curtains one piece of panel yard goods, six pieces of mmelin 

at goods and one pieoe of fills net.. 

Q

 

After you placed those things inside of that oalie what 

the nest thing,. if anything, that you did .on oonnection with 

oase? A' I put the routing instruotione on it and addressed 

it New York, New. Haven 8: Hartford, Curran Drygoads Company Water.. 

bury, Conneotiout 

Q What did you mean by the first part ofyour answer, 

routing? A That ie what route it 

steamship. 

Q And that data you t upon the outside of the case, is 

that so? A Yes. 

After'You did that what, if anything, was the nog t,44ing 

you did in conjunction and in connection with the case? A 

made out the shipping receipt. 

Q That shipping receipt, before you 'wrote anything on it, 

goes by, what railroad or 

game to you .how? A We have all toe copies Of shippipz re-

ceipts a d we write them out as we make Out the oases,. 

In other words you have blank forms? A Yes/ , 

And you filled out on that blank after you,had do 

that what was the next thing, if anything, that you did? A 

entered in our book. We /axe a ood for the, truckman. 

Q YoU made an entry in a book? A Ye 

After you made that entry in the -boo what was the not 



44 

A As soon as 000onnell o a, hie truekman, 

came up and took the oaCe and signedour took for i 

.Did you, see am come? A Yes. 

Do you kno0 the name of the man who 

Q Did you ever see him come and take QaaOO before? A Ye 

Q And you would recognise him if You saw him? A Yes, 

Q He presented a book to yo U and you signed? A No, 

nted the book to him and he aigned. 

Q In a book? A Yes. 

Q You saw, the case removed from your loft? A Yes. 
C.1 

Q I take it that you do not know the number of yards 

any of the material inside of that ease of your own knowledge? 

A No, 'sir. 

Q I take it you have never bought yourself a sthgle yard 

o± any one of 

A No, sir. 

e kinds of goods that were inside of that oase? 

Q And I take it that No you were never oonnected with that 

part of your establishment that does the work in the making up 

of the'ourtains? A Well, not direetly.° 

Q You have been a shipping clerk? A Yes, sir, but I g 

a hand on and off in the factory but not in he making of the 

THE COURT: 

as you oan, Mr Eder: 

EDER: 

nk you have gone as far with h 

••••T 



U ,placine the ,merchqndiOe nr a mule da YOU amok off .1410 

G? You yourself 

And did yOu make, auoh an entry that day? A .What. 

Did you make an entry of the yardage that day? A The 

Yardages are all in the shipping slip and we chedk the goods from 

the shiPping slip. 

Imot,trom that? A Pack them right into the osse. 

Q And from that you know how many yards in the paokage? 

Q Did you measure the goods? A Nop sir, but eadh piece 

goods has a respective number and respeotive yardage on. 

q When a pleas of goods comes into your -hands it has on 

a label or tioket or something upon Which a certain something 

Q By whom is that written in your place? A It 

en in our pleas., it comes froM the.manufacturer 

we mt. 



Do you manufaoture he 'curtains? A 4 uht,theM. 

When you say mount them, what do you mean? A Th 

in frame and we moubt them on the nets. 

Q The body of the curtain is manufacture somewhere e 

What do you mean? 

What do you mean by the frame? A There areMarquisette 

curtains, net curtains and all kinds. The nets are out such a 

size as they are ordered and frames a e mounted on the nets 

Q Where do you order them from? A The nets come from the 

Amerioan Bobbinet people. 

(1 The net curtains are manufactured by someone else? A Ye 

Q And when you say net, is that a particular kind of cur,. 

tam n or part of any curtain? A. Tilat'is a part of a ourtain, 

that le the mesh. 

Q And then is there another part added to the curtain when 

you eceive the net?- A Yes according to what curtain it is 

Q What do you call thRt port that is added to it? A 

called, them Lasse frames, 

Q Do you manuf!Acture tho frame or buy them somewhere el 

The frames are imported. 

0, so understand' it you use different parts to make up the 

whole curtain? A Yes.. 

They assemble tho various parts to make up a.complete 
)14. 

A Yes,. 

That le your £ns conne o . k 

t 

tr o*tttr 



tie our*ai 4v -Tea. 

Pico° goods that YOU handle you buy frOM the manu-

ractUrer? A Yee. 

Q And you_remember the oase'that you marked? 

Q Did you vr ee that case again? A At Poll 

terE. 

adqUar-

Q ere the mailfe on it the same? No marks the marks 

were scraped off but we have a rubber stamp that we always mark 

On o.ses from Stalley Reiohman and they omitted to take that .off 

•R. FURST NBERG: I move to strike that out 

THE COURT: He saw the marR. Strike out, they omitted 

to take it off. 

AB WAHAM SOHWAR,T Zo galled asawitness in be 

of the People; being duly sworn and examined, testified as 

follows: 

(Residence 1147 Tffany Street, Bronx.) 

DXROT EXAMINATION BY MR. •DER: 

A is yqU'r businees2 A Foreman in a warehouse. 

Q Are you now foreman in a warehouse? A No. 

Q What are you doing now? A Working for the United 

Government Brooklyn Navy Yard. 

q You are working in the United ft es  yard? A 

*Q Now long have you been working there A One week. 

Q Prior to that week where did you wort A For the 

y Warehouse, 384 Washington Street:' 



In 100A 60P40t.Y ..))70;0114#4.i, 

.AbW long did you work there?', A. Alittle over .a.-ment1V.: 

Q;• Were 70u working for the Surety Wa °house on the 13th, 

7 of March, 19187 A Yes. 

(I Did yOu on that day -see any one'of thee "four d fondants? 

Objected to an leading. Overruled and exception. 

YS. 

Whioh of these four d d you see on the 13th day of ard]  
1 1 7 A Three of them there. 

Q Step down and pick them out, put yoir hand upon them 

A ( Themitness steps dawn and indicates Henry Harff, John 

Gollifer and John '010onnell.) 

Q Was the 13th day of Marc , 1918, the 'first time tbt you 

ever saw them? A Z 

Q When before the 13th day of March, 1918, did you see 

any one of these three or four defendants? J. A week previous. 

Q A week previous? A -Saturday it was +10•11 

Q Saturday previous to the 13th day of Mardh? A Yes. 

Q On he 13th day of March, 1918, what did you see these 

three men that you have just pointed to, do, if .1nything? 

THE COURT: Ask him where he saw them. 

Q Where did you see them on the 13th day of March0, 9 

A At the'time when I seen them we had truckbaoked in alo 

side of the warehouse. 

Objeoted to. 

.I asked you when and ? A 384 Wae ington .1;x0fElt. 



1,00^1. 

Q New York aountY? A w York City. 

q What kind of b din i 84 Washin on 

Warehouse. 

Q Owned by whom? ,A By the Burety Warehouse av_zy, 
Q You  were employed there as the foreman? A Yes. 

Q What time of the day did you see them? A About half 

past nine." 

Q In the morning? A Yes. 

Q Wha.,t did any one of these three men do when you first sa, 

them that morning? A At the time, we had a truck backed in de-

livering a load of canned goods to be taken awqy from the ware 

house, *hen they came in with a truck with five oases and a bale 

on it and they said would you take them in. 

Q What? A Asked us if we would take the goods in 

warehouse, . 
, )4 

Q Whom aid they ask? A Me, and beim, a. publid wareho 

took the goods in. 

'W.d you talk to any Of these three men? A I. 'Geld them 

was to give them a truokmanl receipt for the goods and they 

accepted a truokmanis reoei)t and they left and I sent the 

upstairs on the eleimtor. 

q You picked out three men? A Yes. 

Q Were there any otherti around. the 4 I wouldn't say lot 

e was another there, might have been and might note iave be 

Q You only saw three? A saw three. 

Q Were they all on the wagon? A Three were On t Wagon. 



:''  COURT: Xt 

Q Where did you see 
r. 

Q lhat d d. they do  after they wore on the wa 

A They helped take the oases off on the platform. 

Q Did _they all do any talking, or did any of  

talcing? A Only one. ' 

Q Which one? A' The big ellow there with the 

Ob eOted to af3 1cfaci4xin• 

J. leading. 

them? A They ho wagon to-

e• 

Q Step down and pick h out? A (The w1esstepswx 

and points to the defendant H nry Harff.) 

Q Did they say anything a to what you should do with 

P s Es? 

Objeoted to as lead 

BY THE OODIRT: 

What was said? A He said take them upstair tha 

should take them upstairs. I had no room downstairs and natural• -

ly had to send them upstairs. We were very orowded downstairs 

q You say you saw them the Saturday before that? A Yes. 

Q Where did you, see them the Saturday before.that? A 384 

Washington Street 

The same plaoe? A Tee. 

Its same men? A The same men. 

q What did they do on that .day? 

Objected to. Question withdrawn; 
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You gave them a rudkman 0 v000 

Q They left?  

Q, After that did you see any one of these man again, A Ye 

eon Rarffp the one yaa say is Tlarff 

When? A He came back that fbernoon with an automobile 

and a ohauffeur or the goods 

Q What if anything, did he say Alen he eturned that 

ternoon? A He said he would be back - when he left in the 

morning he said he would be -back in the afternoon for the goods, 

and so I told him, I said to bring 6 truokmanos receipt and g 

over to the office with him. 

Q What? A I told him to bring the truckmanle receipt 

I gave him and to go over to th offioe.. He went over, there 

the girl went and told him what storage was oh the goods 

Objected to. 

BY THE '0OURT: 

Q Were you there when that said? A Yee. 
V-

Objeogtion overruled. 

THE WITNESS: (Continuing) So while we were In 

office he handed the driver $15 for storage. 

BY M. EDER: 

You him do something hand e,driver 

115 for storage. He said he was going-away and he should meet 

him down to Delancey Street somewhore I &mot, know amaotly 

where, but he said the driver should meet him down to Deland 7* 
r. 

waiX rousOd to releaseithe goods until X got an order from th 
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Q, You refused.? A Us. 

Q What happened then, What did thie de t do 14 any-,, 

ins? A He left and he left the ohauffeur there to p 

storage and to wait, to get the'oodsi I had to wait until I got 

the proper authority to release the goods before I could give 

to. him. 

Then you released the goods, didn't you? 

.Q Did you ever see him again? A I did not see 

until down in Headquarters. 

Q Police Headquarters? k Ys. 

Q Before seeing this defendant in Pollee Headquarter 

You speak to.oertaill Police offioars? A Yee, sir -- the only 

time I spoke to .the offiocro was at the time they came in and 

"asked me 

•THE COURT: Naver-mira that. 

You spoke to certain Police officers. 

THE COURT: Yes or no. 

Q Before you saw.these men inHeadquartersyuhds 

to certain detectives? A Yes. 

Q They came into your place? A' Yes. 

And asked you questions? A Yee. 

Q You answered hem? A Yes. 

Q How soon after that did You 

day. 

1; That mas 

to tie ,deu rt er A The 

ext raw thee defendant Yerlo 
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Tell me the olothes that these defendants wore 

A -They were in' their working clothes and blue shirts. I dim 

remember exa tly the colors of the olotIles but I recognized the, 

Amibut shirt they wore heavy iremen's blue shirts and had On 

workingmen's clothes, That Is the only thing 1 notioed. 

Q What kind of hats d d they have on? A I didn't p 

ticular attention to the 'hats, either. 

Q Did they have derbies? 

Objected to. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Are you able to reoo leot what kind o hate they had 

One of them had a cap on, I don't remember exactly what 

clothes they. had on. I remember their faces very well and that 

is about all that I know. Onoe I see a faoe, I have a good mem-

ory, 

CRO EXAMINATION IV MR. FUR TENBERG: 

(1 What are you working Rt in the Navy Yard? A As a 

laborer. 

Q How long were you working at be Surety War hous 

tie over a month. 

q

 

Where were you workino: be e thRt? A I was working 

MoOlure ft-ndy factory. 

Q What were you doing there? T I was paok ng and mark 

How long did you work there? & About six' months . 

Whole did you work be ore thi,t? A Your Honor, I wish to 

ask you a qUe tion I do not see whether the coun00114)w.has 



0 go 00 far into MY persOn4l details. 

THE. COURT: 1e has a right to ask you. 

THE WITNESS; I Would Ulm to know if it is n0000Pa1t 

for s: man to give his whole pedigree to the counsellors . 

THE COURT: We will go back-Ap.your oase about six 

years -- no further than that. 

13TMR,FURSTENBERG: 

Q Where did you work before you worked for theNcOlure 

oandy factory? A I worked for the Interborough. 

Q How long did you work for the Interborough and under 

what name? A Under my right name. 

Q How long did you work for them? A About three mouth. 

Q Woad you mind telling where you Worked before that? 

A I. don't remember. 
befOre 

Q How long a time did you work in the place xturs you work.p 

ed for the Interborough that you don't r66mber.4he name of, 

one month, two weeks or a day, don't you remember? A I do not. 

Q I thought you said you had a good memory? A For some 

things I have. 

Q That you have .not a very good memory about your 000upa-

lion ten months Ago -- you don't know where you worked ten 

months ago, try and think a moment rtIld see if you oan remember 

where you worked teh'monthe ago --.you oan't remember?A.A No» 

Q Do you remember any.otherplo.00 where you,- worked or haye. 

you anrrea011eotion, or, have you any reason for it wanting to 

tolLIA 0040 you worked? A I don't remember* that is sUf 

a 
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•ficienito Z,thlanke 

Q Is that the tact oT'ie t that you regard that as c'  suf-

ficient -answer? A X regard that ea a ouffioient answer. 

Q Ao long as you regard it as a sufficient answer) tell us 

what is the faot) where did you work before you worked, :ea t,b. 

Interborough ten months age? A I was if you want to 
anything. 

Q Then you aid not wo,A -- do you remember any other plaoe 

or ed in ,the X.44:0  three years? A . 1_49, ziott„ 

Q That is the truth) is it? A That is true. 

Q He- long have you been in New York City? A Well) on and 

• 

off about ten years. 

Q Where were you during the imes you were not here? - 

A Different plaoes. 

Q Tell us some of themIL A I hire- been in faltimore 

• Q Are you sure you were the foreman in the Surety Ware- • 

house? A.. I was supposed to be. 

Q Were you the foreman? A I was. 

Q Had you ever worked in a warehouse before? 1 I,had. 

Q. Where? A I worked for the Sunset Warehouse. 

Q Where are they boated? A Located on Greenwioh S 

Q When aid you work there? A I don't remember: 

q Was it a year ago? A No. : 

Was it longer or not? A I don' remember the exact d 

Q.. -1 thought you eaid you had avr3ood metory7 A I have. 

Q When a truokman brings a load of goods to a w rehouse) 

• 



0). • ,- 4,04i, • 7:71,MV: 

* OUPPOOed 'to hand a PaP0;• to YOnl A &Witt m000e0aTtiY 

haVe to hand Me a PaPer. blm receipt.. 

What is the .praotioe? The.practice is that when take 

oda-X give him a receipt for the amount of goods I recelme. 

Any person may drive up there "and put a load of goodd. A 

your Azebouse without your making inquiry about it is that a 

fact? A I don't know about -that. 

It has been your experience at the Surety Ware 

were the foreman there and you saw .tly egerything that w 

get orders to go and receive such lots of goods in? A 

q Can any. drive come up to your plade and put in:a load of 

ode? A Sure. It is a public warehouse. 

Q. Any person can, without handing you any reoeip A That 

a public warehouse. It is for 'the publio benefit. 

A_ Did you look at the wagon the goods were brought in?. 

A I seen the wagon. 

yes, T 

Did you pay any partio ar attention to it? *A. Well, 

aid a Little particular attention to it. 

Abont'hOw many wagons do you see' in the cours 

A don't know, I:never'counted them.. 

Q -About haw :many?, A 'I think that is a'very foolish ques-

tion to ask me. I cannot o,newer how I told you I saw 

quite a:few. think that is suffleient. I don't. stand in the 

-street CoUnting wagons. 

Q He moans at the warehouse., A ..The may he pUt it to .Me 

ans. everyone Passing. there ,tnd there 1s thousand pasai 



vIts 
_m•poati AildPolt‘g 

THE COURZL 116 means at the Warehouse. 

rUHSTEUBERG 

CI At the Warehouse? A Some es 

ti ma a dozen. 

Do you remember on the. 13th of Mara how many tucks 

4roe to.your ttrehouse) or wagon A Yes, sir. 

How many? A One .I had. 

Only one? A -Yes. ' 

Q After you had received the ,good o as you say, you saw 

' hi defendant O'Connell there) didn't you? A Yee. 

Where was he standing?, A He was on the truck at the 

time. 

Q You are positiVe of that?' A Sure he was on the trtøk. 

Q You remember him distthotly being on that truck? 

three of them. 

Q I talk about O'Connell, you remember O'Connell) the laat 

A The 

man sitting at the table you remember him being on the truck? 

A Yes) he was on the truck. 

Q You are sure about that? A Yes. 

Q Your Memory is cofrect about that? 

Objected to. 

Q. Where did you nest. coo O'Donnell?A POlioe Headquartors. 

Q Who did you go to Headquartero with? A Detdotive Lana-

On what day wa hat? ' A On the 14th. 

Do Tou (member If 
, 

Virday or Saturday? 

•••••• 



,d0n15t remember What da 

Q Or ThurSday/ A don't •remember what da 

aotly. 

q That was in the evening wab it, oz. during the daYT 
A Wont the in the morning 

At that time you saw the four defendants, all four Of 

Q They were dressed as you say 

A' Yee. 

Were they alone there/ 1. No. 

There were four other me there? A Illere wa ot 

Q How many others were there/ A I think eight or 

Q. A total of eight OW nine? A I think se. 

That Is four 'others besides these defendants? A 

you yea there were others there'besides hem* 

Q DO you reMember haw the other four men..Were dressed.? 

A. Yed,-I remember how the othar. four were:dressed.: 

,Q, Didn't they .all have stiff eollars on? A Yep., 

think they did. 

Q And'these four defendants were the only'onepyho 

heir ng'olo 

did not 

have stiff oollars, is not that so/ A They were in the same 

olothes as I saw them before. 

Q That is in'working ()lathes? Yee. 

Q With blue shirts.? A Yoe. 
v. 

And the other four men were men with s 

A Yes. 



now• zo.o.init, 
q. were y IA told, t 

uotbings 

ey were detective A X vien 

qTheywere much taller than theaedefendants? 

remember 

Q 1 thought you said your memorywas verygood?. 

Objected to. Sustained. 
, 

Q These four men were together there? A They were togdther 

Q, And there were two other men with stiff oollare better 

dres od standing on each side of the our defendants is not 

that so? 

Objeoted to. Objection øverrulcd. 

A There'werw. 

Q And at that. y'au were asked to pick out the men 

you ay were at the warehouse on the 13th of Marc% 10 not 

that so? A Yes; 

Q And you walked over to the 1 inc and you picked out 

defendant Clark is not that fact look at that. man? 

lank 1 did. 

Isn't that the man you plakeld out as being the ma 

Was present at the warehouse? A Yell, rir I think. 

BY THE COURT: 

q What your answer? A 1.0Ry I think 1 did 

B TURSTENBERG: 

And an t yolk ay. 0'00 11 was notere? A , 0.1(ln t 

Atoah 
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nothin 

BUt'youdid not pick O'Connell out? A I Picked out throe. 

Q Did you Pick out O'Connell at Polioe Headquatters A T 
a 

don t know the man's name at ail 
, out 

Q Did you pick this mu:10h° now stuido up, at ?olioe Head-

quaxters, O'Connell? A No 

Q You did not? A No. 

Although you now pick out O'Connell, and say that he iS 

the man that was dam there, is that correct? A I have made :a 

fli stake. 

Q After you left Police 'Hèadquarte.rs where did you go? 

A 'To the District Attorney's office. 

Q Who did you see at the Distriot 'At o n y's fioa? 

A Mr. der. 

Q Who was with you when you left Headquarters? Mr. 

H nderson was with me. 

Q Who is Mt. Henderson? A One of the men that works with 

11 • 

one of the employes of the warehouse? A Tee. 

q. Who else was with you? A Detective Landrigan. 

Didtou have a talk with Ld.ndr1aflon- the way do140, A NO 

word was Said? A Nrt in regard to that.casel 

Q Nothing was said.by'you to Landllgan or by pandriga 

you,  this craze, was th re? A NO 

Burp of hat A Sure. 

Did 110 141;70u. why.101,t,y0we ward*, awn, in the Dii3, riot 



„ 

8 
AtIoey's Offille? A He stated that in HeadquartoVs 

, go 
g the lieutenant, that we were to Emma there. 

endersen talk abdUf this ease whie you visro with 

him nd landrigan? A Not that I blow of. 

You were there and did not heal anything id by him to 

L ndrigan or by Landrigan to him about this oase, is that cor-

t? A Yes. 

Q When you Riot down Ed offio did you see thsse 

de ndants) these four men? A They werc.brought in afiterwa 

You were in the office at the ti4e? A Yes. 

• Q Were you asked "Are thee the mend? A Yes. 

•Q Waa that question put to you? A I said yes. 

Q Four defendants were brou:ht. in and before you inM. 

Ede 'a office, is that oorreot? A Well) yes. 

Q And the questio cils'Ihcm asked you "Are these thø men 

is that oorreot? A Yes -- he asked that question-- pio out , . 

each. man. 

Q At that time there were none others present but these 

'our defendants and the offioer and Henderson, is that rizht? 

A The chauffeur was there. 

Q There was not attempt o line these men up with anyone, 

else..and ask you 10 p 9k out the men you saw at the warehou 

was there? • 

Objeoted to as immaterial) ant and. inoornpstent.;. 

Objeotion overruled. • 

there any attempt to line these thon up with any 
' 
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Pike Mit the men you som at. the 

waVehOu40? 

lThen did you fret say hat you Cot t Icing in 

this() eases? 

Objected to. 

_Q• Have you ever said it? 

Objected to. Objeo,ion sustained. 

Q ,Did you ever yoke that statement that you eivo 4o 
for taking in these casee?. A I am just wondering what you are 

talking about:. 

Did you ever make that statement? A I never made no 

et tement.,• Are you satisfied? , 

Q Did you reoeive any money' for taking 

Did I receive any money? 

Q For. yourself? A For myself? 

n these oases? 

Q Yea. A No. I underetand 'what you are geting,at very 

Q There is no one you wait to shield in this case? 

ai t Shielding anyone, Iam here*to tell• the truth. 

Q You are sure that no other person or persona than these 

defendants brought the oode to.that warehouse, are you? A 'Am 

- 1 sure? 

• Q You are sure therews nooIrpersonenthan those 

andante brought the goods to the ware heuee? A No, Woody 

else brought they there that knew of outside of those felldwe.-

q Were you shown a picture or bhøso defendants up at the 
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District Attorney s office'? A, 

Is this the picture that we shown to you Yes. 

'Were these names on the top of the plottre hen it was 

shown to you? A They were, 

The Picture is offered in evidence, received 

objeotion and marked Defendant's Exhibit A, 

Q Do you know who wrote, the names on the pioturee A No. 

Q Were you preSent when the picture was taken? A No. 

Q Did you learn when it was 'ten? A No. 

Q Did you see this picture after you had left Headquarter 

A I saw that picture after Headquarters and after Iidentified 

them in the District Attorney's office. 

MR. PURSTENBERG; I move to strike out the 

part of the answer. 

Motion denied. 

Q And were you shown this picture outside again in the 

hall before you went to the Grand Jury room in this case? A No. 

Q When you were shown this picture -- who showed you the 

pioture? A Mr. Eder had it up in his o fice. 

Q Who was present at the time? A Mr. Eder was there, M 

Henderson, mysdlf the truck driver or, the ohauffer was 

there. 

Q The picture wilas shown to .11 f them? A The pie 

shown to, each one of us.' 

.you had been to HeadquUters aM picked out three. 

you had seen these four defendants in the District 



Offi e, You were then shown this pioture vith,the 

names .on it is that oOrrect? A Yes. 

At that time there was another present, the chauffeur, 

his name? A I don't know the ohauffeurls name. 

Q Yaa remember the chauffeur was ptesent at the Dietric 

orney's offioe at that time? A I identified him. 

Q He was the man who moved the goods out? A To 

xs the ohauffeux in court, have you seen him around 

I saw him up in the DiStrict Attorney's Office. 

Q Have you seen him today? A No. 

Q Or on Friday when the case was on? A No. 

Q He was not here at all as a witnese, you have not seen 

him as a witness? A I have not seen him. 

Q Do you remember the chauffeur being asked in your pre-

sence and In the presence of the defendant whether or not any 

f these four defendants were the men who moved the goods out, 

and do you remember him ansswering no? 

Objeoted to. Su tainedi 

Q Do you remember what question was arked the chauf et 

to who moved the goods? 

Objected to. Sustained.' 

Q Do you remeMber a conversation had by Mr. Eder and the 

ohaufeur in the preeenoe of yamo IC 'MI the defendants? 

THE COURT: 'Yee or ne. 

A Yes. 

.BYMBSTENRERO: 

• 



1)0 you remember the-anoWero'mad0 to the qUestiOn0,40lied 

'by Mt. gderl 

THE COURT: Yea ov. no. 

A. 1 ,don:t remember  

BY Mt: FURSTENBERG1 

Youdon't remember A No, 

Q Do you remember whether or not the '80jeot o..e. the question 

was Wistitax the goods that you claim were brought into the ware*, 
le 

house, by some .of these defendants? 

Objeoted' to-. Sustained and exCeption. 

Do you know that chauffeur's name? A So -sciar 1 

sky. 

Have you ever seen him before? A have, 

Q Do you know where he •oan be 10 ted? A Yes. 

Q Where? A Down in Ludlow Street near Delanoey, 

Q

 

Now long have you known him? A I only saw him twig 

is the only 1hing I know o hiR. 

REPT EXAMINATION BY MR EDER: ••••••. 

The first time when You oame-to oe Headquarters you 

say it was on the morning of the 14th of Maroh? A 1 think 00. 

Qt 

And a oertain number of men were placed in a line? A Yea. 

How many? A I should judo 1out oight or nine, I 

neverunt d them. 

a 
4 

Inoluding these four men ? A Yec-

You.were asked to pick outc_tho men who brought A 

/4 • 



oases? -

.C1 Ana YOU Picked out how many? A Three I picked out. 

q You stated in nswer to cQunae1's questions that you 

mistake, did you make a.mistake there or here in Dour 

stake here it court. 

'Q You made a mistake here in court? A Yea 

Q Whioh three do you say =r were there? A rho three o 
then sitting in 4 row there together. I remember seei g their 

o say that the three that you, 

first second and third? A Yes, 

Q Which are he three that you saw on the 

were the three that was on the tuok. 

• Q The same three? 

ed take the goods in. 

BY MR EDER: 

Q You say you aain saw these d.eendants 



t" n4, 

19" a eitend6M11010v.1.21 my awn what you 

were saying? A IQ,, sus not ao Z know of, I did not =ties hi 

q Not a woman may be a man stenographer 7.4* did you see 

man writing? A Not at that time. 

Q Did you hear me ask you questions? A Ye 

Q The, officers were in the 'room? A YeS. 
A 

Q You Made answers to those questions? A .Yee.' 

Q Then how manY days after that did. you eee this pioture, 

De ndant's Exhibit A, how, many days after that did you see tha 
r-

picture? A 1 did not sgeilta,it'piaure until a couple of days 

afterwards, think it was. 

Q When ol.1 went before the Grand Tury? A When I went 

before the Grand Yury I saw that pidture. 

q And you were asked again to plok out he men who wer 

there? A Yes, sir. 

MR. 'YURSTENBERG: object to what w 0 asked not in the 

presence of these defendants. 

Objection sustained. 

MR. =If withdraw the question. 

Q You said you saw certain names on here; did.you ee any 

names at the tip the picture was shown to you, try and think 

look at the picture and eee if you can ay? A These names were . 

put 'on after we came out of the Grand. Jury: 

Q Did you see who put the o0„A No 

Q Do you know who put them on? 'A 1 do not knol 

m on. 
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You say., you were sick about• a year:a 

That was the matter with you? 

. _Objected tc. Oventeeete 
/ 

A X pneumonia, 
4 

How• long had you been sidk? A. Sinoe about 

2 Mere you in bed all that time? . 

Objected to.. 

• 

A Yes. 

. Q Prior to your ilinese where did you vOrk 

odd jobs around. 

Q Any .job you could get hold ef? A Yee. 

Q You had no regular trade or employment? A 

• Q YOu have been doing .that for how many years? A Bean 

doing that for a number of years. 

Q Have you ever been convicted of any orim A No 

RECROSS EXAMINATION BY R. FURSTENBERG: 

Q Do you retember my asking you before whether you were 

shown this piotuse before you went into the Grand Jury room an 
0 

do you remember you answered no?, 

Objeoted to. 

THE COURT: He has said the sam'e thing now. 

MR. FURSTENBERG: NQ 

(The prior testimony witness is. ret 

By M. 3J STENBERG: 

q' Do you remember etai4ng on cross examination th 
• • O. t • , 

Yo 

• i• 

„ 

iT 

••• 
• 



• *t see'that Picture Ivkan lion went before the Grand.Alr 

THE COURT: He says now he saw it when he left t a 

Grand. Jury 

rnr viu-oottv 
q Did yOu see it it the rar8 JUTIr room? A Yes, 

r 31R,MRS ENBVRO: 

Q Who showed itto you in tho Grand Jury o do 

know who it was in the Grand Jury roam, but / 'ueae who wage la 

°barge of it the officer. 

Q

 

Wa it shown to you. outiide o± the Grand y ro ? 

A t outside. 

WaS it shown to you before you appeared belorø the Grand 

vxy? 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Was shoWn toyou before.youwent intot Gra Ju y• 

room? A Yee. 

'BY MR FURRTEITBERG: 

Q Where were .you at the time it was Shown to you? A2.1 

was Jn.Mr .tder'S office. 

Q When ws that? A I don't.know the d co, 

vir COURT: • 

(1 How much timedpassed aft,r the time that the plum 

was shown to you, before you"5t3t ixljo the Grand i\ry room? A 

don't know et),m6t3.y how much time passede-

At  aboUt what hour of the do was it shown: o you.14 

IV. Ede 140 VooAl' A Z t1ink itIvas, A the sAernoon, 

• 



,fprir.na 

A What time did you go before the Grand 3ury Ai In the  

afternoon I think it wae 

Q Which happened first, the showing of the pioture 

go ng into the Grand 3ury room? A Showing the pioture, 

By MR. FURSTENBERG: 

Q Why did you say to the oontary n answer to my questil4 

MR EDER I objeot. There is no euoh evidenoe. 

Do you remember statin that Tt the time this picture 

was shown to you that the names were on there the first time 

theY were shown to. you? A' The names were not on there. 

Q Do you remember stdang in answer to my question that the 

names were upon this picture? A I do ,notthink so. 1 don't 

remember stating it. I don't think I stated it. 

Q Do you know whether you did. or met, will you say one way 

or the. other, whether you sard the names were on this picture 

when it was shown to you.? A Iwould not commit myself be-

cause I aint oertdan just now. 

You don't remember? A I don't remember. 

You don't remember whether or notopyou said it? A"1 • 

don't remembei. 

Q Will you t 11 115 why it wEls that you said you oould not 

,remember where you worked when I asked you the question and you 

ouddenly remembered where you worked when Mr. Eder asked you the 

quo tion 

Obooted to. , °Nee ion ltRined. 

P 



you over see any of the oases that were brought i 

the men, you said brought them in, after they left your 1La 

1r01040 

Where? A I went with Detective Land.rigan to identiO 

th6 chauffeur and from there 1 went to 7amaioa with Deteotive 

tardrigau and two other offioers. I Vent along and oame back : 

about ten o'clock that night 

Q Ana in Iamaioa did you oee th 

Q Whioh were brought in by these 

Yes, sir. The goods were taken out 

Q Did you see where they were taken from Tamaoa 

from a ,little drygeeds store. 

Objected to as immaterial. 

Q. Where were they taken When they, were taken fro: 

re were they taken to? A 

You -ent along? A I 'went along as far as Del 

oerLandrigan was there? 

And Collins? 
PqRSTENBERG: 
How many ceoes 



U 

... 

49 

Q You have MO. reoolleotion of. that a a11 A 'Vreli I flaW 

:the markings were all OM 

D0 you remember the marks On the oases recétyod. by you 

e warehouse? A I did not -get a dhanoe to look at-themt 

Q You did not see, them? A I'did not get a ohanee to look 

t the oase,S, 

13Y MR EDER:. 

Q When you delivered the oases to the chauffeur that ámo 

around did you take his truck number? A Yes, pix we have to 

teike it. 

Q Is this in your handwriting, this number on there( 0-

.dioating)? A Yes. 

Q Was that the truck number? A Truck number 821723. 

Q That wad the number of the machine that took away h pe 

oases :Cram your place? A Yes, Sir. 

Marked for identification Peol'Ilels_Exhibi 

BY MR.V FURSTENBERp: 

Q. The ohauffeur was with.yoU in Mr. Ederts Of toe, the. 

ehauffeur who dmove tliese oases from the warehouse? A Mr. 

Eder sent for him latex, after I was there. 

Q 

in Mr.- 

He was pr sent with you and Mr. Eder. and th 

derls office?. A Yes. 

detectives 

QV And he is the man who took tho es om the. 'ware 0, 

not that so? A Yes. 

ROBERT H.EN IDFRSOI called as a, witness ir 

'Of the People, V eine duly storn and eXamined test 

1?ehalf 

fled as 



on, • oh; .00.,901;•• 

A 
150 

f 1104 

(Residence 2096 T3ostcen. Road, Bronx, 

'DIRECT EXAMINATION I3Y MR. DER: 

Q lihs;t is your business? A r work in the storehouse, 

storage'. 

Q, How long have you been wor]ing in a stdrage wareboUse 

A About seven MOnths• 

Q. what storehouse are you working :Cox? A The Surety Ware. 

house for Stillman. 

(4 Where is that? A .384 Washingt n-Stree 

Do you remember the 13th day ,of Maras 1918? 4 The..  

4 Were you working there that day? A Yes, 

• Ci Was' Sohwartz the last witness working there: that 4a 
• 

MU: 

te 

..!Y7ut 

A lie Wag. 

What waer his position in that place? ShiP14sS clerks 

9 Pletlfse look at the four defendants, did. you see any one  

f these four defendants on the 13th day of Marcflz, 19i8? A leOe' 

.4 Had you ever oeen any one of these- four defendants. before 

that day? A No. 

That was the first time? A Yes. 

Where did you see them on the 13th day of Maroh? .A 384 -

Washington Street. 

Q Did you see all four? A 'Saw only three. 

Q Stop' down and point to the three men that you sal% th 
N' 

13th da/. Of Iffarci at 384 Washing.ton Streets ut your hand; On 

their sho. dere?A (The -.Witness etepS eindiOates 

*40,91 



rot, !bile 0060nd and numbeit ifOur. 

THE COURT: Re points to Iohn Gollifer, Henry Har 

$0bn O'Connell. 

Q Where did you see them that day? A At 3841/ashMA 

Q What did you see any one of the three men or all og 

ben you first saw5 them? A lust backed up their wa 

Q Then what happened? A. one or two on the wagon helped 

push the oases towards the back and we took thorn off. I helped 

1`. 
Ave 

v 

oad took, ill_upst44re. 

Q Is that the last time you saw them that day? A That 

was the last time I saw them that afternoon until the came 

back in the afternoon and got it. 

Q Did you see the same three men come baok in the afternoon? 

A. I only saw two in the afternoon. 1 did -not have muoh, time 

to look around. 

Q Which two did you see in the afterhoon?A The fir 

Gollifer and Harff? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you hear any conversation between eitbør one of 

two men? A No, sir did not. 

Q (Continued) And any one in your'? Iddnot 

on't get time to lieten. 

Q About what time of the day did you see them? A 

were there in the morning-- 1 oouldn't say exaotly what time 

bemuse don't get time to walk around and see what time it is. 

CI What are you there? A A laborer. 

Q You help arollntalring aeos up atd own? A 

.4r4441 



P 4714 at* 

q NOW were You at my office? A Yes. 

q Before being at my office were you a Police Bead Uarters? 

A, No, sir, 

cl You were never at Police -Headquarters? A No. 

Q You were asked certain.questions in my office? A Yes. 

Wø a stenographer there? A Yee, 

You answered the questions A Yea. 

Were these four men there at the tithe? A They brou 

them n there. 

Q You were asked certain questions A Ye 

yew., 

(ROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. FURSTENBERG: 

What was 'Mr. Schttai.tzt business?A Shipping clerk. 

How many shipping clerks were there down there? Ably 

GUO shipping clerk, that is Mr. Schwartz, or was. 

,What was the name of the foreman? A Mr. Schwartz. •He 

was supposed to be the foreman, our boss. 

Q He was the *foreman and shipping clerk? A Yes. 

Q About how long a time did you see the three men t a 

brought be truck there -- did you help upload the truok? A Yee' 

I did, 

Q Any other lod.cre or unloa.derp, worl. on tho ocZ 

youngad -I suppose he will be here after awhile. 

Was is his name? A Tom. 

Q, Tom what? •A Gilligan I thin]'. 

.4 

are 



wOrked on the Ulla? A HO was One of the 1aboXers 

helping to unload. 

A YOU did not pay any patioular attention to the oaaes, 

did you? A I did not 

Q 'You did not know the names znarked on the oases A Ho, 

I did not. 

Q Where was Sohwartz when this wort was going on.? Sta 

herb telling us what to'do. 

Q Vow, did you ever. see this pioture? A Yes. 

Q When for the first time did you see the picture? A I 

think I saw it in the office of M. Eder. 

, Q When? A I oould not exactly say the date: 

Q Do you rembmber the day of the week? A I don't bex'. 

Q At the time you saw it were the names written on ? 

I did not bal-enotioef to the names. 

Q Was it shown to you before you went into the Grand jury 

room outside in the hall? A No. 

Q At the time it was shorn to you was it shown to ,Mr, 

Schwartz? A It was shoWn to me and to Mr. Schwartz T suppose/ 

Q He was present at the time? A He was present. 

Q What was the 000asion of .showing ,you that picture, do 

you know? A Tuat lmking me if I could piok out he men. 

Q Was the rmme question asked of .M.r. Sohwart, if ho ooul 

PiOk out the man from that pl_.9ture? A. Yea. 

A Was it the same day that this picture was shown to you 

that the four defendeuUa were t.ikøn to the DI riot Att n y s 

WWI 



'Pr rnre ,••••••••••--

•rdee roma A It wax, on the same dm 

BY TIM 0OURT: 

Q Which h4ppened first, did you see the defendants 

DiStrict Attorney's office before you saw the pioture or 

see the picture before yousaw the defend nts? A I saw 

fendants first. 

Q In the District Attorney' office A Yes, sir, sitting 

outside in the hail before I came 

13Y MR. FURSTEINBERG: 

Q When you came in you came alon 

A Yes  

Q You saw the defendants sitting ere? A YeB, 

with Offic 

out t 

Q Then you went into Mr. Eder's room? A Yes. 

Q Then later the defendants were brought in? A Yes. 

gan? 

not in there when they were brou,ht in. 
• 

Ytr-Were yllou. there at any time they were .brought'in? A No, 

not. 

°Q, ere you inthe room at any time riththe de,fendants, 

Mr. Ederls room, at any time with the defendants? A Yes, .onoe. 

Q And were you then asked are these the men? A I was. 

(1 And then you were shown the picture, 5 thatright? A 

not shown the picture then. 

,Were you shown the picture 'before 1' 

if I could pick out the men. 

They asked 

Looking at the picture?' A After they broughtthe 

fin 



',re{ 

Ater they brought the men in you wore qhown the picturoT 

-TM COURT: 104.1 want to get that right you say, 

you saw three men On a truck? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q At the warehouse-where you were working? A Yes. 

Q Then you day that you saw three men eitting outside of  

Eder 's office when you went into Mr. Eder's effioe? A Yes. 

MR. FURSTENBERG: Four men sitting outside. 

Q Four men -- then you say that_you were at one time in 

Mr Eder's offioe when four men were inside of it? A They were 
e• 

brought in. 

Q Brought n? A Yes. 

Q When wets it that you were first shown the picture  

A That was before see these gentlemen, befora that were brough, 

Q On the same day? A No, the day before that. 

Q. On the day before the day upon whioh thesø men were 

brought into the' District Attorneles °Moe, you were in Mr. 

Eder's offioe and you were shown the pioture, is that sot A They 

were brought in the office. .1 was not shown no pioture that day. 

They asked me if I oould pick out the men and I pointed out each 

one and the pioture was shown to me a day boor 
next 

Q The picture wae shown to you on one day and the 
daythe

 four men were brought into Mr. •Eder office when ouvrer9 

mn Mr. der'e office and you wore aelma 14 you noul4 16:0 out 



• 
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Q I /hat so? ' A Yee. 

Mn other words at the ttme.when yau e ask a:whether 

you could, piok out the men $ you had already seen the pietue? 

A 163 

Q Because you had seen it the day befere? A T seen it the 

day before. I pioked them out as soon as the picture was awn. 

gtmia, WiSTENBERGt 

Q, And then you picked out O'Connell? A Yes. 

,As one of the men? A Yes. 

Q That was the first time you had seen -the defendants 

other than as you .say on the 13th of Maroh? AYes. 

',Were you not at Polio° Headquarters? A 1404 

Q Weren't 'you up there With Schatz? A No. 

q. And Officer Landrigan? A No. 

Sure of that?' A ...I am Very sure. 

:BECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER: 

Q How long have you been in this country? A Sino I was 

two years old. 

Q And you have worked all your .life -- how long have YOU 

been working? A Since I was old enoughto go to  work. 

ci4ott„, _You never were convicted of any crime? A I have 

beexi in t-W4army. 

• Q When that  picture via e shown you,. did anyoiio toll you 

wItioh .men to piok out? 

Objected to. Obeofloxi O1LLULh • 

" 

,du! ""` • 

IA 1 



TIMPOURT: Yea or no, 

Did anyone 'tell you what men 

pioked out three men? A Yes. 

RriCROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. VURSTENBERG: 

A No. 

Had you'spoken to Officer Dandrigan aboUt this oase be-

fo e you went to the District Attorney's office? A No. 

Q Sure of that?, A Very sure of it. 

Q Mr. Landrigan never said anything to youaboit the dase; 

A No. 

Q Who asked you to come to the Distriot'Attorney's office? 

Mr. Landrigan came to the place where I was working. 

Q Did you ask Landrigan why you were wanted at the Dis-

triat Attorney's office? A He told me -I-

Q, Did you yes. or no? A Did I ask him if I was wanted 

th re? 

Q Why you were wanted there? A No, I did not. 

Q Where were you when he asked you to come to the Distr 

torney'a office? A was working. 

Q Did you immiidiately go with h here?. A I did 

Q Did you make an aPpointment with him for another 

A Told him I would be ready whenever I was ealled upon. 

Q Did, he call for you in person and bring you down? No, 

$ he just left word there at the placd.. 

Q' You. never. spoke to Okficor Landrigan at a1: .bo the 

Be? A No, 



:re 

Q Not UP until thie day A N say how do 'you 

good morning:to him that was about ail 

NaVer told him what yOu knew about.the oa e at all? A No. 
ever 

Never told Officer Landrigan you adooeen either of thee 

dsfend.auts before? A Cer ainly I.told,him I„saw the men, 

Q Then you did talk to him about the cp,se? A Sure, 

that manner. 

Q. What? A In that manner I dL1J, I just told him 

the man, that was all. 

Q 'Did you pick these men out by their names? A No, .1 did 

not see any names when I picked them out. 

Q Are you positive you were not at Headquarters and Pat 

Your hand on the shoulder of one or three of these men? A Y 

remember now, ma, I remember now. 

Q Who did you go to Headquarterswith? A With M 

Q Who? A With the deteative.. 

Q What is his name? A I don't know the name. 

Q. Was It Offioer Landrigan? A I think it was.' 

Q Did you have a talk with Officer Land igan on he way 

toHeadquarters? . A No, did not. 

Did you know what you were 

A nure I did. 

5ow did you 1, ow it 'A I3eoause.he told me it before 

Who told you about Lt be or ? ,A . Told me he m rht call 

go ng eadquar or?. 

Bp 

Who d you? Nike 

" • ;1.. . ••• 



Arr., ,dmiktrostokawo, MOWOMOr—

not. 

q Who? A The detectiVe4 

You are very friendly With h 

of Mike? A ,Tuat what I have heard 

Q Is that Officeo Landr.igan? A 

suppose the way they call him. 

q Don't you know whether it is or not -- is that Offioer 

Landrigan you refer to Mike? (Indicating the office A I 

suppose that is his name, everyone calls it to 

(Officer Landrigan is brought into. the oourt room,) 
BY MR. WAR: • 

Q Is that the  officer? A. Yes. 

BY .11M, mtsTrilimR01 

Q ,Did Officer Landrigan tell you What you w re wanted at 

Headquarters for? A All. I know I helped uoad and load the 

WagOn.and / don't know -nothing -else. 

Offiaex Landirgan tell you why you Irr( *awbed at2 

Headquarters?, A TO see i I knew the men. 

Q And was there anything else said about what happened at 

theearehou e on March -13th? A '1 didn't hear nothing 'else., 

q Did:you say anything. else to Lanigan? A IA‘id not. 

4?ld Landrlgansay.anything else to yoi? A .D dn't say 

AQthing tome. 

Q Only you were ri:oked to come tb I-lea uat,ors and see if 

you ooud do what? ik If I knew /14 meho 

Did he toll you how -many men were 11,,..ther ? A He dici 

o wqs with you? ' A 2 hviartze, 



.111CV: .4004Victliftk-0"001e, 

Q Were you and Sohwarta •tOgether'you pioked out the 

men? A Schwartz Wae $11 first. 

Q Did :you know the men that ohwartz Pieked out? A Did 

I know the men? 

Q Did you know which ones Schwartz picked Cut? A I 

shouid I know when I was outside and he was inside. 

Q I ask you did you know which Men ha picked out? A No. 

Q How many men did you see in the line when you picked - 

out the tht 

in the line. 

A total of about five? A Five men, something 'e that. 

Altogether how many men were thee. in line? A I 

couldn't exactly tell, five or six, something like that. 

Q Including these four defendants? A No inoludin 

lot - yes, five or six together, the whole crowd. 

Q When Schwartz went in to pick out the men, where we 

you? 'A I was in the hall. 

Q Who were you standing with? A Standing by myself. 

(I Was any officer with you? A No. 

men that you have indicated? A Four or five men 

Q Where was Landrigan then? A- I don't know, he was 

ing to someone in the hall eomewhere. 

Q Did Landrigan say anything to you about whew you 'pibked 

out? A No, nobody had to tell me who to•,)ia out. 

Q You e sure of the men you say you saw on that t k? 

Toe.- 

Q 'You are iure O'Connoll was one 



the truok? AYes. 

Q. Take a flood look at hiM look at this man (Indioating 

00=011);.  are you sure that is, man Pioked. him out. 

Q I know you pioked him out, but are yOu Positive that .ia 

man you saw on that truck? A I said. yes. 

Did you pick him out on this pio:ture also? A I did. 
41' 

Q Did, you? A I di 

Q Who dici, you indicate - to whom did you tell you picked 

him out on this picture that he was 'the man who asked you tb 

look at the picture and. see if he was there? A Mr. TIlder. 

q When was that? A In his offioe. 

Q, Weis that before you had seezi the defendants or ter? 

A That was before I had seen them. 

Q. so that you saw the pioture before you saw the defend. -

ants up at the District Attorney's office? 

THE COURT: He has said that already. 

BY MR. EDER: 

You ñean before you had seen these defendants inmy of-

floe, is. that oorrect? A Yes. 

Q Not before you had Seen them- at. Police- Headquarters?' 

did not see no picture at all when I went to Headquarters  

Q When you came to my office you were shoal this picture 
4, 

si to pick out whioh ones Of the men were there? A Yes.. 

Are you sure there were only three .men, on the wwon? 

A That 1784 all I took. notioe Of, I didn't 

see hew rtway m 

F-

t muoh time to loo 

1, 



aY have been there* tut that ia all you nOtieed?' 

A That was all I. seen.. 

OMAS GWIGAN* called asa itneee in beth f 

the People, being duly worn and examined) tee ified as 

follows: ' 

(Residenoe Houee of Detent 

EOT EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER: 

Q You have no permanent home* have you A 7o) my fio 

dead. 

Q What io your business? A Fireman. 

Q On a ship? A Yee. 

And you have been a sailor for hOw many yeexsL A 

Q On the 13th of March* 1918, where were you work4.ng 

• A EmPloyed by the Surety Warehouse* 384: Washington, Street. 

Q How long had you been employed .there? A About a month. 

At that time you were working there a month? .A Yes. 

Q Do you remember any cases dnd a bale coming in that day? 

A Yes. 

Five oases and a.bale? •A Five oases nd a bale. 

Q 'Were you there when those five eases and bale were de 

livered? A Delivered out? 

Q• Del in? A Ye * oir, I helped to tao titem a 

you see.the num. that brouht the carie). there? 

A Yee0 



o:you see al* Of them bete 

come down and .point out the men you saw bring tiose 

oases int° vow? .'pla0Q .4 point them out* 'A (The witneas. leaves 

2e a1r4 nd goes tolguds the ooummel table,) 

the defendant. Go111.4er 

the two that you recall brin 

e any others? A There wa 

Can You reoogniae him, can you -reoo 

oan.. 

Where ie he? A Right ne.t to the 

tile third man? A The. 

ale third mant 

e you oertain of that A Pretty certain 

eve ore. you when those Jive oases Knd 

10 vivre loadinti.papeaz on an 
auto 

ki.04t.kis 
f.-



bruok baoked up. 

du hear any one O tb.o thre defendants that 

Ploked out say any h ng to them? A •No. 

A Yes 

Did you that same day see. any one of theo 

Whish one? A GoIlifer. 

Come over here and point him out. (The witness 

es the defendant ollifer.) 

Q Where did you see Gollifer again that y A In the 

ehouse. 

Q What floor? A On the third floor. 

Did he talk to you? A Well, yes. 

Who was he there with? A He was there with awe31 

dreseed man. 

Q What did Gollifer Say to you when howas on the.third 

floor with the well dressed man? A 1 opened :the oases up for 

What did he aek you to do, what dic he say? 

told me to sorape the boxes off: 

Q Who did? A Gollifer and the well. dresed man. 

Q Told you to torape what? ,A Scraps the boxes. 

You meat the names? 'A Yes, sir, scrape the names. 

Q When ydu say serape:the boxes what do you mean? A Where 

rou write the names on the boxes -- whioh is a common 000ur 

renoe„to,...do in twro1ouse,: 

'•ia you .to that? A Yee; 

:t 



'WM what?' A With a sCraping iron r4e00 of 1..ioN. 
IMO was done after the =mak; were soapedt A 

t oax it was dinner time then and T oouldnst pay. 

to say did you do anything with the oases? 

you had sorapod thee names off, what a the next 

thine you did A / mint to dinner. 

BY 1111. EDER. 

Q Md. you do anything else befo e you soraPed the names 

o t A- Yes, I opened the boxes up. 

Zho mak asked y9u to ppen the boxes op? A A wøll axes 

sod man and the man I just Showed you. 

Q Gollifer? A Yes. 

Objeoted 

THE COURT: I will reoeiv1t as against Golli 

BY MR. EDER: 

What did.they do, ritien they- opened the 

man felt :it and he said it is ootton 

lox° ? A The big 

blaok stuff'. 

What did Gollifer ay? !l Nothing. 

MR FURSTENBERG: I iove to strike it out. 

Iftw G 'lifer there with him? A Ye 

THE MORT will leave it in. 

" Exception. 

q• Did you olbr the cocio up ate th)t? tk' Y lb 

ed the nJ.fls b in again. 

Did Gollifer ivo you anything A The well dr1Jsed 



0411104111. 

'man ':handed me a dollar and he said I am cek 

ith a truok to get this stuff. 

Gollifer was there at the time? A Yes. 

q Did they leave then? A Yes, they left together+ 

Q Were you there when the oases were taken sway? A I 

left as they were taking the oases out. They were jus 

the oases out when X left. 

Q Did you see Who wai there when the oaae were taken away? 

A 1 couldn't say aboUt that because they left as I etarte, to 

take them down the elevator. 

Q Did you ever see these men from. the 13th of Ma rob unti 

today, did you ever see them? A Yes, I seen them once before 

that. 

68 

Where? 

MR. FURSTENBERO: When, have the time fixed. 

THE COURT: I will let .him answer the question. 

When did you see them once before that? A ,The follow. 

in SaturdaY before that., 

You mean,the SaturdaY 

that.. 

Q., You mean th 

mean the saturday before 

aturday before the '13th day of 

saw these men? A Yes% 

Did ilhey brinr; an 

Japanee stuff *III OW.. 

Objected to. 

THE COUP‘n I will 

roh you . 

's then? A Drought in oaseciof 

long they 



r 

under his obserVatiOn at that time6 

11114 AIRSTENBERG: I object to the 

CI How 1oriai4niewere they in the urety1xehouse 

Saturday before the 13th day of, March, how lonp.a time live they 

n there? A How long a time were they there? 

THE COURT: 

q Yes, on the Eaturday before, from the time you first 

saw them until they left? A About a half an hour. 

BY MR. EDER. 

Q Now aor the 13th of March until today. (id 

ne of those men? A No 

You were up in my office? A Yes. 

Q 1 showed you a photograph? A Yes. 

Q And. asked you to pick out certain men? A Yes. 

CROSS EXAMIiATION BY MR. FURSTENBERG: 

q Who were the men that you were asked to A.o 

Dtr±ot Attorney? 

Tbjeoted to. 

BY Ti  COURT 

A 

t

 

orner 

You may tell us whatou were asked; by the District At-

bat did the :Ditriot Atterney say to. you? A Up in 

offioe? 

Yes. Just anked ine what lappen a in th,3 wa 0 

• Q Aside :rem that when ho rsked'you to pia out 



1 

asked yo U if you C014(1 di) ad, What dia he oa A Xe juat asked' 

me to pidk out the men XJiew thae 

He showed yoU a phOtograph and asked you to out-• the 

men you saw at, the warehouse? A 'tee. 

-BY-MB: FURSTIMBERG 

Q How many men did you piok.out from tht photo'aph? 

A Prom this picture here? 

Q At the time it was shown to you by Mr. Ede, 

d d you pick out? A Two -- three men. 

Q, Whioh le it, two or three? A Three. 

BY Tilt COURT: 

Q When you were in M. Ed.er'a.àffioe and were shown the 

picture how many men did you piok out? A Three. 

''an Men 

The Court admonishes the jury in a000rdance with 

Seotion 415 of the Code o Criminal Procedure and takes EL 

reoess until 2:15. 

After recess. Trial resumed. 

THOFAS GILLIGAN, resumes the stand: 

CROSS EXAMINATION CONTINUED BY MR, PURSTENBERM: 

Q After you, were shown the ploture, did you inctioate on 

tliepioture, the men that you say you saw down at the warellouse 

A Do you mean lid I identify them on the picture? 

Q Did you point out on the picture the men tha yaa,,A, 4 

warehouse, as you say 'A Yes I did, three of.them. 

Withctt lookinf at the times, tell us oint,out 

Vb 

4 

0.• 

, A 



Vrhioh ones You say you, saw• down at the 

seoOnd 414 third* 
q - 

THE COURT: The irst three.(Indicating Goll 

Hart and Clark. ) 

Q Now, look at the defendanteseated here and te 
or you: say you saw 

Ones you saw' down at the warehouse? A Whichones' I say at 

warehouse? 

Q Yes, of the men here? A The first three. 

THE COURT: That is Gollifer, Harff and 0 ark. 

Q Did you ever say you saw this list Man? (Indicating 

O'Connell)? A No, sir. 

Q Why .we it that you first stated you onTy saw two and 

then hesitate for quite some interval before you picked, out the 

third man? A I wanted to make certain aboutit. 

Was there a doubt in your mind?' A No. 

Q About the third man, at the time you pi1dottWO? 

A No, sir, no doubt in my mind, I only wanted to make sure. 

Q Was thre any doubt in your  at the time you picked 

'ot the third man? A No, nit) doubt 'in my innd. 

Thy didn't you, pick out the three? A Deca 

ce  certain of the third man. 

When you picked mit two, you. were ,Jot certain ae to which 

ones of the rema.ninç two was the third man, is that so? 

jested to. Objection sustained. ception. 

You say you saw, ai you term it, a well dressed man at 

e house on the afternoon of the lthp.ii that right? 



Deeciribe that rian? IL The man i notAler04, 

( Will 06 describe him? , A. A-weal built met with black 

oveirooat and blaok suit and a watch and chain hanging across 

here and a black muetaohe 

Mustache? A Yes. 

Light or dark? A 

ç Eat you ever n him before that day? 

You were not at Headquarters? A 

Had you ever seen Gollifer before that daY 

did you .says 

Q Had you ever seen Gollifer before that day? 'A I seen 

By looking at the picture you heard hitt nal 

d:the names mentioned. . 

When did you hear his, name mum name mentioned? 

the .name mentioned three or four times. 

What? A -I heard it mentioned three or four timess 

( When *as th first time you heard it mentioned? A 

s it '04kicer Landriafl mentioned his name? A 

ell= telling me they had same ame.lted. 



'". 

Landrialin who mentioned 'hie name 

it a polioe officer mentioned his name? A go. 

Q Who mentioned his name the s000nd time, you eay,you 

boa d it mentioned several time's? A X. thi,n X heard prott 

' certain 1 heard it mentioned again 

Q Did. Lohdrigan eVer mention his n 

Me • 

Q Did any deteo 

to think. 

a ever monti hie nittne? A 

o names 

se if you oannot reoolleot wh-o it was mentioned 

name the second time? A The seoond time? 

Q Yes, you heard it mentioned several tirnes,.you say? 

A You oan hear plenty of names mentioned lost of times. 

Q lust Gall:Ceres name. A In a plaoe like the Detention 

Home you heard everybody's name mentioned. 

Q Before you went to the, House of Detention? A I told 

you l'heard it on bey Street. 

Any other plaoe then on Dey Street? A No, I would 

Q DO not say no if it is not so, is timt Yes, 

1 heard it mentioned in fly• street. 

q Did you hear it mentioned by any polio° officer? A No. 

Q Did you hear it mentioned In the District Attorney's 

fioe? A No ... I couldn't 

re you in the Die rio. .Attorney's offlo A 

"hen? k 1 oouldn't say the date the 

óu, the date I fi3$t went bi 

h or 19thi. 

r was aioi:thergli!..' 
' 



- V.

/ 

O

This Pi tar(' wa4 shown to you then? A Yes. 

Q Was the name on it at the time it was shown' to you? A t 

did not notice any name On it no  sir, 

IQ Would you say it was or was not or don'tYou ember? 

don't remember any name on it 

Q It may have, been on and yOu don't remember? A' It might 

e been', yes _ 

Q Did you mention his name as Gollif r then? A No. 

14s.he present at the time? A No  

Q Was he sitting outside the District A l'orney's office? 

A Noi eir,'I did no  see him. 

cl Whoas present at the time? A The attorney I o ut. 

he attorney in he office. 
4 

Mr. Eder was present? .A Yee, 

Was Officer Landrigan there? A Tee. 

Were any other persons there?. A .o t that.I know of. 

Do you know Mr. Renderson? A No. 

You don't know Mr. Henderson? A Bob Anderson? 

Ba,Anderso' s that hie name) do you know him? A Yø. 

Was he in the District Attorney e offioe while youwore 

there? A One 

I. • 

e, thøse de1ondantrthere? A No. 

utside? A No sir, I don't know. 

Was Offioer n ieian there? A Ye , 

Was the poture. here at the tilte? A Yss. 

Tcv mnny timeo in11 were you 

I

Diotanlot 

4":•.‘ 
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Athorney 011100, A Twiale 

Q Was Mr. pohwartz there? A Once. 

4 Was the picture shown to Schwartz while you were ere? 

A I oouldn't say. 

-REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER: 

Q Do you know the names of these four' men sitti g here do 

you know whioh one is Gollifer? A The one I pointed to -0- no-

• the one they call Gollifer was the man that had the s Uuch hat 

at the time they fetched tha stuff there.. 

Q You don't kno, their names now? A. No. 

Q You know there Is a Gollifer among them? A YOG. 

You know their faces? A Yes. 

ROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. AiRSTENBERG: 

Q As I understand you to say the in you knew as' Gollifer 

had a slouch hat? A ge had a slouch green hat. 

Q Where did you see that? •A Saturday LLnd rzte;ain on Wednes-

day. 

Q Where did you see it Viednesday? A On c man's head. 

Q Where waS he then? A ,At the Surety Warehouse, 84 - 

Washington Street. 

Q -You notice that none of the men In thii pioti.ro has a 

slo oh hat on? 

Objected to upon the ground the picture speaks for 

OMIT: The picture is inevideriôe. 

0 



L- t' H.STILLIAA.111, Waled as a Witness ihbel..;' 
half of the PeQP)Op beiTq thLr Worn and'examinod, testified, 

follows: 

(Reeidence o9 Boston Road) 

DIRECTEXAMINATION BY MR. EDERt 

What is your business? A ma 

house Company. 

of the ''.,.ure'ty Wa 

Q Corporation? A No just a warehouse company. 

Q, Do you remember the J3th day of March', 1918? A Yes. 

Q Were you such manager oh that day? A. Yes. 

You are one of the proprietors there? A Well *or, r•Ri 

Your wife is? A No ,,I act as manager and half the p o. 

fit I Get 5 a week and half the profits of the company. 

Q Was Mr. Schwartz in your employ on the 13th day of 

oh? A Yeti. 

Q What was his position? .A Foreman of the warehouse. 

Was Thomas Gilligan in your employ on he 13th of Marc 

What was his position? A Porter. 

q Was Bob Anderson or Charles Hendersonin your employ 

that day? A We °ailed him Bon. 

WB hein your employ? A: Yes. 

Wht was his poeition? A Porter. 

Look at these four men and state if you -ever ss 

of t1ieso men On the 13th day of Maroh, 1918? A Yoe, one m 

hich ono? A The M dd e one. 

4 

r•-••• 



• BY• THE COURT 

Q Put your band on the man? 

THE COURT: The witness 

ant Harff. 

I saw him around about noon time. 

Q Did you have any oonversation with him? A Yea. 

State the conversation you had with him? ,A He offered 

storage money for oases that oame in that building that morno, 

øae that. e in,there that morning. 

M. FURSTENBERG: I move to strike 

'THE COURT: I will'strike it out: 

BY THE COURT: 

Q What did he say? A He offered me m 

Q What did he say? A He said 1ore'i 

for the storage. told him to o, a'Ound to 

an  oases? A NC 

hen I went around the 

Obj ected to 

money for the 



ye% AP lot r pplov.‘ 

mon 

Was 120 th.ere? A Wh  

Q Was this defendant there when you spoke to your girl? 

ot say then what you ,aid -- you had a ttAl wit 
• 

A Yes. 

.Then did you see this man do anything after that? A No,. 

,Q Did he giveany money? A I did not see him give 

Y. 

'Q You ai4 not see? A No. 

Q Did you see him again after that? A I saw him a few 

minute safter when I came back from the office, he was around 

there and 1 said to the foreman --

BY THE COURT  

Q What did you see him do? A I just saw him standing 

there. That was all. 

BY MR. EDER: 

cases brought dawn at that time? Yes, Q Were  

two oaees dawn there on :WI utak at the time, going out. 

A 

h .ere 

. Q Did you have any further., talk with this defendant? 

THE COURT: Yes or no. 

Q And did you see any more oases goin out atex that? 

A stopped the rest of them from going out 

MR. FURSTENBERG move to strike out the 
,4hum ' 4 -44. 444. 

Motion denied. 

ER: 



, P44:1 you see ay more oases oi ot.it aieter:-.that?. 

. .01 .10.4. did..40t.ptie. any mole'. A No. 

....Q.:4WItolVillow Whether. they.lvent 0701 .A Yes' ei ti 

t out because I was told they'went ottr 

I ':Till strike out what he was told. 

CROSS MCAUINATION 

Q ,When a person brings in a case to your varebowaó or 

storage, donut you make any inquiry as to who it is to be oh 

,gainst, or the storage? A Yea. 

• Q That is the regular course? A Yes, 

Q Do you know if it 'wall done in this oase? A Yes 

inquired from the foreman ana 

said to him did you get the name.. 

Q You merely inquire.as to the name o he person. -bringing 

in the goodie? A- Yes. 

.

 

And that name,Is marked down in your book? 

omp- lied-to, we have to do that. 

Q That is all the .inquiry you make? 



op.14%,14,40,0wOolp0.41 
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.DZRMT L. 1iDI 

Q' Hoe long.haVe you been attached to -the Polio Poree oC 

the City, at Palogkl  A Sixteen ,:Oare. 

•How long have you been a deteCti o? A About fifteen. 
' • • 

Q Did you arrest these four defendant ? A Yes. 

Prior to their arrest MA you go to, the Surety Wøro1iou.ø . 
10. 

On Washington Street? A Yee. 

Did you there have a talk with anyone? A Yee'. 

Q With whom.? A With Mr. Schwartz, the foreman. 

Q 'After that taIh with the foreman what else did you 0? 

A After we talked with the foreman the foreman told us --

THE COURT: Never mind that. 

A We went with the foreman, Officer Crowley) Col i s and 

self to Rockaway Road, l'amaioa with anmovi.ng van man from Ludlow 

and Delancey Street. 

Q. efore doing that did youarrest 'these.def ndanis? A N 

You did not? .A No after: 

q. You wept with the foreman? A With the foreman. 

Q With a moving van man? A Yes, sir, from Ludlow and 

Delancey Street to Rockaway Road, lamai a. 

Q What number Rockaway? A 135 and there the moving van 

man told us --

Never mind, t? A Ther we o empty Oases 

and some goods, merchandise. 

Q The, goods were out of the oases? A  

a store? A It was a drygedds stare Ix the Mac 'ft 

;.• 



thOm, in the dru .gOode etOre.0 

Q 171=t1 d d ty:ou do after that? A Ws took the .zoode and 

the proprietor of the store back to Polio° Headquarter and tpok 

the receiver who had the goods in his Possession tn RookaWay 

Road under arre t left him in Headquarters with the goods. 

Did you see Charles Miller. and Mr. McLaughlin in He ad-

quarters'? A The ne*tday I think it was. 

Q Did they see the goods the goods they booked It, 

wore they the same goods you brought from l'amaica Road, or 

Rookawai Road ,Tamaioa? A Yes. 

Objected to. Overruled and exception. 

Q What did you do after that? A After we ft the goods • 

and the prisover that we got in Rockaway Road, we  wentwithlhe 

... van man and three o.'f leers., Off leers Orowley Collins 

and Reilly up to.ev.moving pipture house at Christopher and 

Hudson Streets and we placed the four defendants under arreSt. 

Is there any. special assignment that you wre on vb 

:Polio° HeadqUarters?' * 

Objeoted to Sustained. 

Qr 'Did you have a talk with these .defendants?. A 

Q Did they answer any of your questions? A No. 

Q, Did not answer 11:y of your questions? A No. 

Q After that what did you do? A After tyat we brought 

the our :defendants to -Police Headquarters  

TheY were Placed under arrest?. A Yes.. 



ORO3i7..nownwtiox, prvirt;,Ourt8T.TaiTtG«. 
Aft ex that what did you do? A Well 

With these defandatts? 

THE COURT: What did you do? 

A I 1eft until next morning. 

Q Then what did you do? A They were brought upstairs. 

Q And taken to police -Court first? A  They were brought 

upstaite and the next morning the first thing I done was to go to 

the  warehouse*  

Q• Were the de sdnts then taken to the .,police court from 

Poliee headquarters? A Yea/ 

-; And they were 4traigned before the, Magi trate? A Yoe= 

Q• And they were committed by the Magistrate to the Tombs 

default of bail? A I believe they were. 

Q On what day Was that? A That was on the 14th -cooi! 

q what day Was that 'Thursday or Prida A I couidnq 

tell You just now..' 

You delivered the prisoners, theSe four defendants, 

the:keeper of the Totbe? A One of the offioers 

Q One of the officers Of the Tombs, to that -right? A Yes. 

When did you ne'xt' ee the defendants? A The next 

saw the defendants waN later on in the day. 

Q The same day? ,A I think it was., yes. 

Q Had you seen Mr Eder before that? A Ye 

Q Where did you 3o to eee the -defendants? 

Q. Did ou have any paper with you? A Yes. 

To the Tombs. 



Where did you. gat that paper from? 

Attorney's office. 

(4 What was that apex? A The paper was to bring thnr to 

Pol oe Headquarters and atm have them photographed from order 

0 District Attorney, in their working olothes. 

q Was that on the paper? A I couldn't tell you. 

Q Who has that raper now? A. I don't know. 

Q What did you do with the paper? A Turned it back 

e clerk. 

A; What clerk? A District Attorney's office. 

•.MR HURSTENBERG: I ask the Distriot Attorney o 

duce that paper. 

, MR. EDER: I do not know what paper you have reZer 

Tell us again what paper you have reference to?. 

BY MR EDER: 

q Was that the paper to bring them over o the Ditriot 

Attorney's office? A Yes. 

BY MR. FURSTENBERG: 

These four defendants had been ordered by a Magistrate 

be committed to the Tombs, that is so? 

, Objected to. . 

THE OOTIR;f: He h e testified to that already. 

Q Did you have any ordor from any judge to bring theso dB. 

the Tombs? , 

Objeg ea.to, 

• 

+Ink .ryikneo.0*.is1.41.,••41604 
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d you Or. did. You •mot 

Objected .ObjeCtion overruled. 

BY THE COURT: 

Did' you? A No, air, no judge. 

BY MR. FURSTENBERG: 

Q. Did these defendants ask you t'o.be•brc 

triot Attorney's office? 

Objected to a 

Did these defendants ask to be taken to Poloe Hoad 

s to be photographed? A No,. sir.  

De you remember when you took them out of the Toba., 

the nts asked you where are you taking us to? 

-CI And you remember that you said you were taking 

the Jot Attorney's office, 

Do you remember when you had passed this bu 1 ing that 

the same d fenaant said to you, "1 thought you were taking us to 

the-District Attorney's offioe and you said, "Well, the Distriet 

Attorney has offices all over tho'cit 

Q Did you say that to him? k No. 

Q Do yOu remember when you wont to fleadqter&' that the 

deCondant said to you  why are you tairing usher e? 

And that you punched him in the face? 

they .know bettd 



.(1 1411;404with .yOU1 A tiffieer.OrowleY, Officer OoUins 

014.o:too:ay... 4400111 

Did anyone  punch them? A sir. 

(-1 ',Did you pee it? A X was there 411 the. 

not see-anything.like that. 

Q Tra'o told you to .have this photograph ta 

men? A We had 

Whc;0 told you to have this photo 

will ten you - the District Attorney. 

(I Who? A Mr' Eder. 

Q You have been a detective for fifteen years? A Yea. 

q And you have seen men photographed in Pollee Headquar-

ter in the regular course of police business? A Yes: 

Q

 

Xi-this Such,a photograph? 

Objected to. Sustained. 

Q Is this the photograph that is 'taken o. men in Heitd-, 

quarters l'ask you if this is similar to one that is lw,eneral.. 

ly taken there? 

Objected to, sustained and exoeption. 

ph 

o' thee four 

ken? A 

Are you aoquainted-with the prqctioe'in Police Head. 

quarters as to the takihg of photographs of persons brought re? 

A Yee sir -- Of prisoners that bring in myself. 

fore?. 

Have you eier, taken them under similar crcu oes e-

OhjeQtedto aa immateiaI. Sustained  

.4 



*Wk. 

q Who wrote the names of these• men on 

graph, do you know? A When X 

Q Do you know who wrote the names? A No. 

Q Did you write them? A No. 

Q Did you say to any person the names of the v 

aons on there? A To the Distriot Attorney, 

q You did t04.1_tIleM A Yes, he asked me. 

Q Who was present -at the time? A I think the two 

house men I don't really know ON* 

Who were they? A Sohwartz and Bob Henderson, 

Q Schwartz and Henderson were there when you indioated the 

names of the various persona, is that right? A t think so, I., 

am not sure, -but 1 know mentioned the names to the Distriot 

Attorney. Ho anted to know. 

Q On the day these defendants were brought to Headqua 

who was in  the lino-.up with them? A Four, -other men. 

Q Who were those men? A They were, a World reporter, 

and I think there wam three other detectives, rather mall m 

and these, four were put in. 

Q Who were those men? A I haven't got the names 

think 'there.wao.a man named Marrall and Griffin and one Fogarty 

and this World reporter. 

• Marron and griffin? A Yee. 

Q , And Fogarty? A Yea. 

Q Of the First oh? A I 4on't know 7-.Offioer nollins 

he r eaori a p 

7 " 

of p9.p-

4. 



De YoU mean to eay'Griffin ii a small Mani A I dori  

..P.W the Griffin YOu mean, there iO two or three of :khem. 

9, The one you mean? 'A The smallest One. 

Q there does he belong? A He has a squad of men 

fter truck -thieves all over New York, 

Where does he belong? A The.Firet Branch. 

Where does Marron belong You have got me -- I do 

ere does Fog '/ belong A I h in the Vi 

nohl I aint sure. -

Q How big a man is Fogarty? A guess as big as myself 

or maybe a little bigger. 

How tall would you say Fogarty.wa ? A About 

eight or eight and a half. 

Q Does he in any way resemble any one of these defendan 

Objected to: Objection sustained as oalling for ex 

Desoribe Fogarty's looks? He looks -- I couldn't de-

pression of an opinion. 

scribe him .- he looks like 
BY THE 0OURTi 

Q Now -0u ,give to the jury promptly as good a defloription 

f Officer Fogarty as you can? A He looks like uryman number 

two. 

BY MR. NBER 

he Wear lasso No, not as °I kno 

he slightly bald A I think he is, IM sures. 

of theme defendante are? A No, none. of the de-



4en4ants are, but X don't know if rogartY or no 

fUll face 'like that 'juryman* That is all. 

Now, Can you give ue,a, description Of Griffin? A Orif-, 

fin is like juryman nuMber eleven•-

Q Has he a mustache? 'A Well, no, he is olean Shaven, 

That built something like that. No mustache at all. 

Q You want to say that juror nuMber eleven resemble  anyj 

these defendants? 4 No. 

Q Or tbat juror Dumber tWo does? 

THE COURT: Mr. Furstenberg pass now to someth 

Describe Officer Marron? A A young man I think his 

name to Marron --. tall man, some hing like one of the defendants, 

Harf 

Whioh one? A Harff. 

• Q Do you know whether Officer Marron stand up Harff 

A As tall as him.' 

Q Describe 1is face? A Something like Harff. 

Q Do you know where Officer Marron oan be reaChed now? 

A No. 

Q Do you know whether he is oonnected with the First or 

5000nd or Third Branoh? A I donitsknow that -- I think he is a 

,olerioal man there somewhere 'in Police Headquartere -- that 

all I know about him. 

CI Who was the reporter, do you know ho n ?., 

his last nain I don't know. He le.ae big,a0 Mr. Eder. 

2 Any of them wear 'blue shirts? A No. 

11..000 

is 

*a 7 

rob, 

• • 
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'Did all have Vhite 00114e 0213 A, Yedp, 

They were all standing together, 'the sour of theml'A They 

Wøe in between. 

Q,. Sure of bhat? A Yes. 

Q Positive? A I think I am 

Q Are you? A Wellthink so, because that ic t e -way 
6. 

they pu.them in a line-up. 

Q I ask you if you are or not? A Well, I cannot pay= 

C,2, Were you there when -Sohwartz Came In? A Yes, 1 was 

for awhile I think) just a minute or,two, because --

Q Were you there wen Schwartz -picked out themen?  A. 

did not pay any attention to him. 

Q You were not interested in at? A No, I aa not 

had another case --

4 You brought Sohwrtz up there? A Yes. 

.Q And.still you were not interested to see? 

• THE COURT: He has anmwered the question. 

THE WITNESS: There is a lieutenant in that 

has charge of all this line-up. 

BY MR., VIRSTENBERG: 

Q After you got this picture what did you do with 

brought it and gave it to yr. Eder. 

Who did you show it to? A Mr. Eder. 

,Q Who else? A Nobody else. 

Q Did 'you show t to •any wit e ses before t to the 

Gazd Airy Xoom A Noa 

61••••••••6 

• 

rm. • 
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4 No one at all? A N 

Did you dhOW It to Sohwartz? A, No, Mr. rder done, all 

that. 

q Were you presenb when. S'tt warts was In 1 4 rOaM. 

,A Yee- I tbiak- so 44. in and out. 

Were.the:defendants there? A. Tee, they were In and out.: 

Q The de4ez4ante Were it and out 1#. Eder s room? 

tbeY were In there - they were in t eretogether 

at a time I don't know. 

Q You came over first, the defendants or Se z, who •was 

In the room first? A That is what I cannot say, I aint Sure.' 

Q Were you there before the defendants were there? ' A 

reught the defendants there to Vir. Eder's offica 

(A paper is now handed to Mr. Furstenbeig bt M. 

MR. EDER; 1 consent that that be put in evidence. 

The paper is marked for identification Defendant's 

hibit B0 and oonOsts of e'er -fillips of paper, or four 

sheets. 

BY 'MR, FURSTENBERG: 

A I ask you to look at, these slips and tell me iI YOU n 

anythtng on there stating that you received orders to take those 

defendants to Police Headquarters to be photographed? 

MR EDER; I object, the paper speaks for itself. 

Objeotion sustained. 

MR. FURSTENBERG. It ic not in evidence. 

.1 
MR. VIM; I wil consent that$1 go 411 eitiderio0 



MR FURSTPggERG: The °facer has tecitiaed.that 

the tact that be reOeiVed orders te take them to' Head  

quarters on those papers and 1 asked, for the -production o 

the PaPers, - 

THE COURT: You are In error. He said he did get n 

order on a paper to take these men and have them phot grapha 

He has not said that he,got  the order on these papers. 

Q I ask you  did you get that order on paper to take 

these men to Headquarters to be atotOgraphed? A We never got 

any' order on paper. 

•Q You did not get an order? A No Order. 

q You stated before you did get it? A No. 

Q Where did you get the order from to take the e men to 

be photographed? A The District Attorney, gr. Eder. 

cl Who suggested that these men be brought to the District 

Attorney's cffioe, did you? A No sir. 
n 

Q Who did? A The District Attorney. 

- MR. FURSTENBERG: I ask that the paper B for ide ti-

fication be marked in evidence. 

No.oNection. 

Defendant's Exhibit B for identifioittion is now re-

oe ved in evidence and so marked. 

PleEtse take this Exhibit B who put that stamP on there, 

I consent to be taken to :bile Diotriot Attorney's °Woe 

Q Was it on when 'you ot the 'papers A t 

d. 

4144,0 

I. 

.„ 
ft 
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about Oat. I never took notice of it, 

q Nene Of these defendants had ever aaked to be taken, to 

the D striot Attorney s office? 

Objected to 

THE C6URT1 You have been all over that,. suetain 

the objection. 

Q When you went to the Tombs, what did you do with the pap 

pore? A When you got to the Tombs 

Q What did youdo with these papers when you went there  

A Officer Reilly and the office'r in charge of the prisoners --

you give them to the prison keeper over there and he gives  you 

two duplioates to come back. 

Q Did you: say to these defendants that the Distriot Attor,,p 

ney wanted tó. see them and to sign this paper?. A No. 

Q, They signed the paper? A They must sign that of their 

own accord or somebody else but not the officers, 

THE COURT Pass On to oomething else, Mr. temberg, 

and that means no additional questions regarding these 

papers-. 

Q Do you remember what date.it,Was that You 'brought the 

defendants.into' the Magistrate's Court? A It was the next morn., 

ins I believe, on the 15th -- they were arrested on the 14th and„ 

• taken to the Magistrate's Court on the morning of the 15th,. 

Do you remember to what date the case was adjourned? 

• I do not. 

Objected 'to a immator1L. Objection overru3.0dt. 

SI 

1.••• 
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Do you knoW w1iether or tot it Ma the followin 

oouldnt.t say 

41 On the lath, had you seen Sohwar z and Henders 

O'Connell, and had you seen any of these three men up 5th? 

A I think might have Boon Schwartz and Anderson Ori the 

14th, because we brought them to Mr. Ederls office, them two 

Witie es and they desoribed the men, the clothes they were wear-

ing --

THE COURT: You have answered the question. 

Q, Had you seen all the witnesses who appeared here today, 

on the 15th? A About the,-15th, I must have, yes. 

Q Who did you go to Headquarters with, Schwartz and who 

e —was Henderson with you? A Schwartz and Henderson, y e. 

Q Where was Henderson when Schwartz rent in to look ovet‘;, 

the four defendants? A' hen Henderson went in, he was outside. . 

Q Were you with him? A Yes, 1 stood outside with him, 

Q Have a talk with him/ A Only talked .about the case. 

Q You were? A Yes, I think we were,', that is the only 

thing I was talking about, t e.capelowhere they were working and 

anything like that. 

Q You were talking with them about the case al 

matter of fact? A About how wow truck loads we 

ehouee. 

Q You were talking with hIm ab itt this case A Yee 

the time. 

Fr m the time you mt him dowfl at th warehouse on your 



ti!O tcOloadootero, p*ez t1cb. tohiM abott the aSet 

A Ircito..0 

Q And fromyo Ur trip to HeadqUarte s to the Dist 

to: y's off 14424 you were talking to him about the case? Alto 

s. That holds true of Soh*Artz also, you talked to them both 

about the ease? A. Talking to ala of them, Schwartz and his boas, 

and the manager and everything, 

Q Did- SobWartz tell you whom he pioked out at Headqu 

tore? A  1 think -he said h picked out three or foir, I did • 

not pay no attention to him. When he came out -- he said he 

picked them out and the lieutenant 

Q Did Schwartz tell you who it was he picked out? A: Noo 

T don't think he did. 

THE COURT: Pay attention to the questions and if you 

Understand them -answer them, and after.anavering them stop 

talking. 

Q Did Henderson tell you whom he.lad ploked out? A  No. 

Did you In anyway indicate to .Schwartz or.Henderson,w10 

in your opinion should be 0.oked.out? A No, sir. 

Q 'Did you show them the photographs and ask them to tell 

you whom, they picked out on the photograph? A No. 

q How long do you know Hfonderson? A I never met the ma 

be o he 14th of the month -- tho fi 

my life or any of them in that wareho 

ever ea 

ECT EXAMINATION BY MR EDER: 

Q Agtek.tbea$ eat wo made Yu tOO1g e me u eay 
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.HeadquarteZsA that tightl' 'Yde 

Q Then they were arraigned in the 1qt 

'ream 

Q After. you had asked Schwartz the• other 

tify the 86 defendants?* A Yes. 

Q. Was it after that you took this picture? A Yes. 

Q That was at whose sug ention? A The suggestion of 

District Attorney, yourself.. 

Q Did you see each defendant Jign his name? A Yes. 

ate 's Court?' 

Q That is the only written order you received from the , 

District Attorney's office to bring them to my office? A'Yess 

(Referring to Defendant's Exhibit 

Q You heard me question these defendants A Yes. 

Q Did you ask these defendants any names of persons who 

receive. 'these goods? A Yes. - 

Q Did they give- you those names? A No. 

Q• Did they give you any names? A go. 
pick . 

Q Did you ever suggest to anyone to Wm mit a yone of 

see four men? .A Only them warehouse men 

'Q Did you suggest did yeu.pick.out the mon fort 

.No.. 

Q, There is a lieutenant in ohario,of the Identfioation 

eau atlibadquarters? A Yes. 

And men that are'brought in 

e of that lieutenant? A yes. 

Q Who wae the lieutenant in ow.le A Lieuten 

ident ed are put in 



Mullin was in charge of this case het is in the Deteetilf 'Bureau. 

Q AVe You as an arresting, ortioex permitted, td remain in 

1101On they are picked out? That is Up tO Yourself. 

Q Were you in when,-they Axe picked out? A No. 

RECROS$ EXAMINATION BY MR. FURSTENBERG: 
• 4i4 

Q.  Your partners Reilly and Collins were in there? A That 

is that I Cannot s'ay. 

Q You say you saw the difendants sign these slips? °A Yes. - 

Q. Was that stamp "I consent to be taken to the District 

Attorney's ()Moe" on the slips when they. 'signed itt A That I 

cannot say. 

Q Did you see O'Connell sign rft3At there? A I guess I did. 

I know he signed the paper but I cannot say. 

Q Did you see Harff sign right there? A Yes., 

Q And Clark sign there? A Yes. 

.Q And the other there? (Indioating) A Yee. 

You will notice that they are signed right under that . 

consent? Yes. 

Q  Do you wish to say that you do not billow whether or not 

that consent was stamped on there before they signed.A.to if you 

'saw them sign it? A We pay no attention to it. 

q Did you get the chauffeUr in this case? .A -Yee. 

Q Is he in court? 'A No, 

Q Did he look .over .these 'en? A. Not that I know of,  I 

don,t know. 



, 

Al? 

Did you a k him 1.1,he knew the men? 

Objected toll Susts,ined* 

X .AMES J. 0 OLLINS, called asawitnees in behalf 

of the People, being duly sworn and examined, teôttfiOd a' 

follows: 

DI ECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER:. 

Q Were you In company with Off cer Landrigan when these 

four menwere arrested? .A.L_Yes, 
' Q Did you see Schwartz, the witness? A I did. 

Q Did you see Gilligan:, a witness? A I did. 

Q' Did you see Henderson, a witness? A I did.. 

Q, Did. you ever ask any one of those men to select any one  

. of ttlese four men? A, No, sir, I wisp not there at that time, at 

the line-up. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. FURSTENBERG: 

Q Who was there, do you know? 

THE COURT: He says he was net there. ,. 

Q Did you over learn who was there? A You mean at the 

THE COURT: 1 have sustained the objection to that. He 

oannot know, because he was not there. 

MR. oURSTENBERG: T withdraw the question. 

Q Did you go,to the Tombs to bring these defendants to the 

District Attorneys offioe? A I was at the Dietriet Attorney' 

°Moe when they were there but I did not bring theM thoV0:0 ' 

4,4 

1 



.W Went. Over 'do you 10100 A 

Landrigan and Reilly believe* braught 

was in Newark at the time, 
' 

You don t know anything 

MR. EDER: About what? 

Q About bringing them ovet? A About bringing t 

I was there at the time 

'Q Were you in the office at the time they wer.o brought 

about it? 

over? A Yes. 

Who else was there? A Offic r Landrigan, Mr. Eder, 

Maroowitz, I believe and those witnesses whom you have just re 

ferred to. 

q Was there a chauffeur there? A There was. 

Q What was his name? A, His name Was Girlogawit 

Is he here? A No, he is not. He is Sick in a hp's Q, 

Q Did you have a conversation with.him? A I did. 

Did he look at these four men? 

By THE COURT: 

Q What hospital is he in? A I ion't know. His wife came 

here --

Q You have answered it when you say you don't know. 

MR. EIDER: Now, if your Honor please, the People r'est 

A Yes, he did. 

with the exoeption.of waitinw for the clerk Mr. Fay, to 

come down and testify that this consent was on there at the 

time .0 that the ooneent to be taken te the District Attor 

0 xioe wqs on every one of these 3140 that ,o0Mes 



from thq,ghiet: ()lark p• Wipe. 

MR. Ft-MEN:BERG: That 14 tø nOWPO 

°coded that this stamp was on the 1 pa ,/ oox sent to be 

taken to the Di triot Attorney's office," before the allP 

is submitted to the defendants. 

M. EDER: That is right. 

THE PEOPLE R73T. 

MR. FURSTENBERG: I iove on the whole case to dismiss 

the indictment upon the ground firot, that the People have 

failed to make out a case, in that there is AO proof that 

the goods alleged to have been stolen are the goods that 

have been produced here, if anything has been produced, 
• of 

There is no proof here of any connection uttk these defend-, 

ants with the goods, alleged to have been stolen. We have 

evidence that oertain merchandise was missing from a truck. 

We have evidence that some cases and a bale were r oeived 

at a certain warehouse and from there taken to another place; 

but we have absolutely no evidenee_that the goods alleged to 

have-be0 takennrare the same goods that were received at 

the warehouse, or-any connection with them, or that they 

are the same goods supposed :to have .been taken and found in 

l'amaioa. I urge, that seriously 1)eomuse I have listened and 

waited to hear some claim or Joe óOneoting link:aleng 

those lines. 

THE COURT: You say the only,evidenoe connecting these 

defendants with the allefted laroany is evidence that rooki 
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to the, point that they'went to a warehouse, or some of them 

went to a waTehouee On a truck and delivered four oases, 

five oases and a bale, and you say that there is no testi-. 

mony showing what marks were won those, oases and no test/ 

mony tending to show what was contained in those oases or in 

the balee. In other words, nothing to indicate that the mer. 

ohandise-whia was said to have been stolen was in that 

MR. FURSTENBERG: Yes. 

THE COURT: What is your answer to that, Mr. Eder?. 

MR. EDER: The evIdence in this oase is that on the 

12th of March the oases containing the mefohandise in ques-

tion were delivered to that truok by the shipping Clerks 

and then on that day the same oases appear in a warehouse, 

and then the same goods, the same oaseii are found In 
•V 

J'amaioa, Long Island, containing the same goods that were 

ordlginally on the express wagon owned by O'Connell. 

THE COURT: 1 am sorry to say that I think you are in 

error, in one regard. I do not reoall any evidence in the 

case as to what was contained in the packages that were'le t 

at the warehouse. 

MR. EDER: That is true, 

THE COURT: Nor do I ,eord ,..tny evidence in the case 

which identifies those paokages with the paokage that were 

taken or which are seid to have Len taken from the truck 
e .e 

of the,trucking,feee. 

MR DER* , Schwartz a that the same five oases 



and the bale that were taken TroM the warehouse were tound 

in thiS place in Jamaica, Long IslaM.do if you win 11=4. 

WO have the evidence what was contained in the oases in 

Jamaica, Long Island. Then we trace it baok arid 'we ShOU 

that the same contents were delivered to O'Connell; 

press. Sphwarte identifies these as the same oases that. 

were found in Jamaica Long Island, and the saMe,bale, as 

were delivered An his ftrehouse and he testified.thos  

ere the oases that these men brought Into.the warehoUse, 

THE COURT: You say that you have connected theee d 

fendants'with the alleged orime through the testimony of 

Schwartz? 

MR. EDER: Yes. 

THE COURT:, You say that' Schwartz gave testimony that 

he identified at Jamaica the oases there as being the same 

oases which were delivered by some Of these defendants as. 

he says, at his warehouse? 

Ea:ET The, and there was testimony on the part 

of Gilligan that he scraped nT'j off the oases, and the 

testimony is that when the.oaso,e were brought or. found in 

Jamaica, Long Island, the' samescraping was on them, 

the exception of one stamp that was permitted to remain and 

in Addition to that the borne and truck were desoribed. 

THE COURT: I will tell you vht I will do, Mr. Mew' 

ill a k Mx Osborne to kindly rite out the steno 

apher's minu e .and Lwia10 over thefevidenee vs y carer. 
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lt I think there- is eufioient, 04 an 0;8211=40AM 

of the evidenoe to take the ease to .the jUry I will let 

.13-g0.40 the Jury tomorrow, and I will even go further than 

that If by tomorrow you have any -additional evtdenoe 

that you feel you oan submit or ore to submit I will 00 

Oeive it. 

MR; FURSTENBERM At thi time, if your Honor pleaseo 

1 make another motion directed against some of' the de-

fendants -- that la insofar defendants Clark and 

O'Connell are.00ncexned. I feel it is my duty at this 

time, irrespeOtive Of your disposition of the other motion 

to ask your Honor Oor a direotion or for a disMissal it 

their ease at this time, on the ground the People have. 

failed to Make out a- case, insofar as they are Conoerned. 

THE -WORT: I thinl 'inaimuch as,Ihave ordered the 

Minutes, T will take both motions under adVisement. 

MR. FORSTENBERG: And I sk that the second count be 

taken from the oonsideration of the jury. 

THE COURT: I-will reserve decision on that. 

The Court tow admonishes the jury in aCcordanop with 

SeotiOn 415 of the Code of Oriminal Procedure and takesan 

adjournment until tomorrow morning, April'ah, 291S, at  

10:30. ... 



New York April 9th 

Trial owned. 

THE COURT: I have glanced, although I have not read 

oarefull ,,the minutes in the oase of Gollifer, Harff, 

4ark and OtOonaell. It appears  'to me that the testi. 

monY of the witness Seshwart40 oaupled with testimony that 

was giv0n by another witnesc :relating to a staMp which 

ms o•n the box or on one .of the boxes is ancient to 

warrant the submission of the dase to the jmury as far ae 

John Gellifer and Henry Harff aro oc)(14X1re 

°lined, Mr. Eder, to advise the jury to acquit Sohn 

'O'Connell and before di posing of the case as against 

ham Clark, I will be glaa to hear what you have to say* 

MR. EDER: In, regard to William Clark there were two 

witnessee who identified him absolutely0 GUiganand 

Henderson. So far as Schwartz is oonoerned there ma h ve 

been four there. H3 ,s positive of oeeing three of them, 

he at first pointed to Clark and then chwasect his mind and 

said he sax O'Connell. He may h4ve seen all four of them„, 

but we have two men absolutely 4.dentifying Clark. 

THE COURT: am inclined to think it was the other 

way. I think he first pointo. O'Connell and then after—

wftra corroted himself tvela 

rm. pnlm.:. Yes4 that ir 

Tnr, CP11,MT: will you -,,on.thet,t point. 
4011,04r • 

nri 1111.3TYaratiqt 00,y0 andoUbtOdly theY 
• ••,• 

,or 
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• three Of' them. You. win eMeMberGiUin 

first looked at the four dexendantS and than peinteid to two.. 

tiett and naid It was two and it was outy after addutiomal 

questions on the part of Mr. Eder that he said it mie 

of the other men. You will. remember that Henderson pAck 

out' as his identification, the'man who Setwarts now  

denies was the man that wuo there. 

. THE. COURT: I will et it u;o to the jury_as against 

l'ohnHaollifor„ Henry 'Harff ainlllam Clark andsive yaw 

an. exception 'to :my cLenia.L or yout mAiono and when we COM) 

to the conolueion Of the caee I will adVice the jury. to ac-

quit John O'Connell. We will proceed. 

MR.FURSTENBERG: I now move that the count dha ging 

grand larceny in the ..ar4t (.ogee, and the count charging 

criminally reoeiving etolon Irroporty in the first degree, 

be taken from the .concideration of the jury as there is 

no evidenee of 'value in t4.s oaee. 

THE COURT; I think I will deny your su 

Exception. 

JOHN GOLL ER, one of the dendant, being called 

a 'i.tnea i behalf of! thE Infonce being duly sworn 

and examined, testified as follows: 

T rXAMXN'ATION BY MR. FURSTENBP,RG: 

• (Reeidence 93 Bedford Otrcet.) 

Q. How old 'art) you? A Twentr. 

(,), Ito do you, A 17y mother and SWO lifieteVe 



Do you: remem'ber the 130, 401 of Allaroh, 193.8? A Y ø. 

0, Are you vorking at the esent time/ A Yee. 

homt A into lyde Line. 

'Where viere you on the .173t1 a March,. 1918? A- 0 the 

f Marchp 1918, Iwa do VIA in 164 LeRoy Street. 

Q What i 04 LeRoy treet? A 1340 the t L. A. Heade, 

_guar t rs. 

„What is that A Longshoremen 

-*What work do you do? A ''.(,bar.(!ir. 

on.. 

Mlere.had you been. wor'ingl A On Pier 38 Nort River. 

Q What time did you leav your home that morning? A Around 

.e Ptclook. 

Q Did you ao dir otly to the Union room? AYes. 

Q What was the.b casion. of. your going there? A\ xted 

to go down tp see the head delegate to see i I could trancIe 

froth one local to another local.' 

Q. What local do yoU-beiong ? A .894 

Q Where do they. woric, New Ian pity? A Yes. 

Q 71iere was it you wanted to be transferred? A Loøa79.X. 

q mem are they located? 

la: docks 'Clzawrid Line. 

How long did you re6 in In bi Union? A From thou en 

okol ok.until ofie. • 

Where did you go then? A • 7one. 

Ihtvb.110e did you :r3 hc;ne? A ,A.out qurtOr after 
t 

That is the Local a4 



rot, Row long did yau. remit home?' A X reraained there unp. 

til about to 01olock, after X ho4 Ply dinner mint out 

4 vithc,we did you ao? A To a %loving' picture ow 

n the afternoon? A. Yes. 

You rere not vtorking that day? A No. 

•Q How lotg did you stay in the moving• Pioture show? 

A About half. past five. 

("4

 

The  did you.go when you laft the iovng pioture 

A Home. 

64 How long dlta you xstain there? A hou1 half Po. 

Q Did you, go out after that?. A Yes. 

Q 17.here? A To the moving pioturea. 

Q Where? A Up in Christotiwy Street. 

rere you alone vhen you loft the h=oe? A Yes. 

Q Did you go into the moving plo:11re plaoe alone? A Yes. 

Q Did you meet  anyone there? A Yew. 

•.Q MI6 did you miaet? A I met 01Connell. 

Q, Had you seen 010onmol1. that day? A ,No, 

q Were you.at the storehoUse of.tho Surety Warehouse. 

99Mpany at 304, Washimgton trent dVring the 13Wor,at emy :time 

durin:g that day? A No. 

• q Di1. you take) with Na7a,J: 01? r,L.471 0 
• 

merohandide to that earehome? A 

- When .1croAl Iiittrt" 4;1nn yc- f,"" -r eaw th0ritne 

Sohw,iartz? A The Xiret tims I. oar'hill, •in HeadquArters. 

Ym, Ivor* in the movive, 1,iotc.,;;)•oce? Ye. 

anY 

• 

, 



Veal to vikl:t haPPOnerd. in there? A Zn the moving pietur. 

ThUrsday tight, about between 3.0 and. '3.0:30, Z was 
, 

•  eitti,ng vipstai,ra watching the Amine pie-tures, up in the 

ga4sxy, and f our officers oome in 

took Vs around to the station house, 

was to POliee Headquarters 

Q Have any conversation i.th you? 

;he matt 

led me down and they 

station llouse theY 

ed them what 

asked Offiserti and he told me. to ask 

Oficer Colllnri and'i: asked .0ollim; e.nd Collins told me to aok 

Of or Reilly. Wbuld not give mø noinfopmation at aU, 

Did you ask theM where they vero taking you o? 

-Q What 'did they say?  A Police Headquarters. 

Q Did they say why? A No. 

Q nen you got to Hoadq tern what happened t ef A 

o Headquarters and we were put under arrest .or Grand 

Lareeny 

Who told you i 

4fe, 

grand larceny?A Offioer Re 1. 

he was making the arxest I hod him, say held for grand 

ny• 

Q Mat happened the npxt morning? A Taken, upstairs. We 

were lined up and then taken up into the offioe and lined ul 

Te.1 us about the seuond who else was in the 

i4Pbesideo the Covx,dol'endaat,1? A ere wa ome de 

o1re 0n taoh stde oi vowho1i T r Ito a irom two deoti0so. 

er thoy tall or ilhort men?.• A 'T. ';',L.er thqs what I. •a 



TC" Pry 

Q Roti.viare *ticey cl.resaed?A rtith oVercoate ••-• 
and tie and sPaithatep 

That kind a spring hate. _ A Split hats 

Mat kind, of hate did. you boys Izavol A Caps 

Q Did yOu..boye have overcoats on .A. I44 ano 

Did you have tif collars a 

Who came in? A The f' xst on 

liad youevec 

before that 'time I 

!leer Landrigan. 

..Q Did you hear any oonveratonbetwoen 

Schwartz? A No* I did not because we just. pa se. 

They were outside the door. 

:(4 ,.Schwartz and Landrian were stan 'n the hall 

A. Yes', with another fellow.. 

Q ho was the third man'? A • just teetified Andereon 

think his name was.. rierivas standin 

4., 
mt e in 

seen Sok&arbz before that time -

him out i the hall standing 

hem bY. 

with Schwartz and Of 

r cer Lanarigan was there with those two. 

.Q• You sour boys were taken past Schwartz and Andereon and 

Lanctrigan in *the hall 

just like that 

ci And shortly et 

A :Ye 

It was 

Yes, air, and pascied them rifm by 

that 3uEwrt.„7, vipla t Into 

after you had J.11 pas3ed then that hO044,w 
ed o.t øotain mon in that room? ,1 Yes. 

yOu everOen, chwartz you passed 

•., 



*-444k 010i14111- ***,. 

him 4in the hall/ A I never , saw lam iu my lie. 

Q., Let= Schwartz came 121 who oame in next? 

SchWartz was another fellow came in. 

4114orli Ondetdon* 

Anyone_ el 97 A No that via aL ths .nfleadqtart ere 

Sawa tz and Henderson. 

Q Then where were yob. taken?. 1')ocataire and the 

were brought to th Magistrate's Cuxt n the Magisitr tots 

Court we were manded until Tue,..3 r ra. in'g for examination, 

' so we were brought over remand d to the Tombs and brought 

over there between eleven and twelv ololook and we were In 

1 er Mallegew 

• 

Q Just A Mement when did you next ie Ofioer L ndri an? 

A. About balvean twelve and htalf.p4otit 

•HZ At -the ToA)a? A At the Tomba.o. 

Q Had you Made any equesto to visit the Distriet Atte* 

ne offioe? 

.Objeoted-to immato O. Seotion unstained. 

EigoePtion. - 

D'd you have ar_oonv rsatien with Oi'fioer Landrigan in 

the Tombs after you had been broupt from th'ellagistratele 

r , ' 

• 

we 
Court? A Yetissir when wore lowl.oto Asked him. where 

We were. g0 

P easa 'state what jivtio .40,9?. A asked 

41eer.litmirida0: where we -worn enil he. Said to. the MS •‘ 

otTioa. rfe Said the T)tiot Mornoy tnto — 



0 000,70U* so he showed us /4.ecie of paper to sign our 

names, lie signed our namo to 

And then where w0;0,yoU "441=1 A Mbweni outside 

d the drimiral Court B1d I øc.id to ()facer Lan400,,, 

Z thought we were going to the Ditz.t Attornøyta ortiCe. 

d there s branch over here. 

-1!(!here wer -you taken A ,To 1k.jJ,e.ffeldquarterti40-
-A 

What happened there? A7e had our pictures.takew 

. Q, Did LATIdrigan-teil'yol) were to have -your g•co. 

tures lalerr 

Obj_cted7to aft irmateri 1. Susaincd 

Q After yoU left Tioadcparter ohere were you bra ght1 

A TO the District Att rney e.office* 

Q When you pt otairri).whom did you thud the e? A„Went 

upstairs in the Diatr ttorney's offi00* 

a bqtn0h and Le'oeen Mx 

to Officer Landrizan* 

q Did you hear anythinf:; aid, by O'Connell to. Ldrig 

or by L taxi n to 0lConrle117 No) they werea *tttas fur, 

ther away from ua. 

I,Jonnall# I trvelman, 

t out ide on 

was talking 

Q How long did you remian Outside oT the ofEiCe? A 116  

wer out ride o the ofEice about tenpinutes f.,nd he brought 

some chauffeur out* & Eder broucht m ohautpur cut who4said 

tit lv could not ident: y uow 

MR*

 

)DER:, I object to that Hata MC re to strike t out. 

TP4 COURT StrOto out whmt,u w4 And the •r 1421.. 



1111110.111 

. vimsTroro 
.n4.6t. you he47.4 opnvaresti--

you 'call the alhauffeurt • 

ow' no'''. 

Did yaq-hear axy aiie ørtiond?Yes. 

01, Did ya0.* eeVahib t.No. shown tp ibe ahauffeux, 

you aee the piatur 

Q Now do not ewer thts ueation what did you, 

shown to the ohauffeue A No. 

tionad-j a nneatiOn with•your naøci or tiie names of 

defen 

Objected iso, Sucntaiziei.and Hecoep ion.. 

Q 'What donver n. you hear between  mr. .ftax 

a 

A There_vms nobody paws out in  

out in the hall.-

g., 

e 7 , 

Objebted to ao lamatf.)r al. Sus eelned and exception, 

Wow after the ohau.rZeux had J eit who ele aame the;e7 

113 hall bewtu e we were sitting 

]td go into Mr. Wier e room? ,A '4es. 

Whiti lama1 'thee? . ..' •Ofiaer Landri,an# Offloe 
- 

Solararta. the ahouffour ua..4 Handev tson.• 

Was tho'S a aoltrersaUon.in Mr. Mozla offie 

en t. Imolai what the Oonvereation moo 

but we• MAIst aamo iY1 itUey 

A .1 

id •not iiear no one, 

him au4:thut 

,p20.1 



,•1 

Who did ho1Pointin A chwa tz and .flenderson.. 

Wer0 ther any other Persons put in the line Afith, 

Antr defendants? 

Objected o as inimatetiai.. over  

A ko 4 

e you 

fioer? A No. 

Did the off ow:6 ever link you whether. not you h 

pated in the taking _of the goods whiob are olaJ.rned. to be 

m sA.ng? A No. 

Q Did You  have  nyth&ng to do with tacing .our or f ve 

oases and a bale from the truok of Mr., O'Connell and placing ..he 

•same in a warehou.se? A 1o. 

Q And then removing that from the w eboime to another 

P aoe? A No. 

Q Have you ev.er been oonioted of any orime in your life? 

A o. 

.0ROSS UNINATIGN 1T MR. tDTP: 

How old did you say you were?A Tw n 

Where do you live? P. Tv 

How long do you 'mow 

.p etty olose to a year. 

Q t all you know him? 

D,4 go to the.mamo sohool 

n3 Dedford Stx 

T know Hart' about 



• 

4 

Do you ,i:onteMbor about t:d.x Monthu ago being.at oz. 

.fice irtith 

Objeoted to. Overruled. 

Do: you en tber -A Y. 

.q DO you remembsT me ao ne yo lx how long you know' Hari:X?• 

• A o. 

BY MR. 

ing. 

• 

Objoated to. Overruled. 

THE COURT:, -1 t4 :.11 *.),,et .th.e ru..Lat Jr, Eitand, 

.•' 

he dic1. you meet liar fr • oii dac.a. 

vale, A I met hibl at a few 0, noes. 

- • Q What dan.00s di-tt you meet; himo or what danoes 'O. you g0 

to whero you met him? A Up In St. yeronioa School. 

Whell_ do they have their dances? A Every Tuesday ni 1.44 

Q How often did you, •attend - them? A very •Tuesdat-r night*; 

Do you see him ,every 'Tnosday-p.leit? • A Yee, - 

That .16 where you first met him? A Yes. 

l'Yere. you .over at his 'house? A: 11.0. 

Where does ha live?: A I dontl 

How long do you know °LW:7 -A About .three Months. 

Q, qhere did you meet hilt)? A I ',now him from workim or 

Gilroy used to pass along oy:J trIla oold I knlw a Zew-f01-. 

„JAWS that worked there and-I u4 d t11 ,74it1i the and that is 

how I apt soquainted with nlerIP. 

Q Do yon knam whore he live? A Y04, 
4.• • 

•• 

• 



GreenOioh tree'. 

• bw fx is that frOM VW: house? AL About ti,cblocks. 

Holiv1048 do you. know O'Connell? A About Len ye. 

Mere doss he live? A 15th St t. 

(4 You sal)* Youmraeniberthe 13th of Maroh? A I to. 

Mat day was it on? A Iledilesday. 
• 

Q Bow long had you bex. out 4 wox.3, tt Wedn.es ay? 

did not o. o work at a 1 tl ilednesday. 

iroi long hid you been out of won; befor that Weates 

A 1 wasn t out of .work at 

Q You jut took that onu day off? A Ye 

.Where did you woxl, tbs day before? A The Clyde Line. 

Fol whon, under whop? A stered s'naried Larry Bra y 

Q Vhat did you do? U.  toher. 

Q What d0 you mean , watcher? htimer i) OZ*, 

an thing goes out, they have differeJAivarka on them and toll 

dool 

shed to go to, sheds apt on the farm. 

You say you are a.longshoreman? A You. 

Will you please step• down and show the ,jury your. hand ? 

„Objeotol to, 011eotioal overrasa. 

e witness shows 11:.(3 handf, to the lnry. 

.) down and f.A.t.r.,,* ? ./.• !. • 

10 
witness 

Qat time did you leave your home thot zin7 A Abott 

040.100k3' 

' 

That tlfil6 do u leave the bouse ever.y.mern 

"W. 



half at 

How lons had- •yu: vorking .Zor 

f.ive. monthea. 

q Did70U tell h 

nexmorning?' A . 

Q, Thar, was. on Wednesday you ay? A 

0, Ør Tt s y you went to that danoe that 

.day 

rry Brook? , A About 

before that 

u met Harff there that Tueday night? A Yee. 

Did you tell him tht you were not oUig to work the 

ne t morning? A 140. 

• q When dd it occur to you that you wo d not do to work 

tatmorning? A When did it ooeur to me? 

Q Yes. A That night. 

Q. The night before? A Ye 

Q Do you know where Harff works? A Yes. 

Q. Where? A He is lea at Pier 38 

Q Did he worc Wednesday?. A 1 don't know. 

.q Did 'you ever ask him while he was in the ToMbe with ou 
P 

whether he worked that.Wedn day? A -Yes. 

C, What dld he say? A He said yes. 

Then you do know? A I did not know uitiliih 
cta 

, 
You at your house at ten o'elook that mo ning\and 

ere W. you go A To the Taternat:onal Longshor4man \Union 

i-
room.. 

Whom di 'on 000 there? ow about t 'dole A0e4 



Mat• ere their 4,narmm? 

thet.o was a Polak.delegate I can' 

P0,1i-sh -team 

Q You ha1 a. t1k with them? A I p14yed cards with them 

vas wai ng'gor the head delegate to come in. 

Q. Dia you eee the head 16legato? A 70. 

-W6 didn't 004e i. t0,117 t while 

Q B0W long did you remain therW? A From tonto about 

on , 

Q, V1hydidh' t you e T there 1 

home and have my dinner. 

Did you o back to the L. A No. 

wanted to So 

You were anxious, you e opped work in orde to be trans-

ferred .from one local. to anbtlar? A Well, I found out that dele-

gate was going to be uptown ab that day and I knew I -ould make 
connections with him at his house that night. 

Q. The delegate ocines to the I. A. L in the venings? 

No, I never saw him there in the evening. 

Q, Isn't te Office ope...t. in the evening for Qngshor men 

who work all day? A NO.. 

Q It i losbd you say in I fling 

dayWore you a? A !6%e 14th of :March. 

Did you go to uorl, tJ.. morning c th) 14th? A Yea. 
A 

Q Were you working 04 thLi llth? A 

Fdw homt k The sorA Poel 

Line.. 

-Lr 10 it the 01 
• 



Ate  YOu hail your l'uneh •On the: 13th you 

o 'a moldng picture? Irk SO 

.4 w.t movinS PiotUto shoe- A ChristoPhe street.-

Vhat show did you s e1 A Moving plotures• 

Q Do yOu remember the name of tho feature plot 

the picttiret there the Heart o the Lion. 

Yaa rem Weer *hat die In tly7 A Yer. 

1 And hovz long did you there ? . '.,bou 

Q Did you see Harff.ther ? A o. 

Q, Did you see O'Connell there A No. 

Q Did you see 'Clark there? 4 No. 

Q Did you meet any fellow you knew these A 

bY myself. 

And. then you went home a a 7 A Yes. 

Aria -then you t to the pictures again thatevening? 

1)id you ,set Harff? A No. 

•\ 
Q, Did you meet any One of the other two defendants? A 

• 
mt O'Connell 

• Fillet did ystlfg. see that 

o? A What nishtt 

the fea ure plc-, 

Q Wednesday ni h A 'he same pioture thø 5OJ0 pie-

:in the afternoon and the same picture In the night. 

q You went to see t e same pioture in evening as you 

•dt 
the after on1 A' Yes t did 



Arft 41.1: 

lbat time itid you ge! home?. A .About 0106A o 0100* 

Toudid not et0tt al47 paloons1 A No, I do not 

A YOU, ifient right home? 'A Yes 

Did you (3o 116040 with Olgormal ? A 1104 

You gent yor way ana he wt b1 ? A Ye% 

Wha,tt±wø aid you •fot t nelc morning? A Half 

efiz. 

Y u did not to the' Loe.lagem? A No. 

You were not.ohatged? A No. 

Q You went to work? 

q That time t6 - ou ier work? A Four o'olo k in 

^Limn. 

Q 1h did you go after that?. Home, 

Stayed home until what time? k About hal 

And.then you went to the pictur a? A Wen 

pioture 0 

Q 412.1 f A . , 

Q You mot Aa ff t 

oloe'. I wae there when rff arxived0 

went in thore at seven ololook? 

oft tho boueo tt Lul;' •past ;.eve, 

'nw long did It take au to go.thexe?' A Oh, b tw en 

quarter to eight and eight o look was aide the moving 

pioturo ohow. 

Then wilt time it when. the 1:7001;lxi or am 

th • 01 :A Between to  and ho pasts 



A Uoll 

Huff *au tiler 1r, 
0 Oonnell wae there? 

Clark there? A Yee. 

1 Cour ot you were s 

15, at that tlme wal4 thq4e, 

A  

ogetherg hat rightT 

Yes or xo. 11 No when the deteotiveoamo in we were 

o ated together* 

q You say all four og you were pittin .tgethr when the 

detective came in? A . 

_C4 Were there any baloonie tha1 theatre? Yes* 

Were were you sittg, in the balcony? A Yes, 

Q You did not expect,Harff there? 4 No.. 

Q You did not expect Clark there did you? A 1Ie as there 

.b fore I got there* 

Q Did you know where to find h A Yee. 

Was.the seat vacant right-ne t to4him? A ;It'weo 

the Up - the only seat that was vacant the rest of the seats 

were :filled. 

The only seat that was vaoant was the one next to him? 

The back seat 

4 Is that what you said? It wa the back eats* 

You,looked for anothor oeat v)0. olculd not -find it and 

yot. at there because that was:the only !Ant tht via& vao nt  

right? 

183.0 Ft TBRG 1 objec$. Ue dia, not r, 

THE OoDRT: He hw,, not 4 Id hut.-



• i7r 

••••ce,"--Arei•• 

You say yoU.ZOunct (nark inside when you, went in? 

'nor° Was• he ittine A• In the. baokt 
—#7 

n. ti o und floor or upstairs? ,A Upstairs 

you got ptairo.did you see him? A T. 

did you hen you saw 1.110 A I wAt up an 

a, seat al riseide of h. 

BY MR*  

Were se (Abu voant seats? A 111. 

di 

•T(*)*(1 tO ei 17.6 Ilarao; thxt was tht only oeat 

A Most of all the eeaU tilen 

Q How soon after th.at Jid, 01.0onnoll uume 1:a A - 

OI onnoll about half past nine* 

Q There was It vacant .at 'next, to  you? A I a 

day, -a- at tha.t time ",0,1onolOonaell oame' 

did- oomoT look A kl,amt ten, 

Until ,-hat tlme doers that pla00 );(1)0'1-- 0.0011? A' 

eleven elolook. 

nonliarff, =me in 'ito to you? A Y. 

Did You ever ee Sehltartr, ir; your life before\h 'picked 

701.% out PA liead.quart lra ? ):, • 
- 

Q 1 re you. ever in 4110 '31.4ret Woxehollise? A 4o. 

Q .o you know i;t1CO: IA; is? 

1•Or WIlohirvuo:tet , 

kre .you nuco. 
, 

.0';.,.;,1.4 Va. 



s1. 

„ 

• mrtnnI cmffdl 

•q On iffarch 13th where 41d you live? 

Street., 

47(11E6 21)111,. 

Q Did you eveiee Thomas Gilligan?. A No 

Q You, never had any trouble with him? A 

Q Never had any trouble with Schwartz/ A No* 

I)1 you ever have airy trciuble with Landr gaza-

Objected lao. Obje otion Overruled., 

E r THE 00M11% 

Q.° Beforp •Landri. *an. placed you under arx st had you had 

s4w. quarrel 041di u1i7 with him? A Well, about tvo weeks 

before that. 

BYMR. MEM • 

Q, Di.1 you, on. the 31st of ,Decc Aber, 3 9170 togetherwith 

Henry Muff' ,fr,t)teal, truck with nine ca,ses of cotton goods? 

A No six. 
sell 

Q Did you mtrint thoselW.ne oases .of oott n goo ds to OflO 

'Max TionnermauT • 

Q, 

.months* 

'94 

Objected to, Sustained.-

Rev -long have you O'Aced for the Clyde 

Where did. 

,,n 

foxe thar A ()vex in the Edge04 

wqter AmMunition- Pioent, Zigewater, Nvx .Yexsey. 

What it 

P 3 iF,3 kna 37* 

tilyclo 'tine (1,0 OU VI Or ?j It • 4021 

0, 



Yize' 

.4 

ia and 37? A Tee,. 

Did you or.. see Robe21ia4 0 

37t A ZTo . 

You heard bim 

imony? A Yes 

You heard MO ay that he took that truck a 

to Pier 37 .on the 11107:)1 Cr;  it was- otolen, did you hear 

A iit RiVer. „ 

East .River A y amt work Worth 

You mere- taken to Headquarters? A Yes. 

Q, The next morning you were arraigned? A Yes. 

Q, And you ey there was a line-up in 'the deteotive bureau? 

A Yes. 

:Q Landrigan did not oome n with Schwartz, did he? 'A ho 

was out in the hall 

Q dig .not come •Soluriartz? A N. 

Q He- did not Come 

. Q Schwartz when he cams in iput his hand upon' you? A Yea.: 

Q, Henderson ;hen he cams in, Put his hang Upon youp didn't 

A Yes. 

Q, ,iihen. you, were taken over to, the As. istra Oout and 

arraigned? A Yes. 

Q And your arninIat ion wcu adjourned? A . Yes. 

And -lawn you were taken to the Tombs? A Yes.. 

Q -From the Tombs you were 'brought over to ,Police,gead 

quarte again? A Yes. • 

qith Henderson did he? A No. 



And then thio Piottixe. wa,e takIn? A Yes. 

Q And then you wexe brouaht 0;efioet? Yoh. 

Q And in my off too Henderson, was there? A Yes. 

Schwartz was here A Tee. 

Q, They had alp ady picked, you vat 

Q I e.sked you to whom thin propert 

A o sir. 

Q Wasn't I irt4.ir. i tc, who the reoeiv was A Nei 

yoU did not ask mø. 

.(1 •Then you rero toln 1) t Tombs? A Yes., 

Q You say you 1 vor emu cA lie= in your life? A No 

q Were you upetairs in the Surety Warehous with another. 

we I dressed man? A I dor't know wher the Surety Warehouse is 
,k-

'Q You know qhere W shinvon Street •is? A Yes, I could 

it if they.gare me the address but never saw the Place. . 

Q How often have you passed l7t,ohington ntreet? A Valli 

aint very 'seldom down thM; wny. 

•Q How often 'ire you, down th G? A Well never,may as 

11 say. 

Q Never? A No, 

And. yoi 

Pules ;1o. 

did :oot iilierp and request him .to open, any. 

. 
rou-did pot• af.lJt Thim to ocratch any namesot A N. 

VR1EYTP.XAMTIATION BY MF. TENBERG: 

7hat did you ':pr) cons t of as switchman, 

•• 

L.. 



, 

.1 • 

A 'Like 'when any reight or-merchandise goes out 

0 the 'dock to be put on the farm they have different kinds of 

103.116bor4 and tie have sheds on the  farm and different certain 

numbers go to different sheds, just like that 
r 
4 

BY THE COURT: 

Q In other words mer se that Is .44n t— s Palled 

,rm is divided _into lots, that ip to say in the different 

divisions and it Is ,putp according to certain numbers on dif 

ferent parts of what is known as the farm? A Yes. 

• (1, And your duty was as suitoher to see that the n2erhn-

dice that bore a certain number was placed where that samd 

number Was on the farm?. A Yes. 

BY MR. FiTRSTEMBERG: 

In your worlr a a ;vitoher you do not have 

lifting yourself? A No. 

.TIY MR. EDER: 

Q Don't you life any cases? A 

None at all? A No. 

Q• Don rt, help take •them off the trucks? A No. 

do the 

C. How 16 it you are a member of the longahoreme union? 

:gave .to belonc to the 1:1z1i-on to work on the dock. 

Ha.)H you a unicrl Card? A:No no union card vith me. 

It is home* Away in my working cl ot he s. 

Haven't :you got your working clothes on 'now? A: N. 

. Did you wear your working Clothe 4 an, the 13th of March? 

10. 

41d, 

• 



00000. 

Did not wear a •cap on the 13th? A Yeet 

YOU 'didr The 13th of Nardh:? 

Did you wear a blue shirt? A No, 

Did you'change your o16ihes when you came 

A' Yee. 

Q Men you go to the moving pioturest A. Dell.  I 

change my olothes then I come home from work unless I pu 

different suit and Mae shirt,, if I am going any place ii 

tioular 

Q

 

When YOU wont to the moving piouøa on the 14 did 

you change your clothes? A Yes 

Are not these Lh me o1othoo you had: on the night you 

e arrested? A Yes. 

(Showing photograph to the witness) 
A 

• Are not these your working clothes? A Yes. 

Q You had a blue fleinnel shirt on? A I don't 

blue flannel shirt. 

9., You do not? A W(Y. 

Q Do you work in a w10 shirt? A o. 

What kind?. A A rray shirt, 

V.YRY H. AHIPF e of the nts °ailed as a wit 

nese in behalf of the defence„ being dul 

examined, loetified as follows: 

. (Residence 1,0 Oh Istopher Street) 

T) "NT EXAMATIOU BY T. FNnatal 

How d are you? A Twenty. 

sworn and 



.04.0*Aur ologoro" imoroe, 464.01110 

Withleto di, you, live? mA liother and 'slater. 

Q. What do you 7ork:at?. A At the present time? 

as Working aceka at Pier 38: asa loade 

Loader? A Tess to load trucks. 

MA) are you employed by/ A Two ellOws4 

ElY TM COURT: 

What a:am the nacr A Wiiia Oonu1i 

Hou long, have virorked. for t A. Thvae toonth0* 

11eze d.id you \vox], bel.fo.re that? A I used io take trips 

Q, -3That boat cUc. you go n? A Ti Lapla,:o.d 

Q Hera lopg vie yov.i. working on th a? A A 

months. 

Whets did you work bLzø that? A On 
, 

What • as. lour .i.u.ty „';93. sea, seataan oil 

A Fire an. 

Q, You have been oon itd hoore? A Yes. 

Q How long ago? 83 i ooul ntt say. 

'That happened tu you? A pett. lar ny. 

e you sent Ko,..4,,,y? VOA •nt to th Oiti Pio2  

.fo'r

 

tiLtiy .day.s 

(41Th I Li, tho only tiniø yoti wexe 0onvi.otoe 

•aroutkade J: we's, °yew, .tho Island for• five days- Zcir 

di oraerly ooMuc,t. 

W40*.vi3- 4L-3 t? A In 
4 



On Thu pavement tn Ottetit. 

Q treat' yotHtorking on the nth 0Z Uarght A Vost 

• Where were you working? A Down at the do k Pier 

Q Do You remember tie 14th of march? A Yes. 

Q Where were yot at the time you were arrested' A 

eent pioture show. 

Q What time did you get in there? A Abou'half p et lien. 

Q Hot long were 'you in tlore before you were °stied? 

About five minutes. 

Q Did you have tnyappointment to meet Gol fer or rk: 

or o00onneill 

.(1 Were you evei in the'aurety °house A No. 

Q Did you on tho 13th of March take any geode.' fivøoaaøe 

and a bale or any goods, at all? A N.,  

To the surety Warehouse?' A No. 

And eubsequently.on that Ime day did you return'and. 

e away sot $ of thos6 goods or any of them? A • No. 

Q Had you ever seen the witheaa Schwartz'before you seen 

at Headquarters? A ao. 

Q- Aar Henderso 

Q. Or Gilligan?. No. - I have e 

of . them. 

4,• whi oh 0 A 

)..r. llm A Yea. 

her wit 

Tho• ielloq with.the Muetaate 

4. There did you seirli?.A 1 ,t1IN him in a ware over 

riekStreet... 



YOu 41.0ver BEM i).ifl Wi 84 i3treo1i? . NO. 

Q 1ou .0my :You e0,1; to tkie movinG picture Place aroUx4 halt 

Vaot tee 

Q Did you- wOr' that .Gollifer wa,:to.ing to Ix) therel A No4.: 

came to you, the moving picture plaoe ana twousut - 

you 014 ji what O'f:)..aer WPMit?  A I C011242111 eay yeo, wata: 

Reilly. I was oittizg on the. top seat uncl, he said- come dova. 

her  r.nd I jumped down o:17 the top $ea t and .one .aown a.rt aokod 

him what was the /Tatter. 

Q that did he may? ue.Je. you 1,71.1: bee, 

You went to Hecdquarters? pi Yes. 

Q., Did ho tell you. then why 'Ou were .arrested.? , A I hewect 

oonv sation then that I was awxested for stealing a truolt. 

Who was that conversatio4 between?  A Between Offiaer 

qoa. !nd L'ike Landrigan. 

Q After you. 'wore brought to the pole court the next 

clay and your moo WRO adjourned, you went .to the Tortlbe? A Ye 

Q Did you have K eovversation vith th offivere in the 

Tombs? A No  eir$ .1: did not. et. 

Q Did you 'hav(  • uorm;ernati n v1 th them rhen you 

,the Tombs? A 

Q Did yot haw,- nwvoxinc.tlon..rith thee ber.- you leg 

1..40 Tombla A to, T L.  nr). rIpora to 444.14r.o,iinla. 

Did they epoN.Y,. to 

What wall it? ". Aojel. we what ari co.na to 

What aia ou 44? A 1' didn't appalco I ala ot a 31.713r 



Dia anytliiiv yolic war 

Dd 0,11 thing hapy)en 701.1r we, 

I dame out or Vat.,,a Vomhtl? 

14 Yoe* A Thie derendant WiUiarn Oak ask d themi 

whore was the Distriot Attonytn orfice and be øUd they aZ 

all over the United Ststes. 

Did anythino, happentv you then? A When I ht in Head 

quarters 1 asked the °Moor via Ian ex-conv .ot gett Is my 

picture taken and he i4 you ia4e a bad crack then and 0 0 

over and belted me in the mouth. 

Rio was that? P. 1 den t knov hi mnie, 1ut it aint 

1eiUy or c'ollips t.i.ud It aint Mike Londrigan. 

0., After that the-ew Iothing gurther isid about taking 

picture? A To. 

Q When yo u *ant to the.Di triat Attorney's: oftoelms 

your lawyer there with y , A No. 

(4 Your lawye was 'cover previent at the time you were 

brought to the Dtstriat Attorney's article? A N 

Ns 

bal 

Q- Are you cure you bad no 

? A No. 

onneotion with the oacei or 

Q Had nothing tri with it Kro. They have been 

looking to rams Ma ,!..c.1:f. tlx.) t3me. 

CRO9S 1XAJINAPiONMR. EDE" 

Q You say you. ow MVO PItIllman Yes, I do 

name but I know t11 rollow with the txches 

ow 
4. • 

6 



that the man? (Indicating). es, 

hat to the proprietor or manager of tho Surety. 11.Texe;-, 

I_ doni tear wha1 ie is I knew ie was aomet4ng 

th•e other warehouse where tie used to work. 

• Q, • 17119re wax that? A Around in Vario Street 

Q, How often did irou J o him there? A I saw 

ith Clark. 

You wer1,4 1,1,:tx,7 A Yor!„ a,rk wed, t 

Q Dia you (Ivor k to him Who. 

Dia -you ever talk to him? A Once he løt a oe„ 

on my 'foot and X said what 1*) the matter with  

Q You ipok to htwi? 4 Y. 

A Re 1oo4e4 at you? A 'Teo. 

And h 0aW yOu there A Yes, 

Q Did you ever 3.kolo any Iza rel with him? A 71°1141, 

shov d aim, that 

Q. That time? L 

q How :ions ago ix, th A I couldn't just ram 

About how _onp: ago? A About a year ago. 

Were you ever 3.n t.fF1 xe,ty Wmx(4hollee? 4 No. 

'Neve p. 

Q Do you knoW whol,) 7 

Do you 
401 

robot vihothoJ: .Yfl Pm:ember '31s1i 1917 thia oar 

(rage Imf.1 :CCY1.1111 ti.,011 your pexeon? A 

Low Me. it 0.41, .::,!oli4.213 too .1::1: 140 
4. 

g ,41N 



, 

• 

00,40t read,...ana.that: ia tty ho wante to ptrtl this oaraIlP 

'against Ma* If he shoVe Or the eard °bowed lam IPan toll i 

by the telephone nuMber. Let me sjile tt4 

Laok at the telephone umber,. .. 

. mat...guasattunERal I move to etrike out tter 

Part of the answer as not reeponeive to the question. 

THE COURT: will you have the k ndeee to read 'the 

question. 

(The question i. repeated ana the answer is repeated) 

THE COURT: I will leave in the ane-er no, sir) and 

the balFaloc is out. 

BY MR. EIDER: 

Q Look at this card 41th the telephone ninmber on top? 

A No telephone number was on the ba 1 

(I On the back? /I Yes. 

' The oard i marked for identification People' Eihibit 

q Q Did your .father over work:for •the 3urety Warehouse? 

'A 

Objeoteci bc. Objection overruled. 

- Q Did you tell He he -,:;or.ed for the surety are 

-A T remember. 

Objected to. 

.THF COORT: I will _Gt Aia answer etand. (To the 
kr 

(5 

witneue) Do not i,xtor woestions ,until your counsel has 

had an oll)ortnnity to co 'est and the (Avert has had a ohanoo 

•• 

• 



0 .:031 

1%.ntela/ Yoll don't remember whether yo evor told ne 

that your father aver workeci. for the Suty Waebouet A No, 

q Did you tell 

vzety arehouse? 

6b3eoted to ae immaterial, 

Q Did you ay. to r. ier that your ather had handed 1;0 

you the bard which 11r.. Eder showed you 

Did you over h,Lve. any cuarre. with Adron liendeXe 

itnese w:tto we.1,5 

Overruled. 

BY PEE 000112.1 

qi Yee or Thim here row once 

BY R• EDE,R: 

9, Jo, T 'e40 ‹noty, TTendereonA 

,You saw hirr  .o the- atandZ P he folio* thfit Wa 

isamd? 

flLd you eve :c imv5 any 

...t toot;-• .anottler .f 

Any quariel with• Schwa 

You say you workod oir 

The 1314% :of Uaroh? 



ltrour lOng'do you knOv 0 Connell? A I don t knqW 

Connell -- I RMAX41 h1M 004 four months. 

4 How' long do you know Clark? A Ahbnb sour months. 

4 Where did you meet them? A At the th.noo hall alttin 

Lon the table. 

Q. Vhat dance hall? A Ilanh ttan Casino. 

Wheioi tho 1/41.nbttan Casino? k YtC. ftrøt 

not mistaken. 

•Q Who runs•tho amass? A Allxteoi. fe 

Q ha ? A All fellows run the dances., 

dances? A Igenexlly used to n3et them in the 8Gøt gpin 

to work. 

Q A moment ago you toia us you met them at dances A 

„do fleOi them. 

At 42nd Street, io that ri(zh' A Yes. 

How often did you  see O'Connell ahd Clark at 'clano0o on 

eet? A I?le ex saw them up there brdly at all. 
s 

Did y tftem there? 

orotea (lid ybu to those amoes _TA Very seldom (.1 

Tow often aia you meet O'Connell and Clar 

nt to dances 

Yes*, once. 

la Once a week? P JAL4/ be twice a mo 
.s 

AXways at the Manhattan Casino? 

at' hos 

Where else did you go? A All dancesA aown At the. 

school? A Ota Vo Onioft tohuol* 



did -YOU .go lo St. .VerOilItia.• :804441: ..,A.-.1.4tS,H. 

- A About Xiv 

• q. In how lope 

-sahOol. 

scho,f100 

re d 

A .Tust latel 

Hew J. ? A About 

That, is ally. 

.months 

know him, five months? 

110 •that 

A That is z 

Who •iutoduced you to him who introduced you. to - 

• Gol ger? , 

Objected to. Overruled. Exception. 

You ask me who introduced me to Gollifer? 

CI Yes. A Nobody. 

Q 1Vhore did you say you Ivo A '1 0 Chr etc' 

Viler() does Goliifer. ? A don't know. 

.Q Never lu hie house? A N 

cz Mere I.) 441ui.i  Loving licture place?. 

0 street from mo. 

q Where in it?, IL Here 

oving p 

lad th,is 

eat,* 

058 

side of the street 

ture place, I don't tppw, I wayber f it. 

,Q. Hew often:did yoU. ge to• that moving pipture-p 

1 used to go there pretty near every night. 

q Did you see Gollifer.•there every night? A well, once 

in awhile I sat .Gollifer thexe. 

ory attlA 0400 in awhile uQtI eve;y 

, A. 

•• 



14,P 

„ 

AboUt how many times h month? A 

Six:timea a month? A Yes/ 

Did yaa ever go there in the afternoon? A Sor 

How often did you gO there in the 4fternoon? A About 

three times 1 went there in out three Months In the afternoon. 

Did you ever see 01Comme11 there? A No. 

Q, Did. you ever wee Clark there? A No. 

About eLx 

(; That was the first night you ,ever met those there? 

No it was not the fin night I ever net those two thero0 

You SLOT them there before? A I aw them there before 

the ni h4 'time. 

ce How often? A. About five or iix times. 

You know one of them lives in 14th Street? A Si ? 

Q O'Connell lives in 14th Street doesn't he? 

Objected to. ustained. 

Do you know where O'Connell 1ves 

Do you kliow where Clark lives? 

A I don't know, 

A No. 

.A You oame in there s;bout half past ten that night? A Yea, 

q Did you look at the time? Yes) 3: was after leaving 

the•house and walked right in. 

At half past ten? A Yes 

C Do you know that the show finishes it 11 o'cloog A You., 

NT did you, go in so late? A Well because my mO13i0r 

waS In the house y mister wa ii. he h and I do no 

t xalain whyl went in so leto. 

Denit like, to explai A No 



Ic 0,14Ni 

.011 

Did you 'go there to meet Clark? 

Or Golliferl A Woe 

Q About hall' ?at ten the place tra 

did not jpay attention to look around the 

pay to pee a •ploturo ohm 
, 

Q, 44 you eft down in the first sea 

A Yes. 

ousaw fts, nt? 

:Tu t halVonoa io bu next to these tbre 

You eat neNt 

You sat righ* 

the A Sir? 

:ontoide or xiext to them? 

3:tt1e llow they brauOt to riee,dquarters. with t. .to 

Q1  Who wan the one ollowing .thib W'Ie ell° hat -you, 

talk About? T thil* it wat.Wi1ii,v 0lar3f. 

Nov,' you say thus we a little fellow. arreeted 41 o. 

that you talk about? • A .Yee, they .It hip go at Headquarters, 

Q He was not pioked out? A Sir? 

q 'Ha was not one of•thellan pioRed out? A' The"mandid 

not oome there t.c ok h4frout. 

.Q What wua th) little .6-111 

.Q.
 
,Did yo 1,2 kaow him? A Nc 

Di&yo.o over rAd ,,fore? Yes,. 

tthere ,..11.Jul.1 1,1.vuT 

nem T. A 1 oouldOt ay. 

I :A t know. 

•• ,You, sy you .workee.t 4rothree, months at Pier,;387 A Yew., 

vlioro in. tlatit• pier?. A No..rth 1ti.Nr1: 

"Riet nv.)...t to Ax :.;7 North 11:10)?? Tefaoftib 

Or IT. 



yOU.:reported.te:'..W.Orl; at what: time that koot1z4r.1.0 

)V Seven 4014 

Q You were working erøry day tha 

day opt: arreated. 

.q And .do you know oberts the d 

,ompany? A No 

Did you ever rce him at your pier  

Q What do you do? A Dawn at the ed o th daok 

do? A Load truoks. 

A FeWifliwi Connor onnellys 

Is it Conners or 11 A . Well, tJonnelly Con-

nors or Connelly. 

Don't you know your bossla name? A Yes* 

Q 'Why do you say. it is either Connors or Connelly, beoa 

don't know? A He ha sornany ra.mes, that is why. 

q What? A ie has so many names, they oall him Bill an 

Connolly. 

Q What do y 

Par whom? 

Now ions nave you been workin'.go 11,1m? A Three months. 

What is.ths 

Burke? ,A 

What do you ';et a ,wee)? . A Three dollars a 

,ere you pead gor the last week you worked? 

name? A Burke* 

sont a alLow tqi t1t6ra to oome clown to se 

Qs.How ii cLd y / •.t 

d3Lara he gave me.. 

What? A khout fifteel doi1ar hu „Avo ma4lown thpre. 

boi 

a half 

Yea 



When did.yoUr Week .begin? A 0 

q On 'Friday? A Yes* 
0 

Did yeu.work Sunday? A Sir? 

Did you Itork, on tUnday? A no. 

You say you were convicted once fer pettys  1 

What did you steal? A I dontt remember. 

How long ago was it? A I guess it was .bou 

& •0-+ 

WaitL914? A I don't emeinber4 

Did youstela a case o± goo A No. 

What &td you steal? • A I 4o&t remember, ow it was 

not no qai3e 

do 1 i; xeMember whe it was? I know 

Q Did  you on the Ilot day of December, 19174 together with 

John Gollifer steal_ a AO oases of oottOn goods and sell them to 

one Henne rill LtM" • 

Q, You say yki, were .00n tad o:t da. so rderly obnductand - 

• got ivø days, is that right A Y. 

Q, Wasn'ot that for picking pocleto? 

'Are you riur of •that? A Yee. 

Q nen was the. That ‘,1avi a good -hile ago, I was 

about :Court 06u yeAr-) cla then. 

Q, Were you talam to the 

Q, Don' 

f31.1 00ttrt .74.0 

ou ino ii you 'axe under sixteen and you Vomit 

YOu f. J. tAJ-tilr. to the 01)110.7temil Ovorti A 1,1411114-, I 

• 

- 



sAY YOU. gav your age af3 what? A •I saveme age a0. 

kb tha A T. 

Q. How long ago was t 1 A That waa a good while44110. 

TMarewta you bOxn1 A The 'United State. 

When, what year? A 1897 or 907 --somethiug lika 

id you register :for the:dr t1 

year ago, Iguese. 

you your oar ? A No, kQt.W$th e. 

When? A Abovt 

Srou say you regiatere4..for tho draft. A 

,(,)„ Whiob dr4.ft.dia you imter for? I do -know.' Z go 

one Pi6100 of white oark-3.. 

Wexe you 31 ymrs of e.ge1t (Jay? ANo, 0r, thie May 

I ill be 1.. 

0 You cit six yearo ago, yo !Ave yo ageln 9 kvi) 

20 A Teo. 

mov 

MOT EXAMINATION BY MR. FIRSTENBERG: 

Q Did you ever go to school? A No. 

pc, you knolg.holaLto-read oV wri e? I know bowto. 

e but I donot Irlow how to read. 

Q You say there '.'ere ,five men a reoted 1-1iat igh in a 

piotuxo 'lace? !\. Yee,. 

give taken to o1ioe headqu. YO:11-6 

(71, One nsrned Charley Morrelo? A gueme that vme h 

Q About was Charley Morr o? A ,He wad. only 

aboilt a bit, O'Connell, a little uallør than him. 



Is h ,in court .do you see h ms have you Over seen 

since the time you were arreeted? A 

Q Be was tot up at the District Attorne s office? Av 

They let him go.in Headquarters. 

1LLIAM CIA-R K) one of the defendants, oa1iød.a a 

a witness in behalf of the defenoes being duly sworn au.d 

examined) testified as tollowe: 

(Residence 645 Greenwioh Str t) 

DIrnc,T EXAMIXATION,BY R. FURSTENBEM 

Q How old are you? A 3. 

How do you live with? A My ,aunt. 

Q What do you vork at? A Teamster. 

•WIao are you employed by? A Danio3. Gilroy &Sons. 

How long have you worked for them? A Faux years. 

Q Where did you work before that? A Ch-Lrley B. 00.00 
You have been oonvicted. before? A Yes. 

Fox -what? A Misdemeanor and disorderly conduct. 

What happened to you? A Carrying concealed weapons apa 

fooling on the oofter and a po iceman came up. 

What sentence did you get? A Thirty days and. I was 

oonvicted for diding trains. 

• Were you working on the 3th ot oh? A No. 

You Were not working? A Ao. 

Q Where were-you:on the 13th? A In the ,house 

Q Why did you not go to w at day' 



wpeks previous to My arrest I opt -a draft 'Card for call to th 

colors and x shOwed it to my aunt and my aunt said to 04 as long 

as YOU got called for the colors you may take a couple -Cf weeks 

aff and enjOy yourself" 

Q What class are you in A Class A) and exeet o be 

called -any moment, and I took a couple of weeks o arid , 

three weeks previous to my arrest I took the weeks ot 

Q, What time did you leave your home on the 13th of a 

left at 11 o'clock in the morning — ot-eleven — I ot 

up around eleven and left the house at quarter to twelve,' 

aunt sent me dawn for some 8aIt and newspapers andl came up and 

had my dinTir and went to bed and read the papers and slept . 

awhile and then got up in 'tale evening between six and seven and 

asked for the price of a moving picture show to go to the mov—

ing piotures. 

BY THE COURT: 

ruhei:e did you live on .1443,roh 13th? A 645 Greenwich 

By MIL runITENrgm 

‘Yhe wau ifl. thc;_huuple t h.c2 time you we t 

cousin May and her mothervmy.aunt. 

r9 ? 

:Aro Your ouusin in 1 t? 4. +Yes, sitting baok the 

What tine did you .get home on the 13th? A '014 tlip 3t13.7 

Yea the acc before you were lIrrooted? 4. BOWeel/ ton 

and ele.ven At nihti I, waA in WemOITjT piure EOlow 

On the 14th what time did , you ot to the ovinft 

A py 

'714. 

\ 



• 'TO.' A went in- al:).ottt 

,Did y011 meet anyone in there? 

Wab hy. myself when. wontin.• 

Q. Did .you have any appointment o YneØli 

'A No. 

Olwas the iret pørs, 

sag O'Connell cdbt.ng .1 there in itho corner.-. 

TM you known Q1 

Q, 

e in there that yoga new? 

1 A Ye.. 

m did you m.eet there? 

with 0 Connell and-I:think Clark came in. 

And  after tlmt Gollifer can* ? A 

I tb.ink 

0

there s±ttiug 

lifer came in 

Q Then you there and the o.ffioer arre t d you? A T e 

• OffiOeZ arrested me4 

cl Took you to adquarters? A The. 

hen to court the next day? A Ye!e4 

) had you ever seen Schw im before A 

derson? A lb. 

L4: 

A No. 

T() u over.seen Mr. ,aUllmu be-fore? A. Ye 

When T used to be t,eamit or Daniel Gil 

roy & one he min in chmrge of the Vriok W e1.ouie.in 1300,011 

Street betWeen qreenvich And Rudeon a 

been driving 

3 th t man knows have 



B4r, MR FURSTENBERO: 

'COMM You :1).04 anSwered 't e 
• 

And when he was a tb.e Varick Warehouse did you h 

occasion to go there in Your business? A Yes. 

Q Had you ever been to the Surety Warehouse? A ' 

- 'Did you-with Gollifer and the *Other take any five 

oases and a bale or any goods. whatever? A No. 

Q And put them in the Surety WarehoUse? A No. 

OROSSVXAMINATION BY MR, =BR: 

q How old did you say you were? A a3. 

Q How •many times "ave you been convicted? A . three or 

.four times; disorderly oonduct and misdemeanor. 

Q Disorderly conduct was picking pockets? A No. 

Q The 15th d07 of May, 19150  you ware charged with dia. 

ordorlY conduct? A Yes. 

Andosent to the  Worirhowie-for thirty days? A Yea. ; 

q On the 6th day of June, 1915 you were found on,a train 

where you bed no righ% to he and fined r(!), on g freight train? 

A Yes. 

- Q• Were yo''. looking to steal anything from th(:) train? A No. 

Q on the 9th of Ipbruary, 1917, you were convict,o, 

•oarrying °ono ealokyopons , • is) that ri ght ? , Ye 

Q What wax it? tk An empty old revolver I had. 

Q You were annt A 3 had a adoonded aentenoe. 
.1 

Q Again on the r?Oth tiv,y. of October, 19170 yo,.1 were 4ga4n 

P 



ConVicte'd D4toOr1y cOnduoto is that x.ightT 
By llagietrate ruehs and you again received a suspended 

• sentence? 4,Z i31d. a.t receive a suspended sentenoe. age.in-,I irias 

Xocontinued on paVolo On Mr i'iret suepOnded sentence,. 

17ore you convi tpd of' robbery On the and day :au 

93.7? A :No .4or Illy life 

Q How 1ng .you know Tax A About four month•f3 • 

LOW 1°11g, co you kr.tovi Gal' ii'cr? A About eive• 

Q Did you o the Saturday pr000lding the Ath do,y of' March 

to her with G fox u.14 Tiarfi t&i iz Ta,po,neee calms up to 

the ety TI:arehou ? A Mos 

You have not been v.rorUnP yo' 

, A .About three weeks previou,;, to Y/ly arrest. 

liareh 

Q Your munt.told you to allay home and have a, good ne? 

Q that did you do tluring 

Objeo ed to ao imatori 

Q Dia you have any mouey4 

:I Did you have any noruy 

;ha you ciiL xot 

Suotained. 

Y08. 

13th of LL  1? 

Objelted to, Overrule& aud exceptiozi. 

id -you have an  m. ey_on the .c.1: )114airoll? Yea. 

()ijotoc1°0o. Objecition overpi 

You. toty you went to tit moving p: tuv4u on tiv: ,tT1 of 

that right? 

Objeoted to, 0 ObpOtlon. at/stain-6d 
10. 

0 



Yee 

bloc) 

0.: I-4ring; otures on tlip 13t11, '0:4 marl* 

That moving 11) attire? A Chr stopher. amd, Itudson Stree 

Hor/ sr;zr1r, that :ez'om your house? A That ie abtFut twO 

Tht pot13re did you Oan yOu Xeoall? I think 

pioture• was in tthe Freet,;:c' of a Lion. sz.'i 1;:;de.1 thoy hati 

edy piet:ure 0.-

Q, Did yo .0 to the pLotuc the 4eixt Yesi, • 

Q, Dici yo doe Gallifer there 'on the. 13th?' 'A lb. 

(4, .701mt time wero y'ou the3,t ot :tho 1 4th? A The 13th X 

t,in.abo!i(;,t(Iven ofolooY, 

), 'What time. did you gat out? mtweer ton azd eleven.. 

. On the 14th whet time did you get in?_ A 

about meven Rnd-rent out ..ao.ut eleven, 

tiaat piotture did you oet on -the 14th? really 

in 

oat'rerneriibex  tho,ona on the. 14th. 

t you are 1;1134) that you rcuembgx,:_eeeing The  Hear oi" 

Hp. LJto on e 1:3th? • A Yee. 

Ian' 1; that *.moaupt Galifex said.thatT Wo, be m 

\\ 
1 know on tho 13th -cif Marok, 1M0 1 maw that )100xe and th0 

• 
, , J•...4. 

next night I il4i44. looRed tyi, uLd I eouadsom=ist thht from h: 

night befo 

14 

Vgt. 

ii 

VT/310h rle:y ;1:.' .nr oiire t1i 13$14, ox_ 

A The  

•Obj eo 4; 

‘10< 



-r•-• •—• yr, 

)pava. • 

• The 'niaht you vere arrested you don t 

IL the picture? A lib,0 

- - 
You, Were there over three hours? A Yes) around three 

hours, ;fr.= eeveto eleven. 

Q From seven to eleven? A Y. 

Q Do thoee pictures continue more than two '!ours?' 

gQ right along. 

0., You see the same pictures over again? A Sometimes Ybu 

do and sometimes you don't,* 

Q, During the 20141r hours you eat leddyou see any. 

.1Voture.twice? A No$ sir,, I was not ing looking at theM-

alli the time'. 

q What wxo you doing. A Ta 

lly go in there and 

BY THE 'COURT; 

wil4t is lis me? A Mr. Housier, I uüs. 

BY 11. aER: 
V 

boss •a the pl oe, 

Q Ars yi)1 sure that iE1 hi A Mr. House 

Q Where did you apes 1.. A 1 just cOoke to him"..;.;.. 

after 1 Used to seethe pictures Lwould come downetc re and 

tand downstairs and speak to him.. 

1Did ypu.spe/TIo.1 m after you eiaw tio pictures on.the 

1-0 A Yes. 

When did you speak 

upotaire aga 

fter you. Bat with hes :throe min you. went Amin 

T spoke tp him and went 

1%, 



ndan 

(Residence 

.ormcrr VICA4INATION BY 

sPoke to the bOSO A Yes. 

Q And VI= yaa owly) lima an 

The same place? A Yes. 

And saw the picture again A I did not pay 

the Acture. 

rnDIREOT XATION BY MR.. FURSTRNBERG: 

That revolver that you were convioted for, that was an 

empty gun? A Yes. 

Objected to. Overruled. 

ot, And that suspended •sentence wae before Judge 1uohsand 

we you brought back on your original Parole after that? 

in A Yes. 

A Yes, sir, I was stand ng in the door in the evening and 

there was some "kind of a disorderly rOw in the neighborhood and ' 

happened to go down for buns and on the way back I was at my. 

door .looking at the excitement and these officers came Uong and. 

picked me up. 

Have you ever been ohar.ged with picking pookets? A 

B.P. u N N:A NJ, called as a witness in )eh X of the  

ng duly sworn and examined, tes ified as 

.0 

IreenwIch 

TUROTENBERO 

Q YOU live there. h? A My her. 

Q Who easel L4y ter and two .hrothere. 

Q The C 3 nctnt 1 ve 'Ited to YoWe Ye 



On the 

A Yos* 

MO. he: live there 

ath 71i-a.ro1r was• Clark gt the ,preml,e' 0; *here .yov 

A Ye 

You remeirber,him being home that Morning? A Yeei 
ol 

.Do you remember what time he left the home? A He go 

•up at about eleven oloo:It and Aont to the ttoc a bag 0 
46. 

Salt 'and two PaPers. 

lithe el'oe was present 

x* 

you 

Ts yew:  

today. 

that mo 

the t 

now'? A" S: k• 

gy , 

,ourt? A, •go., ehe ha 

ex • and  

Ork 

cm are pos ivo be was home until .e.von o'clock 

ing? Ye . 

1.14 'had 'been ho 

A Who.t do you mean? 

q That he had no 

long hofc'x 1üa,t tlaat morning? 

been ' vok ing, how 1 or gbeior. that morn 

I had not been workin 

Einoe'hc got 46 &r3r 044'd my moihr told 

, not to vir)r 

0 OSS EXA101111.1ftOR 

DO yoll 

Y 41t, 

W0,47k? 

ALA 

, 0 0 

Yee. 

or boxee. 

"No-



• 

HOW ,long• have you'becn I7OritIng ,there? 

t that one. place. 

I:11A timo ao you, 

aorninu. 

jr you, work °yea:7 r._),Fs' A Yos, 

010 one.day-this. week and stayed Off. 

One  day this week? A One last  

tml that 'TEJ,r,i the only day you. warp. 

.0mAte.up to See my caunein' 

0.. Itou say you ware. t1ok one day last week? A I was 

I 

the week my cousin -- sick the week my ocusin qot 

0, You ckaid'a moment Ago that you, were 

week and didn't work? Yes) and then ati e 

Last we k? A YQ00.• 

,Evory o hex ,3esk you worked a 

ala r)t vork rie:ht 

troub 

k one day 1 

off the rest'ef 

0 

Until this 

%for° that 1 did. 

p it u werk ago that you wexv away grom work? A. A 

week ago? 

Q Ye 6 . 

WOr. 

no,*it In mort...; theA,11 'e& I am away Xxam 

Wtt 4.1.Vult 41003(' from wor10'. A Yeo. 

-.Now tioiny T Via M he, me ho 10461.6  '''' •"' ''''' '"". ''''''' ''  
1... 

neginning %:onaNi,y. until Maturday? A YON. 

bei'ore that? A Yeop I did; 

All reel A Yem. 



.1Z 

:ore that 

he week before that? A No, 

1 WOOk vere IOU away? •A 0 

didn t 

Q, 1,7ore you, away 1 during ths month o Ma 

Q Bow many days? A I Irlas home the whole week., 

Q What'Aole w A The 13th of 71 roh right o 

day . x ght on I wa4 ziók. 

(L,ky Ins; the. 131h on? A  ,esd, 

0 week. b 

y. 

'GTO :orae thk",..t whole week?.   A Yes. 

T)Li you marh th do,te down NnyWhere? I\ NO. 

How do you inow- it wo.sthr 1.3t of, Mareh? A Beoattee 

I know it -w.04,, 

night ad I. r'emember waz the: 1:3th of Mardia. 

You stayed home. •,,a1 that wook? A Yee,. 

1%4ero.do you otly you work? A For Frederick Nett 

Company  

and Gr( 

eaause knOitv my cousin ;ot arrested Thursd,ay 

Wher dc they keep their p.aoa. oi bus in s ? A • Kin( 

1121(117 tol.ophorn numbor? A NO. - 

olomih? A Cash. 

,Zorelady there? Mlle nom. 

- Ilan or :lady? A Lady* 

Have y ever been away before that duin the even 

years Yes,' ft' rInd on. 

. long has Clark. been living in y 

v4th ua 4110 zx xixx. ye ra off an 



Mat, do you Mat, by: aT and on? A Sametim00.h0 

get Attie quarre1 In the house and go andlive with 

'another ,lady 

When oumei aked yu whom you lived With nd who liv 

in y ux houtief; do yop remember you said y =self ,our mother, 

your .tr,f:o b VOA5,2113 a mt yOu did not mention hie woe? A I meL:at 

him, too. 

c. TR.,ea Ife• pay zi.ny rent there? 

oo 'act the card ior the draft ho don t pay, anyth 

When did he get the m:.rd fr.;:r the dre„ft? A 'Two or three 
V fr 

weeks before -he \In arr. ted. 

You were in; court :ahile he 4eatifiaa, you were • in the 

court 3"; 0 OM .11711 e he. wax.; on the etand?  

Q, You heard ;4143 au.id? A, J. heard, what he E3 mid yea. 

. The cud that io got did no  tell him to -oOme and re ,—

port? A HS was euaxposed to go and get examined. 

Do you know tf ha went to• ot !;:c-ta.rined/ 

Q He .to1d you at? A Yeo. 

Poe (knit know Olen oalledf A That 
. — 

t Claes A, they. say. 

did,. 

L 014' 1,1 know when he will be oalled.? A Any minute, 

they aant 11;0,. 

TA 
Vo 

• told. et,iy b. 

hi M to mtay home A Yes, iyat/10X 

.41me? Yen.. 

'Y'ou him it home every dily? A Yea. 

, 

i1;01,.• 
, , 



And eVery night?, A Yea"• ... not every night 

woad so 'to the .movies ami come back ase,in. 

DEFENOE RESTS. 

A E L 

BY R.'DR: 

• to 

LA / G A N) reoalled b 

Q -At t3 time tha the cases were takenfrom 3 ica 

del ters) what did you do wIth them? 

Objected to e, not rebuttal  

THR OODITP: Uhile is not rtriotL1 butta 

think j will allow it Except on, 

:What Aid you do with the cases? A I turns 

Gwner Mr* O'Connell. 

N 0 H C L A C' ' 0 0 hI N 1 L L reoL1ed 

BY MB.. 

• over 

show yai these boards and ask you where you ot them'? 

Objeoted to. Objection overruled, 

THE COURT: :Past where you got those boards 

A I got these pieces from Stalley Reichman. 

BY THE 00VRT: 

no landed you these piecee of woodT. Yesterday 

you Mean v we uot t14 E4O 

Wot wheVe yeu bought tem 

don't underotlind you. 

BY Ms EDER: 

A I did not tray thoin-

di4.srou det them) boardo from? A Thoae XwOM 

4 



9.2aet aoth Street* 

After that? A. 'Oh from Police Headquarters. 

How did you get them back from Headquarters? 

Objected to. 

Did you gdt the whole oaselc-back? 

Objected to. Overruled, 

A I got the rhoJ and these'boardewere.thow 

oases. 

q Are the boards in the Tirarne condition they wer 

when you received them? 

Objected to• Overrule 

BY THE 00T: 

Yes OT A Yes. 

Q. In other •rd. at Polce uarter9 

ed over to you a 

as turn# 

ase and inwide of the case that was turned 

over to you were some loose beards and the loos board Ai eh 

were inside:of the case are be ds-th_t you now see? Yee., 

OHO" EXAMINATION BY MR.. 3URSTENBER01 

You don't.know hew long they wer left in dqVarte ?' 

Only over night.. 

you.,knowl 

You do 't linow who handled them there? No. 

Aa for ,Le you know you are net sure if ther were at 

PoUce Dreaftwrtefes over ni bt other than you pt hem from , 

ther .A 'I tr. told they plIr14 td Pr 



BY MR. EDER: 

new% 01` your twin knowledge you do not know? A :Col 

noto, 

or your Own kn wledge 'yOu don w ere t 

"Were put in Headquarters? 

THE'CdURT He• merely purpor to eay that he,go* 

from }read.qi rter. He only gives tee imony to the 

tbat bo received them at Headquarters. 

BY . VUEInTENBEBP1 

A You don't klmi: where these boards were beg 

ivedt'at POiice Headquaiters? 

THE COVRT: FIe does not give any testimony 

point. 

you kaow rhere those boards were beoe the 

rived tt P&li.oe Headquarters to your owt kpowled 
d 

BY THE COURT: 

Q OE your owl Know dge) yoe ow no? 4 No. 

TU 0 M A.A 0 ILLIGAN, .reoallea by the ?ebp1k. 
6; 

Mr. G lligan„ you testigied that you did Eick scikxp ng 

on some cases, i that rig1M A Yes. 

Will you .lease look at thee ,two barlis an ell 

yourLooc,rizo ary one of thou° tvo boarda as the Oss you 

(

 

1d. the. scraping on? 

.Objecli,f1 to. Overru)ed.and exceptiol). 

Yea, -ir, I reconize thio bo..i.rd with the number on 



with .tbett red number, 

THE COMT That board Will be marked for identifioar. 

Mark d for Jaen flea on:Pe. e *Exhibit 4 

VY,' VI OMIT 

Q Have you seen the board you scraped, 

you E3 pea it until you claim to LUO it now 

rom the moment 

No o. eir4 

THE COURT: I. regard the testimony of this witness 

preposterous and I will stri it out of my own motion, 

nd tell you gentlemen of the jury to ddsrogard its 

141 L 1 d: 

EDETtl 

-Q I show YOU this hoarciherG,.pleae look at it, 

ask you if. you recognize the handwritint' there?: 

Ob3ected to. 

A •Yeal. sir. 

THE COURT: It may -he marked for 

A4rkod fox idoutiioation People's Exhtbit 5. 

BY. THE,' OURT: 

Q when you.eay.you r000gn.e the ha wr.tirg,.•you mean 

e wOrCLs in pencil? tho 

de.ntifioa,tion. 

BY r. Trt 

,a you e o marked that name on that 

Objectell tr overruled and.excePtion. 

y T17 COUPT: 

aid?A Yee.' 



L54 

t know ihe handwriting A I don't know tø ha 

ri n tia X aw the one who marked the oase 

eay 

0 

at el A Mr. O'Connell' 

Conn 1? A Moholas 3,10 0' o 34 the 

a4 i The hanft. tifIg of 010 X. j 

You eay the penoii writ n th 

O'nniL, thn truokmanT 

VT R. =Utz 

Q Did you ee hini mark that? Yee. 

When/ A When h took it out e our - 

faoturing Company. 

Q. The qaoe that wae s nt to th 0 an on the 12th, day 

rah) 1918 was the erchandiee contained in the oae which was. 

sent on the 12th of March,  1918 -.4. 

MR. PUR3TENBERG1 I object to t4,ny tatimony thh there, 

wile any oo cntathed i that eke 

Varoh. 

)h;jsction ainL 

THr 0OURT: 

nen you. ay that tilat 1 j.t t o handmatin 

g 

igned on the lath 

1.10011, dc'y.o; Leln ncmr.n•o in tt room hero; vow? k Yeo 

Tbn 'f--311tlert,a4.c116:11r4s oi JtrLi bOfo0 you tooh:yOur-



ideutit the...oaao. 

You say that he wrote that 14 your presenem? 

On what day? '41. I don't r nieinber the date* 

1DtRt 

What ty wa thLs °aim) Shipped? 

Objecd to. Overruled. 

It ;t hi thonit be. the:600dL vexe.m 

Wa  tii it. that , e. It e that .name on. 

A 

VIlen VA. you moi.p him wz1tc3 that namo on t 

homaae !tan rz 3.0 cinl :701 e.TI:trr 

After that? A Yee. 

mony 

^ 

BY A TTMOR 

rir vo o tr4k .9.cct the 

o 

TI 00 EMT : Sit r t 

WheD did you seo .jr. O'Connell vxit...1 Uzt name thELt 

std.-

• .you y ;r. Vai\en. didvou 

E3 e e Af:tov you anw it 'in kevig tosT A A , 

. tel.. It Cii-oacrquaxtox.0, yea. 

Or. 

I I WOXJ 1.110.171ftrMaap 

PT,)  1.0113T. 

?..0.T1JR)YrY 

Tott1.1')tlio jury rna..07. 
tiriüny in th.o I1f, 11, -re() ' 



6 

• 

156 

id render a. verdict of not guilty as to /an 

OsConnell• 

TgE COURT: 1 now say to the defendants hat I shall 

' be somewhat influeneed in the punishment that I will, give 

to each one of you by the degree frankness which you show 

when you come to the Bar on the 12th) in telling me 

either personally or through,yoUr counsel all about the.' 

theft -.T; when it was planned) where it was plannedl 

whom it was planned; the rull name or the man.who. 

with one of you inside of the Surety Warehouse and 111410_: 

Was dpacribed 1y, one of the-witnesseal and the address 

of that man so far as you know it0.so that:he may be 

plated by the police under arrest. You. are remanded 

til the 12th, 

At's 

, 



COURT OF GENERAL SESSIO13. tHE'DPEACIEL 

CITt &im 001INTY OF NEW YORIC 

H OPLg . 

against etee47404,1P—

PER, apd others. / 9"/ / 9/e, 
ori 

agiti t 

' Kr 1,10.* 

9th day of March 1918. 

*P. 

EDWARp MAHONEY) XOHN O003 a4 
FRANX LATERO. 

xzaio1rnxrb ftLed 21st day of March, 19 

For the:,Pefendant qouirEp_axo others R, 1TRSTEI3ERG. 

For ;the Defendants MAHON& 000K and LATiRO, NR. TOOMT 

(Al% defendszt val.ralgnod boforo TICN. THOA0 T.  

CRA1N.J1( on thp.. 1911k day of APril 1918, 

.THE:00URT:'. I will heax who.t ic,14 

Cook 81)30 Later° ha 

oRs *)0NP1ITM.17„ •f your Honor plot,ot:eI 1.elievc 

all notiono Yoxo reaorYed until tnde.y, t th:11:1V i  

my 1tity ttornAy 'be . r- ti 11 W.e.VCCIt 

.f judgitiop.N:Vmd ,to vet. api.O. 1,Jt Am for a now , 

H.1,10 t 'Linea • na :that. - 



by t40 evidence hnd contrary to law and upon all the ground  

.provided by tip Code of Criminai Proeedure• 

THE: COURT:, That motion is'outortained a d donie4-

and you have an °option. / will hear you on behalf of 

• the thre defendants you represent. 

:r0ONBETH: On the question of sentence, ooncerning 

Cook„ h haa never been convict d before and as your Honor 

*bated, that, i he would consult with his attorney and 

that if b wotQ.d be advis d to speak, if he would spea, 

that 'youx Honor 1rJou1d be lenient with him - co love 

that wt z the it of what your Honor s=lid. I want to DOW 

inform you/. Honor, that T 3avo the District •Attorn y p r 

.miasion to nee the throe defondanto in th Tombs 

furthermore I Zy3if .kialp/ the throe of 'hem tWo days  

and I had a rather lengthy conv6rsation. :ghat I have tp. 

.port .to the :Court this morning is th'e.fot that Ahoy 

.;toutly deny that they wtole the,property mnd as .matter Of 

fact nmy have id me notbi rg but. to 4i;onfirm their state  

monts• as Made on the•witneea w6and., ..er‘ asI personal 

•ly am °cancer od,i beiisvm the. atorkbo told by. the three 

of them upon th t stand an vell -as what they told me.in th e 

Tombe ó/,v7ag4)-orating. be;Lievo Vhott-ialey are--

• lbeolutoly trothfvl. 

nth x'eferenpe to Coa.t in vimm cf the •faot thik he. 

hu AOVOX iOGri ion*rioiled before 0.110. that he is 

. man, he L044 mo 11' ;Any, 

yoittni6 

;ty for blin 



het to be sent tO jail) but to be let Out on parole unaer 

a susPended sentence, that be Will immediately make_appli-

oation to join the Army or NaVy'of the United States. 

As fa,, as Mahoney ,is concerned, I would like to OalI 

yow' u'ttrntion to the fact that he is iiou out on parole 

taider a wusPended sentence. 

As fax as Later() Is concerned, he' was conicte. about 

five years ago.' %nee then he has behaved himself except ..... 

Zor the crinielo iecharged with haring committed and was . 

•fcuma ui1iy of. I believe that is all i have to say to 

your Rotor on behalf o± these three defendant, 

'THE COURT: Mahoney, 0 ok, Later°, Gollifor, Marrf, 

and larh, listen to what I am_going to say. 

On ..Tatuary 1st, 3rd, 4th, 5th 8th, 10th, 2th, 14th, 

thh„ M, 23rd .Ei6, 38th, 29th 30th and 31st merchan-

dies *as stolet from trucks. On February 1st, 2nd., 4.11.0 

6th, 7th, 6th, )th, With,, 13th, 15th, 16t1i 20.0 404 

82114 246. 86th and a8th, merchandise wae.stolet 

from t'uck On Maxoh.ad,0.4th4 9th, lOt4, With, lath, 

14th 16th,, 19th., 30th, Undo 23;4, 26th,. 27th, 

merchandise was stolen froo trucks. On April 3rd, 4th, 

61144 8th 

Iroo trucks 

tho loth anu 13th n ro Mise wale 'etc:4 

some of tho e days there were as maty 

four separkt.tc/ thefts. In many it inetnoi the horse or • 

the weruhandiae. 

halA OeeOmeaonuwht umtoMary, when you met come oe-

stolen am *el. horses mi •the truck 

I' 

•• 



Vi,"7/0.011, 

C IC 

1 

-V. 

'Ore the aourt atCtaro ,c9nvicted 1.41Adt) it it JO the 

first•oonvictiono to ouspOnd sentenoe or if that ±a nOt 

one to deal leniently., that is to e 7 lightly by .send-

ins the one ocinvicted either to the PenitentiaVY 02 1o., 

the Mlmira Reformatory. 

am not going to dispose of the oa ofany one P 

you by 4 suspension of sentende, and I am going tO senr. 

toe secb one of you entirely without rergard to your 

pa4,:eocv, and entirely without ref!arcl to your youth, 

antirely sithout regard to what may be the conse-

quences or effect upon ilny.one of you personally, for 
Ca 

just as long a time as the lwm iL llow melt) aento 

y unlose withln,the next raixty rinutee„ the room 

to which you will be sent, you, one by one, own up to 

your olearly proven guilt, and one by one faly, Olaira 

anJ, truthfully disclose the names of ail who helped yoU , 

otly or indirectly I - theft tint you committedl 

•ti ntwee of all associate& with ytu 111 this line of 

thieving; tha name$ and• add:mimeo of th:a who procured 

you 'to ao what yoiL hqve wrongly done;. the mines of the 

receiver6 of t'e .steleu property) that  'kind of in.. 

Xorwtion which wi31 onablo th ol 1oc to Ot baci1 nome 

the .ktioachandiuty atolen Rna vtur ocimpan1.onn  

,d,Jpived by no roGOAVcro I;(1 outomarily  
1 

and some n'oa'm'tto jj the ,.r.):AJoe 

)f thl oit%* bo helm; to t;11 uoifrt., lo th-tt tbov may 
• 

II 



e, tried the men who. i oomvany with  you from time to 

time have rObbed the truokmen, and merchants. 

•diminish by one day he Prison term inside of th,.) State 

Pirison whioh may be giv 

of that information. 

n to each tine of you 'in detault 

If the statements are ade then twill enzard y02Ün-

t3 With to ascertain whether you have told to truth, 

lnd ;Till dispos of your co' that timo in the 11 ht 

in. part of the inform:1;10n that y have Given. I intend 

as far as possible to-bxuak up thievery of the 

you hay? boon indulging in and I intend if 

kind.  

It is possible 

to x those who like yourselve!3 haver _been doing 

'and to g back for the merohants as- far w3iessible the 

property vtolen. Now thero is not 0.o of yo ,young Men. 

who has any ell:us te thoreOs alything under 

the atin thut.sti-da or oan stane. ImItt*en .him •end a. priion 

term, t a plinimm of which All •f ? five years and the maxi 

imim of.imbioh will Iv ton. ma. . olgoept i4LXo1oowe ,to be 

begut,within ton minutes. I hava• toId..yol) that. :Now: 

lapin; these mon 11,01.tO the pen and. at quarter 

past twelve tody you or bring tb.o. here ,ald I 'ail. 

upon t):1!,! fd tb (3 n. 

T.,(1)terit •Defonditntt romr1 igned 'before HON. THO AS: 

01-01/411',. 

THN, COURT: Aft. Toonbeth, in ,h6-ab 

;0o1,4 to apoorattantvlo Ohg three 

. • n 

y 



4444. b11.4044,7.04., Aitragrais AIhi A'  

efendan so, Go1Uoa Tag' and Clarks 

no11BE11: Nay I inquire iS the usual. Motions 

have beelti 111q‘de thair cases? 

THE CouRT: 

0 so again. 

JOOMBETH: 

70 and, t 

at of Tudgm 

think the mot -o o mad but you 

move i t you et aside- tilo veidict 

at a new trial be ranted and ale° move 

t upon the round that the verdict is 

th by the evidence and contrary to law and .u)-

1 the g ounds mentioned in the Code of ()rival al ')ro-

THE COURT: The motion i iiterained atd aeni .and, 

you have at exception. Send for Yr. Fur 'Webers. I WOUld 

like to have him her. 

. Puretenb :ce; now appears n cpuxt.) 

FURSTMERID: If your Honc7 please,1. understan 

the Mot 'on -has been made with reep o :to wwh of the de 

-fendant 

The dG ndaI 0oA1ifer lo Viventy years old.,nd lab 

never 

times. 

been oonvited, lthough he haa been arrested several 

He cont ihuto Lo puo et the main sup.orts 

of hit- widow d mother amd I' y61i t6-taae the fcts. 

into consideration in centeneing him.' I do not how vht. 

has lAppened• since )iolax Hon r'eretateMent before.  

THE 0(1)TYRT: my say 

diro mares. 

hat these young mon have rnade 

••• 



FURSTENBERO: They heive maittal,med, from -the `-i:6:cy. 

beginpiric;. ,thsit they knelt eXi nething•that Oat, be 6,t aseist-

awe. to the Di1?iet Jkinsy. They have mallatalilect •their 

100 me  thOlgh tie Jury has found. aainst them.. 1 riv.nt 

to say for  the defendant Iiarff that.I•think h L.Xit' 

subjeo.t ;for a Reformatory cannot or.Writs and 

clext sendinghirri to €Jin Sing wi11.715A aid h:tht 411 .• 
t1.1t regard)

 

whereas in a reiormlitory he vonld be so aided.' 

Tho defendant park ha 4 jnst xeoeived 1i i4 

tion no 1,, ()lulu an& :-.(poot!ii to bo naled. None :of. 

those boyaIlave boon oriI of Any nerious offormo here 

tO.r(). 3 lbo r,..toqt ;Intoqcgt ..11Torile1 ras one of thirty 

days and T flak youw ,onor to rsoonmfder your previous de-

termination to..sontonoo thwie men to not leso than five 

nor more than ten yeaxo State ?rison) ,Ind, 1.t them ha, 

tho benefit of i.eformRto:.i.v' trontme:mt; 

COURT:-' Tohn.GoDitov, aoliteoe.you to 

Otato PrA,son Toy tc're.t.o.ui not loci') th=w ,Uve yearo_ nor 

more th,),n tc3r ywArr,I. 
.v 

Henry Harff) I 001Ittp0A(Vti YOU t tLte Pxi.00sl 

tx'm of not loas 2146 vaar.!-. MQVO 

WiIliar Clark) T sontvnos yo.tA to t) •1A011 CO.7 

tom of noi 10Fio ru'- 1';1:' t t-11 11( 1:0•, 

1,Q tO0 ',IA• on 

Cor tirrn o',1: not to.31 4;11-10 liw-4 v)r iO ti,11 

10.11mrd BArionorp 

Ye 
a 

;*$ 



• Xohn Cooko' ?eentenbe :you to the State PrioOn 2or a 

term o:t tOt 14013 than dive yearn. nor 1110271) than terx •yearkl• 

Frank, Latero eentenee you to tile State Prleon for 

,a term a not 1en than Tive years nor more thst.n:ten yoara. 
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41.;. 

THE PEOPLE'S TESTIUONY. 

A LV 0 F'STCYof321 EaSt 12th'Stret.a witnpas 

called on behalf of the People, beinL; duly sworn and OgaMtn... 

ea, through the Official 'Interpreter, Mr. Landau, testified'. 

as f114..,)ws:., 

PIRECT FXAMINATIO7 FT OLCOTT:. 

Q., -Now, Mies Lvefsky, when did you bone to this 06144trO' 

your years a;jo;. 

Q And when you came-over here, 'did you go to work? 

Just tell us briefly, what kind of work you did.? A Op'er-

ating on dresses. 

(4 And you had been ey.plcyed trout he tin whe„n_you•. 

came to this country, up until : y, 1917? A Yes, sire 

gow, in May, 1917, where Jia you live and 7 t: whom? 

A 292 Menroe Street with rs Silverman. 

Ana that is in the City and C,..'unty cf Now Yerk,,is 

not, 292 Yonr,..a Street? A Yes, eir I. 

Q How long hed You bi.,11 livin2 iith 71•'s.-Si1verMan 

2.Monroe S-,reet? A, Two years. 

.Boarding tEere?.• A '.Yes, sir. 

,Mrs. Silverman is, no. rela,tion.of yours, 'is she? 

A .No,:eir. 

What kind of place is this pltIce of Mrs. Silverm 

at 292 Monroe Street? 

Mil. 'AUERPACH: May I interrupt for a moment, if  

• 

r• 



nor ple43e., 51 3k yotr Honor to exclude I; vatneagie0 

on both sides?, 

TM COURT: Yes certainly. -

0 
A It is a tenement house._ 

R And how many rooms does ".,:rs. Silverman occupy in this 
, 

0 A Four. 

Q What kind of rooms are they? INIsat kind f furniture 

in these rooms? A There is a dining room, frOnt room 

a bedroom, and kitchen. 

Q What kind f furniture do ih rooms contain? A There 

is a Tureau,chair, china closet., just 'a nicely furnished holAse 

Who pl;so live in thia.house besides Mrs. Silverman 

And yOurself? A Nobcdy else. Just a yoUmR opuple with 

baby, and myself.. • 
••• • 

Do yivu kilo* the aafende.pt, Samv,el. Rosen? *A Yes sir  

_ow long 1..ave you known biro A  .1. •knz-f;w him :'or two 

Ar • oar tlime, just as I know my finors. 4  

. AUYRE'ACH.: I object tG yovrTonor•pleast • 

lust, as she .knowe her fiAgere, and MONO t. 1tr1k I t out, 

- OLCOTT: I3onsent,tc the 84.vikinp:' oLtt. 

(1r1jI]' : L,eavç out f.vei,yt'in 

Who:ce. dld you'mcf'J ii Lt.? 

• icv( 1:1 1.1 D, 

At 

'That's where you fit mot him? ...A Y.. litn 

(::17..MAy0 waain TrUDOIV 

.1 

4'4 



An appointmentwith 

A n..Urs. 

ril6 for Friday nicht, o Wait';e:c* iie 

•La.please tell me 'Where you first 

rube. s hOuse. 

1-1.0w,long:ago is that? A. T 

14st Christmas 

Q And before the montll of ,May, 1917, about 

did you'see-'him7 A About six :tithes. 
did 

Q Vow, in the Month -of May,when/you.fix, 

that month, and where? A The llth of May, 1, a 

noii MM.?' 

h w often 

see him 

oountrythan 

.his, his wife, 'and ma and he were in Mrs. Trube's hoUS0'. 

.Q Did you have a conversation, talk with the de:Condx 

at that time? A Yee, all of us had a corvereation. 

No, wi).1 you tell us what you said, and what this. 
things 

defendant daid to 'you, if you can remember '.11.5T of tiel' 40:0aid7 

He didn't tali( about marria that-tim 1. told 1r6. 

that he is rich, that he 1.a. money, that. making nidt-

living, and he'saia .)e. wants. o,, marry, rr?a. 

Q. Did ha •tell you .t.110* in thbir rresence?,. 

THE COURT: St.:O.R.e that,: out. 

• OTACOTT 

t rut 

When did. you 1.1.r.1.46 convflgatioipivIt , 

tt)6 The 11.tri nf MA;y, eiown:„ 

e. ,r;) .• 

';‘4,.,; 0 I (", - n 

9 tcaa  
,• 

J rt 



making A very dedent living and Ile will try and make me 

happy, And he wouldn t come  up to her-house,any more, 

would give him my wOrd that 1 would marry him.. 

R When you say"the house", what ,house do you refer t 

Where I was liVing, 292 Monroe Street. 

Now, before the 11th of May, how many times had be 

up to that house? A He Wasn't in tbe house. 

Well, where did you meet im, and where did y 

e the 11th of May? 

raT.' A vf/PAOH: I object tbbatif your Hon ay ple.ase. 

'That has been already answered, 

TFE COURT;' .Overruled. 

MR. .AUERBACi:. Exoepticn, 

_A In Mrs. Trube l house) and edso in the street 

And that .was the five or six times that yol :e.c.fr to 

4s_1aivinT seen hit between the first tiiii.  

May, 11„th; right?. 

was'in houv:e • 

How.a,:ny u bof.f t ::!.f MN/. :;id 360 hiM?-
t 

eat?( 111..th rnanY  

Durin thooe 

I mf,mber; T n tell 

%is too (11" 

4.1 

.1„a 

U 

]'.1-t of Cy he 

I years. 

':teMoy .t10,7:1 

4-
-nh ted 

' 
/ )....tt• . • • „ 

' .11.440i0#4w# ”4";, 

1'1(1:4' 



'144113.:Ir him? 

Vallon after the lith of 7.14 did yoll 1164 

day night. 

The next Saturday, follcming the lth of May? 

12th of May, yes. 

That is; the next da ? A '2' ,e, 

ere did you aie )1ixt on 3o.y.urd 

And I introduo d. him t th 15e6p1a. 

CI What ilou.so do yo.u. 47GI yc,u 

vor 

Had. 143: . Silverman rr::.,t him bef 

o. -u say an y t hi lverr-

•flyl)jn to yQuo about i a g •hi E., 

px.eeenoe . 

us in subs t , t• CA by ".SrQu 

Silverman- i 1-,01.1 adxf by Cilveman, and 

U my 

ferle.i.r:tri.t when -e was ther,...,;.. 

him 

-en he came up, T introdUed 

ezAr, "thi::•1 is my swee vitstr t" .and. Itold - that he 

of .c t Fi.r.4 got 42r 00. of hie own. 

1 1.1. ' 1. her -this. in. th efendnt  

And nc'1c3  us- Nliere h 

e..11y on r.. .t•lere . 

;, ' May 

!;11vormn.no 

)11v(N:.inItn, 



fo—imyinf4 Wedly)sday night. 

Not from the,lathi until V/ Lesday the 16 

'right? Yee, six 

elalow him. 

Wantc-,4 to oome up every a y, but .wouldn''b 

AtWRBACH I object to that, and move to et ike 

that.;out, what he wanted to do. 

.THP COURT: Strike it ..otit, 

BY 

11,17, d.yr..)11 eee hirr,)11 4.. 16th of 1917? A Ye 

Q -Where ? A Inrnyouee, Si1verma,n' e house. 

At what time ftid.. he rrive there, that.. .evening? A About 

oight 'be.Lc.re 

Q.. W10wtj.e th.r3 at that time? A T.,rty elf he 

And  wherT war  Mrs Silvertian? They Ilir$T downetair 

In .eom other- aphrtmnt'. in te1ui.1U ng? A. 1)owneta4re 

• ...in the p treet, nar the hoUee, Thaygr deted him before Vtp. 

And then be ome upetzliel j• th.at r i%ht 7 A 
.41 

DIdycu .sel, anyone el ee th;;.4.1:, eveni n47, earl it,ir in . the 

r 

• , 
evening?. A. • Yee e iT • • a W.v,A-1 'An_ 1 i:v.tfs in th6 b.chv a fricnd o± _ 

• . S i ve r T.:111'4 . • 
r • 

.Any one &len? • A Y.17,0n .-t-,h•e. .14r . 7.711241 -r 

.:4. .1? • . P. LA, 'Afi 
•.

 4 

.1 

A 

, 1, 1.! . ••i e. • 

44. 

• 

, 
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Did e ,come in tha 

0W4 before the defendant came up to tiu;1,t apartmento 

that evening, had you had oonversations with other people abou 

ooming up to see you, about eight o'clobk that night? A. 

Q, So that these people came in there by arrangement or 

intm9ntrwith 'you? A I asked. them to co'ne in to see my bride.—

groom.'. 

Q- Now, do you ren.er.ber the COnvere that took p1EOe 

betweem Mrs. Fredman,-.Mrs. Kreieer, and Mr. and Mrs.' Silvermans' 

or any' others an the defendant or with the defendant or in his 

presence? A They'wers t.dkinz abcut 11.arryinz. 

Q What did they say?: A  1 introduced him t irs. Kr 

lea young woman,on1y 18 years old and the defendant said b 

was 'surprised thF;A she iemarried, thuh OG younp ' and hs said; 

',We'll marry tcon. 

fts there any ',ythr onveraticn that,yca can recall? 

Mrs. SI 1vean spoke to him. They c.ut that 1U in ;from. 

rne„ state. 

that Mr6. sil 

Silvorminz. 

.And di& you 

(1.6ndant ai 

"olY ! 

fr. V . 

, 

r • C , 4 r 

• 

- 



1'J COURT.:. This ison tlie.16th:Of 

eel 
• 

Mrs. SlIvertinz 1Sft,righ after, after about fifteen 

twenty minuteel.and te were there,until about half Past 

nine, and went down t take the cousin to Suffolk Street.-

• Q What cousin was,that? A Mrs.  Freeman.' 

Q Mrs. Ida Free 

Q This  defendant? A Yes, sir.. 

Q After you had, taken Suffolk Street  w1t' 

d you d the drfendant do?, A To 7vent•i 

.parlor, and'then,wp tcok a walk.. 

Q And, after- ti.kinLJ; a walk, what did y(ou do? A 

toOk-me home. 

• Meaning Mrs. Silverman apar rren Yes, 

:Who wa6 in the apartment when yo' ipre A W-11 

1C, it Wa dark, the people -eresl.ee4 

Where)outc-:,ere 

..oddroor. 

eepin, A Tri .1:13.CJX..e.lra! 



And I include ,thia defendant alsow1en I ay any mane 

Had yob_ ever had sexual intercourse with him?, A- ,No, 

; 
Q, Now, tell us what happened what you said to this defendant,  

what 40 said to you,, what you did, and what he did, after you got 

back An ,the dining room, and lit alight?  :1' 

.table in the dining room', andthen he $tartedto tll me 

We sat down by the 

olhati 

the use Of b ing boarder Don't I make:a decent living.:Wil 

hIre a room in Coney.fslan& for a few ninths, the same as other'. . 

Tiebple do." - 

And then he. started tc embrace me, and I went int(7). the fr 

room, and he followed r 

When you say the f±cnt r cn what oohi do you r fer to? 

W hore wa. At in relati:-.11 t Mrs. Si verman A The 

secon6 room. 

And that room is ,whFire cleep? A Yes, sir. 

You •eleep there on a. ruch, 'is that ri-^ht? A .NQ, on 

14611) what dna l'inat ,t? 3ie aft - you_went,Uto 

. f±o7nt-,ecom."' ,A I ma him 4 . Me 

.thu,,N?.?. Iei.m. ynurs. -e TomorrOw w vv11.1 i-Tet 

o etbrace time.?' A 

at th& time of this oonvoToion,„ we're , L134. 

y it,.ro when you can  in from !:,44e11:,? 

t'"- • oT thejacket. tbr kiat 



0 You an :your Opat when you cay jaokt, do You not ?..'A Yo 

And after ,that oonVereetion,.what did .he do, 

did You ab, and what raS said?H A lie,etlbrao d me again- ,ana ha 

repeated the Same thing :again, "What's the use? You are aline and I 

Q Then -what happened? A Then, he ruined me. 

Q No. -Y u eay he ruined you. Please tell us what he diP 

AUERBACH: if your Honor please, I Dove that that -13• t; 

s•trio1cn out, that he, ruined her. 

. OLCOTT: No objection 

THE otralrY: Strike it cut. 

(The, question was aopeatecl by the into, 

r- (N. an  

Wtae you sitting yr stat.)din.g• at the ti eyou- had th 

o nvrsation, Whe)1 )4 Ets.,;y'he embraced you?- A He 

ke:t 

0 You .wers dr63sed Fit that tivie.;i f. th4t 

revni.rer,gerrrr,rnirar^ . 

'Well-, did. y61; 

And did ho do anything'? 

opened  

Tial us what he did? A $o lon'to rolo,util 

7.:111,1 him 

You snowed. him t do what? 'A Being that he told  

ne:Lt day we woull et married, I believed Min. 

. 7u..A.EkpAcH: I move that that b' stricken out. 

OLOOTT: No. I thinL—that while possibly it.i13 • 

no ,cipite pesponsivei it iaproper, 

114 
Al 4 

4 
014.4q0 .1 I 



'0•011T: I. strike d 
01.1. * 

Did you-regard his pr9111i0e tO'marety. you ap,sincere., 

yky4 -rely _tipori it? 

MR. AUERBACH: ,I object to that he 

A.Itionjof th Wiiiesrs thind. 

(01yerruled4 Exception 

oLiix.çpr t 

is Joi, prn.itted him, yo t.GciO solliethi 

hc. (1.IL Did you or he undress. at all 

Fully draseed., 

were you? A No. 

irlt part -of 

Novo 

is tine? 

your dlothin did 'you Pve. off? A My. dress. 

,$verything. 

And): after . you undr3,:ased., did you L.i c.o•Wn in the 

in my bed..• 

kcw,...te.21 us wh4t. id the defIndant  u ? ne 

2 down) too, 

ii; 414 he? A Yss, eir, 

'Arher dAd he ? A In bed. 

"auwtere dic1 1.11 lie, in r' tb. you? 

1—U6n t remoMbTr. 

or, yo• 

pvivate 

A 

4.1:, int n clr • ;,ix' 

. niERDAN: 1,!or, ir .'y') UL' Ho140.1; 

vote 1ii.As, 

vo,“ 

p Otr t • 

C 



By TUR OrAIRT: 

What did he d ? A Vo. answer).. 

THE' COURT: You must answer these qu 
T,COTT: 

4iat did he do? A He ruined rile. 

A.IJERACH I object to that, and roow that it be 

ric.r out. 

TuE COURT: Objection sustained. Strike it ou 

r she MUB: answer these clue tions. It i ceaary th 

lhould know. 

(The questicn w ul t flf1 i1 Tnt-r-

: f:ter.) 

What he has done to me, T 

.o1,, TT: 

Well, befori!) you nat,icod •tht 

hdrav, th., question, You haw id th4.7 

to 

stions. 

• 

:..ft.naAnt 1, 

you, .Now, while be lay-bn.t,p rf you  

'71:iDon exposecY? 

.woal, what Waa 

„ 

„0:\t-L. 

ooncil ' 

p,Lo,00 tivvt - „et? 

yovr Honnr 

11.:Ky 



"54,, wse 

• 

r',11Ytbi t.p4r t:.. wab. ex 

Q,, (Question ropoateq by. the Inter?reter) 

TTtlf, COURT) Tell her that Oho tuet answer thiFie 

queetions, otherlise this ,o0e, cannot. otand. 

,A He ,ut it.it my private part. 
" 

(,1• How long did he remain an top you? A Vt.:y long. . 

Then did h. get up? A Ye, sir;,_ somebody went to the 

*1.1!t, fl() he got off me. 

And did you have any conversation with him aft(Ir he 

Up? A I was tired and weal;.-. He said that he w.fulk, come 

.tie next day. 

) Did he go away? A ;es, rilr. 

When did you next.eeehim? 

. • 

Th•LlizTosed to IloMT the 

f i ing urning, but he didn't come. le o: Friday night. 
1 

The 16thof May was- on Wedneuday; i'tha,-;:t right? 

.D.Tow, going back to the nigh• 7" the lath0.,youmentLon.:ta • 

.1)1d you se'e any blood  OD your.olothin(- and if .301. when? 

A TherCwao blood on the: linen,.on thci bed linen. 

-Wivon_di.1 you. fir it sae that?. At night, rittcAr;lEfit 

ffow, you saw him c..o.:Fri:ivAy?, 71 Yes, ' V. 

(4 Where? A Friday night, he cm upstaire.to me. 

.To Mrs. SilvIrman'e apartm nt? A 

Pid you have a conversation 11 t, him? A ,Yoso oir. 

Whc:, was.there when you tall.ed to him', if ryoie.  , 

Wl10 uu what w=1.1.,s said'by the. cje.pdAnt, 

. 4 



said br you, and 7hat mas•.opad 

0C4SiOto 0)“x'144447, the a8.0 0)f Mq? 

MR, AUE,RBACH: If yoUt Honor 1:)1ease, I*object 4) thici 

was several days !subsequent to th.e alleged-sedlloti ni 

do not think that itis material. 

(Overruled. EX eption.) 

A Hs tcdd me he was busy, he- couldn't oome. Th'on le told we 

sends him to the countrY r a Week or to, and that if; 

, .-n't  iountry, •vill come. I bi.ilioved him, what:he 

belived. 

Did he say anythin4,: ols6? I Ho 4okr to tbeniepie. 

)id you hear whatwas sai6 TC the Mid. 

Ar--• 

Did he say anytiing further th n oU have told us, in 

thelath• of May? - He said he-was busy ,,and wo.will 

marry, but he doesn't know when, b...,:lo-,ituse lia bass wants to Pend'hiM 

the country,on businessi.and, if ITantI cmr! 

-c-cmntrY. 

dijn't an.:zwei .c •t, at did ypu '6.ay to that? 

T 1iov&d hiM 4111, 
• 

ina whdn did you-bwo 

A it;.ri..y n i gh t 

; 4 . 
.10. 4 

•••• 

you conv6reation with 'hife,tn 

0014P,O. 

4; 

„. 

Y 

the 

ern:. • 

, 



4; .."1-7 

fly 

olubmit that thie. ovidOnoc 

,ntirely inhti31 coo ink after the alefsed eoductirm.. 

(Overruled; Exception 

In Mrs. verm=1, house,292 Monrce.S.tropt.,-

,•yb„:" y e .47ri tht 

:Fr • fl, 1, 1 vr nz 
- 
•  -.3 'I1 .11 it) 1.1 krti ri 

•!, I bjOot to that riue oti e..)n ?..‘t4.44Un , 1' ytiur 

oe, ithmatorial)irrele”nt 4..1.11(3: 

Cr„IURT: 'ahy? 

AATETi.DAW:: 

(21- not, 

confeedeu. 

"•!-If:qior pi a 4.1. 

COuviT: I' ,Arfli-J ciuppokUhR. 

. AUERDA(.!H': on. 

intalbaucod him to Mz ±1v. 

. 

Yar,t ovrier ciive.rtlionvv,o.si t 

f :0 s.!,,vffi,k, t k nvinr icture. 
. • 

ny 'Jonvelv8at1c,n wl.mh %ny 

,37U-1.1 1 i. rif,") -211 t o 

:t. • hi iv ..!) n 1. f.,,(•,,)o 1 -r 0 • 

n' '1:1.m at 7,.7,1 M:terwajs? A  

him ±n Courtl in July, ftidn' t a III 1.41,14 



oejour paronl June obtained in6i.mation-, 

in hi plaoe ;hor ho L 1king, bhEv h ia not in the .ea4ntryi 

tmd on Jun,e_4th, I eailvhira in the plaoe of his fr exold 

;him in hie pla e whe e he- wee 

iled_him down and --

Did you have a talk with him then? A Yek 

What 11 y what did 114-

H,e told: me, "ver 

:t.teight o'clock." 

i,r1 you. soo him t:hPAt 

vaited for him anl won., hi6 oountrymn, and. watchefl 

And '6,id 
on 

.3. A tj.v (y9 

T..,nr,Ho.:aor 

What dia you. eay. He took me home. 

y, 11,nd I said,"you know what 

me. What did you, want of m 



that time. 

told hi* 'Didn yOu know befor:e that you WQr 

,Ad y01; want Of me. You are bluffing me." 

I found out from his countryman that he has Made a.date with 

,.not.1.-x.r girl. / 

Did you tell him, that? A Y. sa- „ !i.E,..e1 told ,Id..119 "nti 

made t..! .,1.)pointment another girD Fridek e,nd 'oe 

ni I0,1. date with 110,..r for WadLeeday,fo it  

1-10 Inowered that he knew her y ar before he knew 7Lnd 

itilt's'erriim; and that,the for9, he w•Ft.nte.d t.,;) 

vevenge on her, and, when she hear 

came ;b.cc t • bim. 

.he was goi,.1. with. 'me, :.31.1e.T 
. . . 

Anythini3 rrore .said about ma.7.--r 4e• ohTthai :iifg 

3 told him., "Iii the. meantime, you took advanta of. me. Vyhat jid 

you v:ant with  

e answered," Go ta .a doctor. If .the doctor 1112 t 

that you are preitnant„ we'll marry' to&orrow. . 

4. T. told Lin, I am ashamed I 1r n' t want to t, tr,r 
• 

1. would rather con nit suicide " 

• He told me„ "Go into a dru.ci'ot then." - Ai]d T aoked him if 

he wa,nted to have a po'ftsoned wife, ,nd he said no. 

I et ar ted t .cu',. and he answer ed "Do as you peas 0I can' t 

Marr.T.yOU.."..,:.And then I e4d Come intc a doctr,r with me , " and 

1W.said, "If you would pay rise ra thou and d011ars, I wouldn't go * 

into a doctor." And 1 felt sick. 

Wiwyft, 



He Gaid "If you 'want to liv 

11 can't mavry.y61.1." 

W11.4it d4'yol,;. Say? A: I told him, iTont'think that I a.M: 

greenhorn.. -,1 am green, and poor, but nobody will stand for that 

you done."

Were you wrkin.a1this time'? A I didn't jork 

just aa we.  

- wor Icn 

When did you st')p working? A eoaus he told 

'When? •was workinT until the 13th of May.. 

;That was twc days. ?fler you re- engaged t,:).marry; 

that right? 

AUEPBAC1-T1 I bjct t thatifyour Ei3nor plsa.. 

Thsre iS no such testimony, that they were engaged to -max.ry.-

TT. OLCOTTP: She testifed that .he, asked • her to Marry Alm, 

and he promised that she woul5-

-71JF wil ustain the f.) jecti 

that 

Did you se in. fter the 4tf June? A Wednesday 

,night. 

11, hen, long fter t - 4th of -nne, .!,J3this particular 

Weines.3.ay nirrt t at you T.re speakin; of? A T'vo 'lays later. 

Did ycu.h ve .-it him then? He v4ta 

with a ir1,.nI vas wallilv,; with a c.„,untry,woman of mine, who 

knows me.fr.,.rsix yea 

it? A Mrs, Prober. She was living with Mrs. 

1..••• 

'4•••• . 



work a with h 

Did you talk with the defendant n this night,. 

When I met him with a girl, I got upefied. IiMpped. 

it the Place, and my countrywoman said "You dope,why did 

R. oLOOtT:: r 'consent t have that strickn out,: 

the countrywoman aid. 

WR AUFREACH: Yes, I mo V'at it be stricken out. 

TIF COURT: Yes; strike tht  

Q, Did you speak to the diofendant or di -1 the. d.6.1endant speak 

on this occasioo. i I asked .hit, 0N:here are: you 

And what did • say?. A He sai;,'"not azfraid• of 'kOu.. 

Yon can do to me what you'ant." 

Did you him after that, exceptyin dourt? 

in_hi$ house, at Mrs :Kti seri s . 

Yol: are E V d Mr?ieer? 

Ana d'ift you hstve npversation with ba 

Law convrsation with him on -6b at occasicn? 



.1; Spea.k the rnglish langua,ze, neither d 

plenty f zoney and loan hire a lawyer 

Arld he .insultcld me and called me dif -erent-names, 

yo and.I havb 

Mrs:. Kreiser said,'"Why, as she goOd enou h for YOU before?" 

Q Did-he anbwer that? A He said, that he is no  
afraid.ij

 or a'jilry or anybody. "If you will Aher me, I will 

ye the State Of New York, and:then you. ocUldntt:do anything to 

ay 

Now, these various oonvrsationS that you have told  is abou 

they carrie:1 on in English.vor in Yid4sh.,cr-it Rtssian, .or 

in what language? -A In Yialish, 

Q Tiow old are yoU now? A Twenty-three .past. 

June 

, 

Q You have not married this defendant fr-m. the i;Ith in 

rher you last er him, have you? A No. 

"R. r`bcfhTT: That is 

mR. ATTDrACRi • If your Hr)pcv pease, fmovf,7• to i.itrihke 

!Nut all the ,testimony. of the! las'. witness with t. 

he oonw:Lreatione , :M37, 

. 
-of. rlf.J. olleged.sedun. 

TJfl COUYT: 

1• 1:: rti 
A 

11!..T7'1W.W,' 
I 

Li' 1 :r 1 1. y , ' 

; 

in AA''•  (
 l? yot 



Who 'introduced 

Slie related 

not a fact that your aunt is's., cousin of 

Silverman s? A No, sir they are ,fiends. lily' uncle i 

her hueband is a carpenter. 

•Q. •How many tiin s did you see the defendant befo 
. • 

him in Mrs. Trubels house in 'Avenue B? A About fift 

Iti tv-f- year S and I. don t remember exactly. 

7cu are sure it was fifteen times.. A Yes' 

you r:a.;,men-ber testifying in the Mazistra es' Coirk 

,vi Trube?' A An acquaintance of. mine a countrywoman, 

liVed. with her for some time. 

Alia did you ever meet the defendant 6utsid 

you met 

en tiwoc. 

in thc• street) I used to meet him. 

er \T(' evcr introduced to 

yoU ) him? - 

Whpre Ikets.i0 t 

A venue H in Yr6. 111rube lloue 

Q. Now .you 98ty that 

;abytat t vv,t tht r 

him?' A Two yeare befcre1. 

Prober. 

lntroduc yucl A. In 105 

a6GOTT: At 1P1.1: • 

I -0(ial 

• 

.4' 

I 4 



ou‘ are. ure you didn th ti on 

you ay that When he came to Yola 

h.ou!it least wha you me.t hlm the, that he 

an appolntment *vith me, 

but that's what he aaid.' 

that j'rior to e 11t,h,qa ,or!Ply 

the der ant had never been in'yoAr hoL. 

Did you not ehN,00 

he.would,no' %al, uni. 

j.(4,ct tl (41.10tion. 

tm!stimony. Jas be,an hp,re. don't tlini . that tbi7.43 

memc,ry tpst Iche.ct . r;.7‘ t 01. rt,, q.Lia,F;Itions what 

this /ith," ttified tr), minut5 

"rE',.jf)ORT Wha ir3 
tbAt„ nbp said? 

Al)i" A Yes, siT. 



4k0i..ERPACITT: 

Yo U tay you taW.him8atürdy night, .t 

Yee, sir. 

.Q 1h re did you 

,B).Lrerman's house. 

Q And viht did. you do when he oame up the house? A 

introduced him. to the peopl I told. them, _"This is my t etheart." 

Bo'th . you mean to tell thi:3 Court and jury that th1s 

efendant had proposed.m rriase to you beftr, the 12th of.May,1917 

Yes., sir. He said, •liVe'll -et rarried ,sopn, .in athonth 

0 No,, br he llth of May, 1917, had you v hd any 

oonveroatin with the defendant-Z A Yes, but not. about.Marryi 

Q. Whee lid you see th- defendAnt beftra- 44,11th of May,. 

19170 and on  h'ylmaf.y cine A Lis ahAttfilan Woos two Years. 

thst Proberi_ My oQuntrywomari, intrcaduoed h :i to . 

H4itmpintt,3d him. J. -am ,euppo*5ed i.t,t him, aLA I çpfAnt6...1. 

. 

80 h `,.1 I) I ):,r) / I • ; t 

parpo;1..tf:i 6f -Dy 1.;',nvoI3,1Li,:#14( 
1.7 e y , 

7 

I. 

4 'I'vit121..r:i 4 1 w LAI) 

14' :1 -1.0 

. t•

.roft 



And .ow long was that after you firs 

twp weeks later. 

Later than what? A Ate I disappointed him. 

*g And when was.th next tims ycu met %J. 

to e him in the street. 

4 Did you have any oonver ti-.)ns with him on tb 

1 -used to grerA him; that 'e, 

Q And then he nev,r took you ou before the 1.th 

Q And you say that .on the 11th of y, 1917, he prposed 

you in t'le Touse of rs. .Trube in Avenue B; is that 

A That week, - no he clidni'l; sae - 

me three times,: he waJ there 

that information to yoU?,. 'A o, he vo1untezed 

And what were the exact words 

A t.tI arr.- main a deonv.; 1 

.four room flat, or 4800, and gin- imt, ,you, 

Avie will marry Et.montb 



.00,0 

a 

2 

Q That tin di you see him on Wednesday? A:About,eitl,ht 

clock. 

c'„ What time hgtd you come home from work on that day? 

A A  uarter to aeven 

Q :You vere working thaUay, reren't y6u? A Yee six, 
ago,„ 

Didn't You testify, a.few minuts/ that the defendant 

topped you from work about the llth..o M y, 1917, ana that 

,lere not workin at all after that tin? A Yes, he told me 

to stop, but I used to ,fork, and, when it was slow, I lidn'.t work, 

worked one day, and then I dil.n't work the next day:. 

Q. Didn't you testify before this jury that you stopped working 

on or about the Ilth lay of May, 194.7?. A No. 

'Holr long did yor wr..rk after the 11th of r.ay? A 13-nti1 

the,13th of May. 

that .,r.e not wr,.rkin-Lo, on. the I'.7th of day, 1917, 

*ere.,you?: A I don't 1.21mbe.:°. Sometimes I 1Fied 

shop, but the se s n L' at.'that time, 

Kut _didn't yob testify, a-fem rdnutoo 

.. • .1"' IL IV 0 

...en.'" 

.... • 

into the . 

of :.ay,191Y? .W I 

4.6oh t exaotiv 
.16t1Y, 

t you NovembeT/p' 

.41 • ;t : yot.04) 

. An1t'j;11GX; 

'rw; ' • • c ; , 
J • 

? 

y, 

• 

A.* 



that day or not? 

on the 11 

t remember whether you Were 

can't re,member. 

of Lay, just 'wht was 

work by the defendant? 

vorking 

MP. MACOTT: object to that,y4rur Hnn r. There is 

no t stimony. that anything was saidabout-,Ot PPJJkg work - 

until the  13th of May. ,The questien, presupposes that 

something was said on the 11th. 

THF: COURT,: What have ycu` to -say a's to that? 

'P. AUFRRACH: If your Honor please, the testimony 

• 

seems to be that they met on the 11th,12thoand.1eth. 

mHr (..atty-7: my recollection is .that Mr. Oloott 

is riçht about it. Obi cti n sustained. 

AUrP1?A(7:9: Exception. 

Did you met the defenaiiit- th,4o1lowing night?. N 

Did yourl.::.6t him on the •followinz, SUnda0; A No' 

Q. Well, when did he say aalythii you about CUr stOpping' 

11V1? A 

INcly titre, 

Dirt ha. t4,21 ycu tha.: first timt wh.sn 

1.• 

Now, '-hat tme dld h. ;e1.1 y 1.? Tht, Liv toecolAu 

-.you 'on th0 

thYrd timosor wheiv?"-- A We were tall4ner. abut t worl, 

wadd. "'Nu .vAll StoCany1.1,, 

WInt time did 1.10. not *ru on the I.6t• 

1.!100 

141, by Appointm nt? *3, sir) ce.rtainly. 

• 



'k And who c,o You Pay was there t tbat time? A 

was the alone. 

. Well, viho on  up late on? A Mrs. Silver 

And who else. A Mrs. Ida Freednsri, 

And who else? Tell us everybody that A 

and Mrs. Silverman, and. Mrs. Kreiser. 

Q. Do you4remembei teatifyint in the agistratès' ;Court en 

the'21st thity of June, 1917? A: Yes,dir. 

And do you remember this question being,put-to you 'at 

th:o, time 'Q Waa anybody preen luring any of, this: c nversationr 

Yes, clr. 

AnJ the following question,was:,0 Q Who" - A A womnffri.) 

no;ct door, I d.on't remember 1-er name. 

UR..OLOOTT: Now, I object to this question. upleas 

e .$5hown that it is contradicting something thAut..the witness 
- 

here. . Thr; queo4.ion d.),...sn't show what tim 

r. AUFRIPVC8: 

Sytti 11, I read the entire testimony to shcw 

tla t,Ttstimony of the cmpl4tinant at t'(-4,-; time, 

THY• C7OURT: Anything that con' rad.iotc.ry 

timony T will , 

it c;...:n 

hilOW. If it is rwt (')ntrdictrry 

it would .be n idle thing tc1 offer it or to .rocoivo it. 

Tf.it 1s in.00ntradictin of ay.'711ins .that sbE said., you. tby 

have it, but I Will ask you, cf course, not to inocr ox& 

somthing into the case that should not be in.it. 

44:441, 
,fliafP;A' 1,+‘ 

.4-



AUENAW' 

u rom6lphor tostityilw Jo whether Mr. wd 
Freedman were thøre. at all, Wednesday night, when you ,tafiti 

inthe:Mjt  Court. 

MR. OJ400TT: ut.to the lcxr, 

TB! COURT: You IrAy answer i 

4,0hay Mrs. Freedman wv 

Yu (An't t'3stify that in the 

• She my not have 

counel? 

Vao• 

Now, your Honor, I objeat 

akedthe queoticin -01 r'e. I tIlink it io* 

The form oT ti quef$tion i8 

The queetiom asked 

1re3eut. ( 

iuri t13 w.ho, anft 

;')p10 venc; L1'e3-4; end 

whether shc) ..stift4.0 that 



AU-all/VOL : 

-yinetht.fomobody ease W4J plqament, 

MR OLOOTT:. Your Honor will remember that I ..obet 

d thikt he didn't go on t show what was i.:ait71 

-Lretes' Court. 

F: If it  were ca.lculatcA dn 4.? 

T Wolli6 •alI.ow it, andj7am go nf.,?. to be.very lib 

ycll can .ohow .that it i! y wb.y pertine:ht, 

yol1 have 'it, or lythin t';12 ttRt i. 'calcu1at6 

you, but .J ir. o.t e the ,v.srtinency thip 

, I exolu..J3 it. 

P. AU "RFAOH:. Exc 

you light, the EaE W.hi. vol.) 

And: you iMTediet a r •7 CTI your 

eire 

Wheri. you. fAl 1-.1. 

you cm' : back 

d,414 ye 

'1)2 

• An 6. did 

ij16. ' 

. 4.1A,:r41.k 

tri 

sn young. 

1.y.f.bink 

L 
• 

t 



4filkol NV 

14d..yOU knOw h.1.1.,•.tanted-1( .e.t0('Ura 

Well, did 11;: y anything about b ing marxie 

he '.7c.uld b married? 

MR. OPLOOTr°: I ask that it be limited 

nink room, o that the questica will bo clear. 

Ile said, in abou4. a =nth. 

Didn't you, in, your direot examinatit,n i6ay :tha 

. defendant Ilassep..i.d that yc.0 would be moxried the 

ng av).ruing? 

l'11R OLOOT .There iH toach Ptimony 

fttion that occurXed-in e di iLnj, 

.unctlw5LEI df.i„reoting'Ii5 i. ncui. ry oe..nd 

clufl'etion*-

iirc.Ve0 oURT.: • You may ansv7er 

4it'or WEZ afteritexdel r en tuc: en. 20 bed. 

you remain in hc d..ininp rcom? 

v.te:a,.01. an bour. 

• • . Wel 1P wh...:f.s OU t ..  .you. 17 1C0a.o- hllio you 
'a.•... 

int,...,,,rourse wit} him .eo., -A.',at time' .4 ..: 

Wel you make any ou'ory? 

Was 116 holding your.g;t2)-7 

mrry tom 1-::iow." 

Did be at :thal.: tiibe  vvhi hk-Nv:; 

intercourse, Pith y0U7 -A Yea, 

:A.ne t what did .lm. 'Jay .to . you? 

"rly 

ho 

• 

tO 



04%, 410.00.,111.4.10 

cWforen 

Ant:‘ olid Y611 iMmediately take your clothes off ter k;1.0,6 
0-- , 

i A. few minute° later.._ 

How 1 0 rig did he. remain ,in yo'ur room? I I dicin . 1)Fiiye. any . 
• P 

. t-,u't " ± t, -.?.'as aboii t t-hr e e . o ' o 1 o ok , • I 1- ih,iika7k .. - - i 
.. 

c;.1 
• ., 

yo 14.• 4n night, aak the defendant ti.),.,'.'1,a

 
Ii , 

home J 
t? 

16 hf.-lard2c;mebrAy. want to the. water OlOse and: ao he •left...-
, f 

.W13,. u aok -i.,io to ',m boutei 
, 

i • , , 

the front rr,om. 

ii right, 

Yts, °ir. 

After T juMpc „mat! 

\rou bictr thia eix1.14T:,1: • 

hono A "Itlo 

's al] ri.?ht-,. I'll— a )..f.7.! little whilo 

you t la  

DO you rnrwIrbor testifyinFi; be ..istrates' Court, Mii3s-

Lvof6ky, and th4t 4 luestion was, put your "Q Y,u wantrl him 

yvj h .hi 'fc,'c t ion*, 

.homPa Tliwn ho 

nr7.. 

lLetPh,,r 

? 

• 
.mexrieu.-Inywtv. 

1.('n" y u ? A- I 1)ilv to 

WhRt (11 1i •)i j tEfY;tf4. 

iffr f 

n „ ty. ? IL.  

I .11:111T : 

,Ailleht!A 

-r-uu 1,zt, 4'11 
,ek 

L.---font7 

2.i 1 101:1:11 

0.0T1 .V41ntifM1W0 t.0"' 

•  ; 



• "4,-4 nv•••. 
nr.41‘,Inn,Tcre. 

• 

qq0T71 .gho 600Ulged 

' FS" 

Well, wilexo dia Mrs. Nreiser live? A The wow') 

44rv. 5arris is the mother of Mrs. Kreiser. 

And was there a. window between your dining room 4nd 

r.IF, at ? • No. 

.Q • lc 4a 'a, any. time -a window . between - your ivpartmont76.nd 

apartm!:::nt i r that house? :11 Th?1 windr.froa • 

into thc..qi!t.Mo' shaft with the witdoW of the, 

ru.l:r apartmen 

Well, 1tt you any lights in. the 0.1T 

7Si6.1.0 t pay' an- attention to .any Vws -,por tax nt 

Until h0vf.19,te—was7 defenOnt • 

three a Oock.„..r.oan't ay 'exact. 

Did you 1k at the 

Nue no aloOk in the ,room.- , 

:r
 C•n 

Ihen wae tl!'e r1041, - irno you 6W1 j.L1 ? 

Didn't be cTh heiiiow n m-4ning? 

:: wo.ating ,fOr him, but he didn't .coin5:-•-• . 

0 'You''Were viup-.rose o marry t, followiw mraing, ,o2:a7en -t.;. ' 
..:. , . , 

I 

Until 

you, Miee. TArofky A Yes 

• Idad you made arrangsmnte for your Wedding? 

to mak.:; R mwrciage lioen-, and then hr t$ a ny7Y1..1' , 

koleAna. 

Well,when was that 4,c1ded? . A. Before it haripeneci. 

Oh, then, it had been agreed between you, and him, 



this ofleg06 opuction, that you Vould, be marri 

ha, righ 

Arld'hecaMe to 'See-you tho.fp1lowi4 Ft_iday? 'Who,t iime 

1.q410. hat ,A AbOut eight o olopk. 

-ct Were .you cryvihen he came to see you?',: ytaa rd -.A 

. "ra Well, did. you say anythint a, your house about beinL, 

married? A. told tho mornin, thirl,t Iwa0 

*17A.iting for.him, t hw up. 

LAhd tTo..• fc!indant pemain with. yt? A About . 

Did. ynu tit any 

beinc7-, 1,xr16d.7_ A. • 1•1114'an 11:;'; 17.,0: up, 

rerlied that bo.w ra buoy: 

4i..bout 

(4 Well, did he make any apyoinnt —111) yon ,.Jore 

bomarri-d at tba..6 - 

positive, 4,4 10 

.s 1 the 18th?. A1.1e.tid, ho i6n It 

m'ay zrt him to  th6 Tf ou 

th vftrr A ed. 

And you vi;!tid. that yo,u otic 

• V1401.14ne, t1.41:t 

Honi- 1,ong.s,;Ctox tiP*.t0 V.:•• 

cf June, Sattirtv0 ji. n 

T  

whather 

rr'i,A1,14t himJ;„( to 1Rupthe'd, hnd, ho said, 

'6T1'1i5 p.1 act), Oral. oy1.10,3y 
, 

.0.. :Well' did You- t.,!u3'N 

When ycYt:t •Ycnt, 1,r) hit.) 

:Wasn't thore ,any.  

JP.'4Yin..I thou 
, 

qf business"? ,A N3; 

waited biz., n5 I thaugbt he 7vuld. 

11 -if uomo, but ho 

I 



a:tdrilt you testify.tbat you ha4. a oonVersa4On 

itt the defendant wherein be told you 

oountiy, and, if you mAtted to go alon with hir, you 

he didn't give m 

Well, did the defendant .everY say anything to -you lab 

'ountry?.A Yes he said, "If you.want,.. 

o4n cote with Me 

,When dit he say. t? A' -nen he came and 

send him .to the ocuntry• 

• When.lislil • 

)iii rInd tal_ 

followdhg the 16th o lisHoom1104,, 

'fIllowing Mondayl -A Yes sir 

-did you oai 

businF;se, .8:bou4; Alv-; r''.,rri1.17 A No,. 

Q Well, didn't loWn "o mn4 that vy 

would be all,rght •tcni7ht? A Yes, sir 

Q But h lid ocm.e ov;.e.a 

L, 

,ivaninL? -He didn't 6om.f., ar14 I. 

'7.1nt to his friInl, to hi3. c,:untryrin. 

You re Pc !About the fet ,711flt he ftidn't 

you remTrl.br ”stifyinc.; in 



f your Honov ple 

understood that these questions were put as o the time 

.wheil„the d fend nt and the witness saw eaoh: other on 

fourth of.June, when she went to his place of,bUckines 

counsel 'seems not,. to be talkin of some other time.. 

, MR, 4[JERBACH: Now, i± hat is the only tin e th 

ainant went to the.defendant s place of busiest 

am referrin to that. very time. 

Q Now,,,did the:de-S-sndant at the time that you cane to seo 

Allmat his 133,s,se of business, saY anything about geting 

Iiithin six week of that day? ,A No, we didn't talk about i 

On this very day that you -re to see hi 

business,'didn't he 'come t.70fee,you, that aame 

'1 waited for hip at his friend' a twuse. 

Q And didn't he say on that very ev ning, 'You mve.going to 

be married six weeks from d(:..tt Ye 

Then he lil call to see you t  ,vry evening, didn't be/ 

evening No, 

A. No., .,he. 1.idn' call. 'raited for him, and.'thet 11 -took me over 

to my house. 

Iglmt va thst te? A Mondaylevening, 

PY .'XI7717:E/VT: 

Now, you panel at the defendani's house '7iith Mrs. 

Yes. 

And did you ask him to m'Arry you? /I 

e 4th of June. 

Yes, tarted to cry, 



1, • 

sked him wt% u' ant of Me ft 

What did. he say?. A He said, "Yoil. are a fresh girl. 

4 know you, and I.  t want to knOW you, A 

Do.yoU rerewber testifying in the Magistrates' Court as 

follows, in answer to that iuestion: "Q That,Aid he say? A 

said he ±s sick, and he canIt.get married ,.but if 1.shculdn't make. 

..any complaint, he would have otten-married?" D r...member 

testifying tc thatextent? A Yes.- BeforP. he insulted me, ..I asked' 

himonwas I.all ti t before anl not nc)W?" 

Did he Say anythin else at that time? A H said, all the • 

lawyra are his,and, if I wouldn't have made a coml;laint, bc-would: 

hav.smarri d me ri.g %way. He said, ,he isn't afrd4 of .anybody. 

. If T walld bother Jdn  very much he will move out, aluti leave the 

..State.• 

Did -be say anythin: 

iprioon aentence than 

extent that he would perfer 

mIrrieJ? 

.ten yers in Frison, .14i 'v....0i take. 

• This ,17A.14,all zsue wo,on't 

ftL.yov,..,,..1vr go kro,und'1.J.. his in? 

you 

Q.,Novir, you said that yol) 

tc, 66 tr. a A.potc-T, is that -rn 

tsli qat yi 

,r1,1.1•1.11 1,-,Le;ome pregnant? 

to aw.,.I Ut sick!!.. 

.4. And did he 

.1, 4. 

h•17Qu., 

Myslf,ono4., 

'Ain, and that 

? sir. 

rff,,2,2;rkflt tav-, 

A r  Y Li . 

• 

rt.t A.0). v 
• 

 r 



.01100/00/010V, 

. _ 
"44*, ...#44441. 44- •404444 tralt- 4, • .0,4: ,.,-- V 1- •4"44- wookom4,4 

eko 

-.4 

r4a, did he s 

a doctor, 

commit suicide 

about?" And then be 

and I said, who would 

oisoned wife?" 

y abott going o the.dcotor?' 
C . - 

I toli,71 bim, 'I /would rather d e,i'w01,11d 

than Ot to a, 'Lo O,. W.t are you t 

aid, "G6 into a drug:tstiit.i...:aa take somethihw , - 

A Te told 

go to a drug store. Do you rant to have 

And .he said,"No!! 

:Q Well, you did go' to octor? 4-s cr no? A Yes« 

Q When? ,A The follbWinc day. 

And you ',fere ex Lined by the doctor, were you not? A YO. 

Q. And 71re you: in the f'Itily way at tha,t time? :He said it 

look,Ad like t; T gas sick. 

Q But you  

in you" 

nvrprnant W,..re you? 

rrha is concede -I. 

Now, on May-16th., -er.,=! all 1 '.'sc,p1 Jptn t -4.;.::rz- time 

apartirent, I, mean? A Yes.,. sir. 

Q  Now, you jus'- t -pry -what land. 

this is, thit• you h vc a p.fcTLdn? J i1our.:room. 

W0111 did -they follow tby 

wfatment 

, like. %.bo3 r Voat ? A No ''.1.J4y , 

trr,,i int . 

r IliCP.`'. 

' 1.1 ,$ :1' ',a ? ig • 

1, 4- • 

Lir 

kit#04444-I 
4-4 
*40..4 444. 
tom, 

16 

4,:„ : , -• 

0 otlar 

• 

` •"'", ' • 4 r, •••• 
t 



Now, when you wr in h, dining -room i h the 

dofendant Imo the gae lighted, burins', ,very iltrongly? Awao 

burning. 

And When,you:7ent int your room, the front roc) 

-ybu'turn that light out? A. rit 

Was.there any objection on  your pzt when he di: thaO 

- I to id. him to go home. 

:(The Court tben allyoniehed the jury in 000rdabov.; 

;sitb Section 415 of ti C.O. of Criminal, PTdoo urel-,and 

took recess until •wc, o'cicck). 



T. T. A 

A? TER r).Pc4 . 

L IP 0 F P IC Y, 1.1  flifl,tj4ja 

tOatified aa.fo11.9-41; 

HOROST3 TUVINATION.CONTINVED•Dy mP. AumAcH: 

MiBt Lvofsky0.-when you claim. that...thrl (Aeferdpl.i;olo ycu 

y him, on May 11th, 1917;_ a the h011s f tkt Mrs. Trubh., 

ou give' there any lort of cer6monip1 

:111,..;nt e‘ni ';omint3 ITX.rviage N(,. 

its'n't ft a euEltow.t.Lmonr 

marr 

".1v.ttl 

walp t little party. 

And wo,a thrlt. Fi f)1 

lefonaant? A No.. 

r 

Bu-t 1.olenaknt d16 

Lta. May„ 1917 and you 

told bin, "This 

I C1 

I^L 

a flyrilbol 

wih C6131. 

• 

yg,ur 

oelehrtit, 

eh of one land? 

irA7 0:0 the 2 

IT A 'D. fort I oons'ent d 

uar time,'' and 1 , Knowerci., ffI'm .nct ri, citizen.) 

not.Jrid. C)fOle 'I. it. 

t4.3cc.: you ,c 

04, 

ny 1' ...C' F..) 



nd. Mrp, é6innanc1. 

peoplo who may have been' • a :your• house, C1d you do 30 with a 

, view of o1oing the engagementj or contract Of taarriat,e, 

presence? A No there' weOs no pirty there, but they we  

izIg my bride groom. 

cz • But you 1..cn* thatthe, defendant Wa...1 coming. 

night) didn' t you? A Yes, sir ; I did  . 

And f.id.nit. you have them ther for the purpose of. meeti 

" this. ndant ? A Ye s ; 

..fiEDIRECT:,FXAYINATION BY 7 OL016,r,: 

Q-J,ust cne questicn', p1eoe, for the 11th of, May, .hti,:ct: 

ycil• had am CPP.ortVnity t.ctk t thA.s fnt at Trube"-S, 

house , .A- Two yrs before --a year and a, half. 

Q Wel 1, did. you .talk with him, ,,iid_you meet him and 

epeak wttr.him, 1) e.f re the 11‘th of 4ay; jai?? :we used to 

see each other and 3reet esch othk,r, bt didn t 

F V A K Ry , of 218. SoutIC Third • 

witne es c D.ecil on o j wt-71  , 

t ied .a,s • o • • 
, 

DTI:OTT EX i 1PTI'?- ..1..!1‘ • Or..1"..:1.;I'T': 
. • 

fv. 

1411 , 1 r d.n,? k 

1.1.,!4:-.‘.... u, 131.4 ', .....L "' t..' CI,,...: in • 1.•'',.•.!- -.:...(:.,-,  

.,. ' i„  1 .. 
,. •!' 
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-Well, Where that please? n 292 ,Monr 

'IA thAtthe;apartment that Mrs. SilverMan ooeuPlee?. YIP!, 

What time of daYmae it on this Wedneedat.in May? A It was 

in the evening, 

:Q. Do you TeMetber who else was there? A Yes., sir; t 

vas Mr. & MrS. Silverman, and a friend of.hers. 

,flo you know who she was? A A friend of Yetta's and' 

and Mrs Silverman were in tiv Iruse and Mr.. Rosen. 

An  did -you hear ,Any conversation between the defendant 
- 7 

rid any one else? A No sir. 

was 

Was the defendant there? .A Yes, sire 

D: you know. wha- I mean by 'onversatin? Did. you hear what 

ii n ni t ? Well, he wii t -akin- to me. 

Well, what :lid you y to him, and. wlat did he ear to you? 

She come .into. my house 

Who ie 3h0.A Yetta, and  he  said that she Wanted Mo to - 

• meet 1.16 • il•OR 

_ (Objeotd:to;sustainwa.) 

You  were inVited over thri'!t., ? • 

t116• defendant said .21,1i.s 

. To whOm did 

gxang ect mrl,rrld to 

0 

• 

t 

And 

i::,)rnin 



Wa3 then in my moth„r 0 houonxt door. 

HcilOng; did the dfen&tnt atiy there) that evening? A 

don l*p know. 

A For about an hour. 

Did ycdu ever e 

a down that -:ay. 

Wha:e wae that, please.? A It was on Eldridge Stret 

Q, You were d thre YTtta; is that right? .A Yes. 

r- And lid. you hve,ny talk Pith the th4' nd'antoor did you 

hear Yetta have an the defendant? A Well, I heard . 

her lk) fl..d I spoke 

you all sid on that oz.ioa,aion.? 

waiting for him) and 

'iou Teat). waiting th.7;:re 

hicLanewer.' 



And he said, "Ge4 out You dirty -wo.Man. I.don'. ,,, you  

And I said, "rail, who msd hr dirty, if not you?" kai he 

said, he didn't care, she was a dirty womaAT. nd ,he won t many 

her, even if he gets tep years in prison. 

When was thi 

me down ,tcsee him. 

Q HoT long after that Wednesday, was it tha 

About days after that. 

hi,rua time as tliat? A Yes. 

Are you sura of that? A Yes. 

q Did you sea him any othar time? A Only tw 000 

Q Wasn't it on a Monday nip.ht„ this conversation .-atyou 

.sptak. about? 

AUFRBAC.1: I objec _to!that. The witneec has.al 

an w. red that 

THr C()UR' TWL days 

daya after.• 

tar what? 

JJERBACH: 11.• days ,ftr thl, Wednesday• wheu she 

Zirst met him. 

BY ii00"RT: 

Can you fix y 

.111:;.nth of  Y. -

,Et -Ara. II 0 

•-;;Prila'-(!ia.n't toll u. :4.t. ...1.1.0/1-th? 

4-A/t tiy rem,3;br• 'the dt.t 

Aot sul'nz.Lr,bc, 

VO6 i:AVVX Min -.4.1!:114" 

10 



1,7414;  I aW. 

0, many day a ter it 

Q But-somstime later?.A Yes0.8 T; I was down 

with her, and. he 'Teen' t home, from  business yet. 

.She s waiting for him; and he come ant  her -oU 

and he said, "Get out because I want to g t dressed." 

And she said, she won't 1-2';e t out, unless he giv-es 

ano-sr. 

"Well if ycu on  

in front of you,  h7. 

Q Well, i you set out then'? 

rca cut, I'll undr es in 

then we h ,d to get 'Axat.;' 

C12, you ever 3eeim a  in? A No, sir; not in 9 then. 

non EXAMINATION'. BY. Y," A MACH: 

You 11-,,Ner met ,he d'fan.dant 1.)-fr..;ra nyriur .7.1.1f did you;-

ths 16th of May01917? A No ,sir. 

you aay that you we r*  An vouT. .3u t hat 

Q.on T4nt for did sv7e 

Q, And where Yi33 

np.Xt r3 C er 

Awl you ha4 com j ht ;0 

VLit .y 100 '41aftr 

i V ? 
1, 

1,0-3yu 1n y7lu (v.!, n t, • 

.:16t C 

]L it Lcurt 

.2r(...1 A 

npi4inant,'Ji . Lavnfllty, ual.10,.„) ,u; 



9r 

v)f , 

111),..04,1t :her Iltended. husband. 

Wen was .that said in hie pr 

aoo',e flat oairie An 

n nd what b I d 

tiat right? 

t:jdsh6 d  en? .A UCurj 

r 4 say,. !tri'hi i 4,1:.„ licas.r Sh 8 

r intt-flad.ed buSbyand, the If ellcra I in .yoinw t3 M411,7.CY0 

tf 

saicL, .1 n. i'd you W 

Pm going 

qc.up 

aCiCUst 

cry. 1.rvjuit.yr)unii„ 

g' s 7 

In bey! houae7 'Y 

c,.1. Did- 62.1e ak you 4 M 

1.2 WEIR j 

2. 3 

6 tif. rid. 

invi 

••• 1 V:i r.;• 1,1  

4, • id 0 If CI 110 

1 n rE; y I3JL), 

rj..C:31',3n 

rt) 

a.nd I 

"Y e 

I' 2 r.). • 116 t 

nt.. 



yr. 

tz.10 r" 

MOt h 7 I 1.1e 

ght ? 

4fty; 

.visit 

le/Iiip I was 

:31;  

(44?A I ccas my 

went into see 

And yuu had s oonversation with her? Yes,air. 

.141(1 11.fter .that oonversOion, p.)11 went  

r.i.  

iiflC`' the day vasit? 

to his house,. 

tbat was about .o-da e aft,Dr 0.-u ea* him; 

I don•  t r;.#:tinb r brri 7,f•any days. rk;s0o 

P I you may it 

.it WR.1 4.bout •two •day, 

E.4 .you ar e sure btuihat? .1Qesir, 

no C.)Caflp led fair '1' t tits t. ynt 

dtfetthou s YOU tii•r3 ? Aet; 

F2- about b al f 

Was. 

WO.) X in sure 

What - Lta. irs:t = said disn •you 

was•sp.in l( 

;:ousq.1. She • 

. shc•:•: .. 1t I ',74.nt y 0.4 t< y ." 

• 'U., oaid4 

tft4t.: alithat_waEi. 

11141 y v•-;:n if' 

ber, 

.1'14C 

, tioul g0. 

;le VtrOn t, 
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1-:? metiIi,./i3 Pi o; then? .3: 

Yø  

'Did he say anyt ing, did Mr... Roasn' 

*ormeion, bout being ok? 4 ,Nt,sir. 

Abolut,e1Y nothing? A No, oi 

have 

40 eay anythins abut that 

• 
made . ho would haVs beon mar 

'1 Oh, c3.1.11. •nay that?. 

-.1.::eMembex 

es, cir. 

12(:,stion 

nythi,A 

if no 0xiplain 

q..; 

ork that 

agif6t, d 1 , sAy nc: oiol,.; he 

A 
, narxied,p ibu f.tmber testifying that effeat? 

A No, air. 

You ion't 

Q, 4 that, if you o id t;nat,, i t. untzu?0, 

did fla/ .that he f..said 

) A 

DIIJC(L 

ht w3,f3 sick. 

Q ver ao4.1 that h aii ht,! was iok?' 

Or ne,void tI 

..... 
TY .A N,  

'16in el:Ailed on bel 

an foilo.4E.,: 

4 
T.NATT'.-)N L'!v "P 

,..Liodmin, ,y 1017., 

tbp in BrOfqiyile 

? Slr. 

No, 

Av-nurf BiiooklynI a vatnees 

sop , onforn, t00—

. e. 

t 



e yOU' 

YOttls•hOu ohere .she 

vhexp Imt..1:114t? '4 -1.n 298 blottop Str 

lopg ti 

n :years old. 

used to corm:. 

often,. b-ecause she we. working, anc 

.4).- Who invited. You? 

and ohe invited me on 

her house, because. cn 

No.. Never mind what he 

on t)1 16th 'did you. find 'anyboy thre. 

. this h4ei, f ell ow 84L1 o ( inii c nd51,nt). 

- :Chub e r 

uw,p..y0 



Yettailtvoy Ohdaed'me a. bOx where she haa oome 11,u1,16ethIn 

she "id, "Isn 

then 

th4t,. 0n0ag1ilr.or' board-er na 'then Mr., 

keop it antil married anct you will fin use 

C:, 4nything else, $aid about ,go ng'mrrica then', 

we didn' t say anything else. 

141king away about- W.8 worh, c wh rt 

vi'q,,king out pretty good, ana 

And. ..t;h61 we 

that • be hnow.2' 

recognized eaub—

lonz; tripe; and 

Yetta. Ana. kr. .1106en went aowns and 

and th..ey teok rtle. ArL ttexe.. 

askod- tk3m. m '00M6 up And 

. RO-7 en 

I ivant to go -up to ry relattons 

11.cas-)1 they wept away. 

And did you-hpar 

ther0. Then I ca.1-...e 

Silver 

is makinw fr..; 41.y. C.J 

friends me him;. 

to ri bv>therci..iiase4. 

„ro my hOUE3C o. and Mr. 

ur J31.1t first 

:ent up in My brother_ 

mant atybody 

ht:oz.00nd name. 

? A Ye:: • Bilvcrmn1 met bar there . 

afte:e;. 'she WREI not re 'Then. I calm and .9.fter t, at he wentout, 

and Kr,iser nt in 

6 -you hear baw—.0.11.7: 8,41 Up'1J 

- • .r. :r s ne'inb  

°J.;11, tell ue what ycur•O,c-Jt 

intx6Auood?A 1 den'undr e tAn0'. 

? 

' 



1!IngUage did she use in Yiddish? 

us atl nearly as you can 

'1(reisor vao introduced 

51 

wha't Was said when Mrs. 

Mr.• RoOen. by Yetta? roan 

remember, but I know she introduced me. 

Q Well how did she introduoeyout ? A As elloW 

aa her boy. ' I don't remember just the words eh aid, It •w.a  

Yicllish.  

Wha A "My boo 

Q Anj thi,! -1c)nversatiolwe in Yid i h? AYes, 

yCl! s,,17 talked in IriY,Lish ther 

the def ndant after tbt? S went up to -hi  

house with r. friond • mine, and he rt.quod t .ipeak to us. 

Q, And h Jidn t speak to you? Yer, Sir.. 

When was it? P On  Sunday morning. 

'How long•after the lath of May? A T oan!t remember.  

don't xerner:her th tire but I kmw it4ao ofn Sunday, morn.ng 

about ten. o °look,. and he sent down 

17404 long aftervards about wss, .t? Two weeks or more? 

A Two c thtoe weoko J think, I doWt'remmber exaotly• but 

know it was on a Sunday orning. 

the. .time thslt you cire there in Monroe 

C 4I0110On the 16th day of May, y011 hear any date set for 

the, wed.f.Utv,oranythin Tike that? ANc no dates was settlted; 

only tbrrt, 1.)r thyi were t T 4 mR.rriod soon, but DQ JtiztEi. 

(moss TfAA.070A ATiFPFACH: 

m'o up to h r.house that WodnesdEty n .ht, the 



ell us how. She:inr;duced you 

A She introduced be to him as her cousixl 

-7. and she introduced him to me as her boy. 

And you said, you e pleased to meet him*? A Yes, 

Q Didn't you testify that you bad met the dP,fendant neveral 

times in Mrs. Grube's house? Who is Mis. Grube?  

Q Mrs. Tru.b, I mean—several., times befoxe .MMy IC)th? 

.A I uood. to meet him very often in 'Pfirs.'Probe h01.19e 

(4 And ilksi you thean.to say that on the 16th øf My 1(:)17, ,you 

were first .intrc,6uced tb him? A Noosi.r. 

Q., Didn't liou so testify?-: wao-n't f rot introduced, 

and.I didn't say so. She introduood me, because she didn't know 

that I know him before,, but, 'After .we -had been talking to each. 

-other for -some time, we recognized 'each other. 

When you'were introduced, YOU said,that you were glad 

o meet Mr. Rosen, didn't you? A Yes, sir_ 

Q And h, said he was id to meet yol'is 4Yeq. 

Q And it. wa 

Yee e 

s like a pair of strangers meetinp;, W N it not? 

,, ...... 
• 

b S E S I VV. E R..1! A of three hundred and eeventy-Maaison 

'Street, a witness called on behalf of the People,bein:r di4Ty Worn, 

.testified as follows.: 

DIRFOT EXAMINATInN FY MR. oWnTT:-_ 

.1n .may, 1917,.where did you live Mr's. Silverman? A 292 

troe Street. 

Arld d.tcl Yetta. Lvofsky live there' you? A Yer, 

• 



.0. 

And how long did the live there with you? 

a year and.a  

Q And this w a an apartment in a tenement house 
41'4-

..4,Yes, a tenement house. 

Q How many rooms did you have? A Four rooms. 

Q And who lived in this apartment? A I and .my'hUsband, and 

Yetta. 

Q 'And then you had a little baby, did you n t? tYes, 

.Q. Nw,when di. you first see the defend"ant, Mrs. P2ilverman, 

this defendantbere? A 'on a Saturday in Vay, 

q And An what place was it that you first Saw h r/05A In 

my hoUse, 

you. remember the date,? Was it before 04 after the 16th 

of May that you firs,47 saw him? A I don't exactly remember the date) 

but I know that it was on a Saturday in Mtly. 

And who was with the defenc:ant when you firs saw-him? 

Me and my huSband 'and Yetta Lvotsky. 

And where as this? A In my house. 

q And did :rou have any talk with this defendant, and did.' 

you hear yetta talkinp- to him, and did she say, anything to you 

Hin Ts presence? .T 31 us just Alat•happened,?A He'was talking, to 

us altogether, about different kinds of things He was talking tO 

My husband about the' country and about work, and be is at Blooming -

dales for about five years .and he is akine money, and he is 

going to gpt married. 

Q Did he say to whom he was .going to et married? A No, s 



..buthe:sai“hat.hb was oingle.g‘t.married„.... 

and. that he is making good thoney, and has been thero for five years.. 

,Q And. when did you see him the second tiie? t we  

:on Wednesday, the same week, Wednesday. 

Well, that was after the. Saturday? A Yes,, 

Saturday. 

Q The first.Wednesday after the yj. et 

A Yes, sir. 

And what happened then? Who was the house at that tiMe 

A When became in, I w seitting downstairs.was ittip:Ilear. 

thy ho'us 

iirent up. 

And when I sifl-inct there about half an hour, 1 ,went up. 

,with my busband:h e and I found Mrs Freedman in my houseland after 
aid. 

comes Mrs.. Kreiser, ad Mrs. Kreiser/that she is married not long. 
• 

and he ome over and asked me, "Is Yei-Ja upatal.ron- and 

ago,and she lire in Coney Island-. 

• And he said, "Well .1 am going, t gt,L,t married too,:and I will' 

take a room at Coney lals.nd. 

And, bi-'s-aid, she looks oo yo-ung to be married, and hb is go 

to take a robre. at 'Coney' Island and Oet • married too. 

And 21 bad 1„n 'my house- a. pictur,,,, of v u.nd Yetta toe the., • . 

eture'l and, showed t to Mr s •p 

him, and 6A11,,47,c him• how he Ilk d the•Otuto 

x•44Elvt, all ..tri ght , and. 

1;P:1: /)(,).VV6(;,. I t to 

• u • 

". V•t' ; owe. 

' is a nice gi3•1 .-rfo nimwe.d. Yetl.a 7'1,1 (11.7 14.,1 • 

tine) rAT4,.7 Jn "I.alo 

• 4. • , . 

••'1.;.. 

.3,11 
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NOw, You say 14Xis.JI'X'sedman• and Mrs. Kreiservere there? 

Erlr, 

Q• And who •else? A My.husband and knd. he and Yetta ,g2P-

Silverminz come in before, When iT-was'idownstairs 

Now, did you leave before or after .this defendant did, that 

night; did you leave the house at all  again? A Wher I went down, 

Yetta was In the house, and i was sitting near the house with my 

husband, with the children. 

Q No. After these people left? A Afte, we vui,re all sitting 

down, and talking, and she went- outwit)  hin. for a walk. 

, CI With Rosen? A Yei, aIr 

Wow whe did you .see him again? .A On Fri ay night, 

.You didn't see him again that night? A o, 

Or hoar him say anythint more? T. didn't hear 

When did you p2o to bed that niglit. A Well, it was 

arcund ten or half past ten. 

Wel how soon, afte- v tfw left the 'house, did you 3o -to 

bed? Just in hi* trite, about five minutell after. 

you irJnt tc sleep? A rev, ir 

) d go t et 

t 1 together'? 

• 

V. 

i • • 

.71ra I •  
• • 4 

T, 

thAz, 

O.' 0 • 

irhti 

i . • 



Fridtitg.• 

Wh 

h1ght7 AI tell you. Shall.' tell you what she said to Me? 

6 Q Oh she made a statement to you about what happened on 

Wednesday night? A Yes, air. When be came in, I said.,"What's 

the matter, Mr. Rosen, you promised to come today and take out 

a marriage license with Yettall. and he said, "I was busy,and 

couldn't come,and maybe 'my bass send me away to the -want* 

a few weeks tp work. 

And T. said -"What.are you z•;ci to do now?" 

He said, "Well I'm going'tc m married soon. IL be married 
in the 

did you say and what did he say to you, o Pr day 

t, and then) when the_Jcvish holidv,ys come; I will make 

a Jewish wedding." 

houso 

She, told in  in the mcv abovt wh4t happeL6d. 

Q. Is ,Ikat (1.1.3 the.onVerestion 

f70.1v M 

Thr 

t.,4,.,),!47 

1 

rAL.1.1 aid- .you 96e.hin 

4 • „ 

v 

tt' 
, 
. , 1 ".I.: 

il. tid:.Wjt1J 1 

.1.1Lcq 4.1vo H 

hOUt 

'd ttlat night? 

A MonJa,y night. 

lir. 

In my 

lioband. 

A ; and Mr. 

+See 



And w141,ts. did yvu ow to 11401i and he .10) yo40 on Uonday 

night? A When he  oonio in taid, "Hello -Rosen what's tlac 

matter?" And he said "Well,' am going to  gmi. marrted. T t ld you 

-so)" and I said) "All right) enjoy is, on your And then. 

they went out together. 
." 

Q And when Old volt ov:: him dfter gbnday nIght*—. 

remensber exaotai, thibk it was a week around. 

He didn't oomt anyMo! ln my house. 

cs• And- \Was I • -1-,111!:, ? A l'rcs, But lie T • , 

went  to hi.e )7:1:1k )us i c, - f'2i..tndo 

in. Ludlow. 

'You that? 

th.s.re.. I waerrit1:1,..: 

A t find bin 

so I wOrit'.'n' 

And .1 i week t r±boi 

wif.1 M And hi i hr 

Did yoo fin. him 'sc). 15v.)3':Ka afeJ,0 2.11e :)nday yg:X la3t 

i rid him th:17re.,, 

him?.A Y.e . tbsx e 

rl 

him. Hewas in 

. 
171.6 rpoms,   W.asiked for 

him, and. 

• and he 

'r) 

, 

- 

Sr 

• 

,•y"  

e ti:• UI.., 



1. 

4.1;04 C-

, s.Y 

1 I h.; 0:7 ay.?" AnA he 3.aid 

lat do t6 speak to. yeti about 

.iettc 

And he said, 'What do you want? If I did anything, 1. mnot 

a id.for nobody, and, if sherrested me, .1 would et married 

With her,and,,, if she takes that in Court, i l± wait until the; 

Curt says something. 

And he said, "I' n.t afraid f',)r nobody. I'm not Afread,of 

Judges c:r the prison, or anythin. I have plenty, Of money,and I 

can do whFt4.I want': 

And then I said "what are yol)0091. .416 now?" AriI 

he knors what he did, but. he ibnYt araidfranybdy. 

• Q And *hat r- edd ''eJ say, if anythin He aaid„ 1 

-a4d for anyboy, and he'has plenty of Ironey, %nd he 

0,4ul dp.4hatever he•wgInted  -and he d'on! .now Y tta, and don't 

know lobod y. 

• And . —said, "All ricl•.t if so would ar;root me, t would -

mar. 

• will 

ed With her, if she will' lehvo• 

7 

And. I 

by 4 (1( .' to Say. II 

3add  ihec 71(e urr,'tr,.r oix weks, ahd he 

*1 th 

"ThiA 114ity, it 

Lit+ t 

! • 



get married 

TnE COTJRT N e. i 'bring her back 

,that she started on, but was diverted from. Now,. go ahead. 

A X said, ."Yetta lives at my house about a year and 3 

and she is a very nice girl. What'do you say now, You 'make 

much trouble, and you dd not make .it all right." 

And he said,"She shall leave ma alone for six weeks,and 

sal1with .me, not mwried, and live with Me." . 

And I said, "lk, its better 

,7 that h.? should7rarry her? A yes, sir 

aid h isn't fraid of anybody_ 

You said, a oment aFo, "1 told him what he had done to 

What did you mean by that? ilat did yell say upon that' sub.jsc 
ln 

H(Obj.2.cted to. Allowed) 

"1 know -what J did toHher, nnlf am go ng to 

He said in his house 



, ±U3Wer ed. that Apstion. 

THE 0OURT: Go ahe 

(MT:. 

Q What, did you say? 

MR. AUrBACH: '± take an exceptions 

A. told him that he ruixied her. I said, ',Mr. Rose4) 

YOU zuined her, and- now ,you d n want to_ recognize her.  

a fine girlt! 

And he said, "IN 11,. I am not afraidof anybdy, 

•*arit to do to me?" 

Q $o you used the word ruined, lid you? 9,-eir. 

Did you speak in Yiddish? A Yes air. 

Q What 1d you say to him in' Yiish, what word did you 

use? 

(It interpreted by ;he 0 

THE INTERPRE: 

EXMIATIWT BY AUKRgACH: 

ficial Interpr,,Iter 

Did hc y &nythLi 'about 'YeAta. bad woman, when you 

came a .p;,. al..- :,bout her?-  Didn t he s a r that t.11)?.?. w . F. bad . women  and . .,. .... ., 
• 

,-.•,.... :...,:__. ...i.„4„. . 
that .he. didn'..74. -stmnt• ha.ve any.1 t./.. 1..:-,? ,,,.'i i•!i-i• 1--r:,:.i'?A He said,. 

bad ri.7.0 

A

17. 

4r4 
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'Ana that shO'wa's 4 bad woman? A 1c) was apeaking 

but he oaid he wasn't afraid :)f nobody. 

Q Did ha say that she was a bad Woman? A I don'  know' what 

t means, a bad woman„ 

Q Well, a disrespectable woman . A I don't remember that 

he a id she was a bad woman. He said) "T ruined her, and I don't 

want to marry her) and I am not afraid of nobody." 

(Repeatel)? A 

Q Will yousay yes or 

o mplaining witness a bhd 

see him? A (10 'ansivei'). 

ure he did say he ruinel, her. 

no, whether the defendant called' the 

'voman or not at the time v'po called to 

Put tb question to her? 

(The Interpreter repta 

A I dcal., -,:lrAmber whether he said tbEttl ( 

exa t y. 

Q Well, you ,emlzb,r the others tH.nzf.; pretty well, don't you? 

• A .TremeMbr iJvcrything, that i heard. 

But .r.0 ioñ t rem,mb.Tr 

you were in h a 

was aver .two 

, - Q 

1)46 mad6 

Gouxt? 

,A16 after . 

q 
414'04 

n't remember 

that? 'A Well, that'- a‘ long time. 

tbat Wed n P oaaT) y 1 P)t h , when 

1.9)mW)r (?,acty the Late, but 1.i; 

, Lvofukyl 1).1 

4,1 

!4' : 

CI! r v!1).; 

I 

II 



L,V E R M IZ,f 292 MOX).3? atO 

witness °ailed on behalf of the People, being .duly 

. testified motollows: 

CT EXAMINATInN BY MR.OLCOTT: 

Q You are married Mrs. Silverminz? A Ye' sir. 

Q These gentlemen -all want to hear you, so talk 

you? A Yes, sir. 

Q In May 1917, wher.. did you live? A In Monroo Ptreet. 

Q bThe am e houco, in which you now live? A- Yes,o1r. 

'292? A 292. 

Q. Wh,iro was y,Jur apartment, on what. loor? 1 I dOn't 

understand =oh Engliah. llay somebody talk to me Jewish? 

OLOOTE: M..y have f,n, interpreter, sir3. 

COU.R7gc.. Yes. 

Q (question peat e;  by the )ffioial interp7s er.)? 

A pn the fourth -floor I am living.. 

Q Where wan' Mrs.. SilverMan's apartment at that time? - A A 

On't.he fourth floor. 

Is,yout apartment in the front o 

. • 
And ' 41verman' •wel ti)e.:170? • in the front. 

Q. Can.  int,rlverman' 6.1r4rtme;nt'i her cining. 

'eelo room  :ET= 1.;:1,P5nt? •jUnt-

Pn the O)1 t. 

Now, oi.4. 

,,.441d if eo, whey„. 

A Ise(r::, Mrj. V 

-1!'ar.r4 ir.t t +Are,14? i yf 

EIQ 

In.the.ba.ok. 

I 
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AbcAtt'whal; t Mien You firot saw him that 

ht? ,A About  eight o °look, 

H4 :you 0vitir seen him before? A No. 

Q Were you introduoed to him, that night . 

Q Who else Wao 'kEi when you were there? A At first 

,;aione them. Then, cEUm? 1 f -4.y .g.re. Freedman, 

'Q And :d Krei.ser the 

Q Now , wh yo :I tochioed to t ef en4ant , what wae 

o id by Yetta ia.i intl'ocIuoint .you? A Yett intruduced- him all -an 

a quai nt a n ellow that ehe knew wó1 a.n hi. s going 

merryto  him. 

Q, She. !mid tTha.t to _you? A Ye %) air, 

Q And. w ttiz, def. end ant the±e at that time? 

.was th e 

• c; . 

we .had a colvilo.re 

I 

Of ooure he 

• 

r.y0.)11 that was waia? Anythi I Then , 

I told them, "If you. ire :.!:oind t' 

" 

(2) An t h (71 r.noop 1, Pole ) en that t Yes, 
• 

and Mrs. Fr'nii.C . 

And. I • tod2u.1 MrJ Pre eama.n. we woulci ha vif, a weddin 

1 ef t etf terware 

Q Now 1 41 top. nyj. i,'.:, 

. I 

,lumxter, of „t..1. 

Q' Wbsitr.,z. 

( 
••••• 

tl 

and 

rt...c y•p.r'0 f • 

11,'! lit a 

k 

the 

ef;L:, 

-•. t ".Ayv;h0ra? 



A 

Where? Tell u Lèaeie? A In tho samø house,aboUt 

0.1014ok, in Re Silvermantz 

And where were you when you saw hiM  A In house. I 

opened Vie Tindovto take the clothes Off the line) ..nd I eavv-them 

in #ery.friendly.pe3ition on a °hair. 

'And wher• wad this, where were. .they clittio A In the 

dining room. 

Q Was tho li6 ;.• 

1,0 

You have. already ntated that you•oould .17-rom.•your 

'window into f: that. right? A,.Yeir; it wae_juet 

oppobite. 

Now, .Y0 00i4 ve pcoition. Will you'pleasetell.: 

1,1$ very br1y, vet her pocitipn ias?A They T re embracing. 

You flay. they 'mare. in a chair, ware they  occupying only 

one chair?. A YOB, 

Q And you watched them; that ri;ht ? A Yos„sir. • I waa 

curious. , 

Anti thy I i the chair? Did yalz see theig' 

-rWhen thcy up V16111 .A Y, sir.; T w her g t 

up and lemvr!; tho r om, bc.:caunr, 

front room A.1111117 

q ,1(1 ,)t,.-qQ(* ',',0,t:PTAdVot 

•owilf,4t got 

e: cA.c t;v -1,:J--,-HL• 

t -e 1. 

40.• 



dark. 

And then it ot dark? A y 

Q• Did you aee thi: more, night A 

q You .went to bed then? A 1r; it wee about 

'olook. at. the tSme. 

Did .you see the A-.of40(fanii after th.v.t.:nigh? 

was in his.hbuee wit M. £ilvermn 

Q :When? A w43.0ks fterward 

Q • Did you ai-16 P'ilvertan tal thi•defen0Ant? 

we•did. 

but twc, 

Whlt wab i.d b- y or Mrs. Silvermln. rxhiour•presenoe, 
•• 

and, what wpds•owldv the .defeadant at t14,,,1 time two .Weeks after" 

the .leth. 

Win5t1-1C.:I bct, t was two weeks -after this  

alleged o.1(11),rrenoe. 

THK 7)MT: 

MR. AUE5AOH Exception.. 
10r-

-1(1441Aifi.rit hi.L; -4,nalndy wouldn't lot us in. Then we told  her 

we are only. l'kuma :)ingo we dian't come to fight, and we wap.t•tO 

-see Rosen.. 

-Nevs-rni You got ino did you A lrail7 

N14W, 

don, t ctoi-rrr " 

1 by 3,7)11 Mr-. - Silverman and tb defen 

, 4 r M.) "q.e. Hoseno 

y0 at all." ' 

I.told , • .k.Aanc. neitthbor-

h-r:d on the t: r 
1;i2A4.141=! 

tn Mrs. 
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SilVerman s boUse?" 

He 4sWered, "Well, Mrs.Silverminz tell hør tot to bo 

an& in about six week6, I will marry her. A told him, 

dO yOU.14Y_IA: 1473RWt it off for six week0400.you want to leave? 

.And 'he uaid, "Thi ia ty businees Is know what °I have to,L,40* 

she 

I. 

Q Did 

aid tht ic thing. 

Q Now, what else was  said? 

. you are guilty in ituctter, Mae is an orphan. !:;11 

parents. 

He said, "Airs. 2ilvermnn, pleMe J.c. not bo her me. I told you 

you hear anything- th&t Mrs. til'Verman said? A iYes, 

mr. Ensen 

.1 will put the imAtter ova for six weeks, and then 1 will marry 

her.". 

Did you bear anything.aid about Court? Did you Thear. • 

him say.anythir4.; about Court? W$ll, then he Said, ll1f she is 

gin to press tle.ohaTge against me, :t' not afraid of anybody. 

.have Toney, r oan buy anybody, I. have plenty of money." 

•Then he i:!a13.„ just, the oppcsite; that -,14, can'.!-. make a living, 

an.fi then betu 

gAid 

had :done? Y 

you say or 14 M 

thing in: r •. 

40W Y01.1 

Who clt1,1 

nal'311 (ih 

i 

t',ams ;hi n. n 

lty, 

*WICATI 2itim of .nything that he 

'A; 

ft 

sr, 

tv oi what? Did 

:NO!, 

4 41, 

v 



you try me in Ci:,1 

marri-d her. 

EXAYNAT 

And what did he WhenAfts, 'iiverman said that? 

Then,. at that point 1 said, "Mr. Pkeno •I saw '-through the, 

vindow," 

And then hith lardlady aftid4 ,n sae th-ct thane people Wil.a 

aweax:to it ,that yo..  11 a'n !by dob rtAl marry And 'he 

I have plenty f time." 

Q Well, when Hrs.' F!'ilverman c3a 

tilined her 7 whAt di( 

a tr) Rosen, Imve 

crafenztant sa,y? .A. A .±irt h said 

"Did I.ruin her? ebody else did it Nobody saw 1714.P 

And then 1Lwid, "I linow hat. you are-the gu , y 

clan swear by my .r.hild 

And then Mrs.lv - s ' 0Whyl Rosen, you are suilty. She 

is n orzlian, nu.nnd. her.  

And TOW, e t ,n whoi he amid that the second 

ti He said, "0 1 If oE cililty in this -matter, why din' t 

if td wuld have done it, I would have 

Q Did yc.)1.1 tell Roicn, on this occasion, that you had seen 

.him .letta? A 4 T- coIcin -that. I  could only see that-

tnoy were sittir“; on tne eic friendly mannfu*, embra 

1.;:nri?!. 

you t .en tt 

How o ou 1,1 T err:: xt 7. 3 N it'Ar 

eret to look. 

t;t4 Lt 

c).. rti Oio et IA t 0 

1 i in t • 



"Irir4100 
041000010Wrimmambollimry.4,0cA4.0A *moot.. 

good fr4erld Of Mrs. Silverman, ana We 

each 0:6116T El .6.00.17tMeni; very often. 

,Now, on M y-lOth, were you.oalled in my Yetta t her house 

-Yetta Was in my house some tiMe1 oefore0 and she said., "Mxis. 

Silverman, you know T ai. an orphan,. I .am all alone in thie country. 

I want you to come in and see the boy that I air going to marry, 

And how long.. was that before , you came into her house? 

That was' Tuesday night • 

So that on Friday ,night -- o Wedn.esday nigi-it I _mean. --

you came iM thr..:re by appointment, didn't you?' A Yes of .bourse. 

She asked 'M to comC in. 

HQ And when ym got. into thr house,: who else was there? AOnly' 

Mr. Rosen and Yetta. Mrs.. Silverman was downstairs. 

And a short while .after, Mrs. Kreiser and mrs. Freedman 

came alon6; is thatright? A First Mrs. Freedman, and then 

when I was going to leave, Mrs. Kreiser came in. 

Q And did you see Yetta introduced the defendant to these' 

people tht csmo liq Only to Mrs. Freedman., 

Q And what d.Içl she say to Mrs. Froedman A "I want to in 

lucle to you ml; bov, M. Rosen". 

Q And what did Ars, Rreedman say? 

and then I 'le ft „ 

1. 

She said he was very 

4A 

Did mhm say oho was glad to meet himT 

,ICC "I'm glad to memt you  

An 

A F,1 klir she 

rbu &xy,that you weht in about a qUart:r 0  an hour after 

• 

1•11000 

f• 



nto YOUr own apartment? A'. Yee 

Q And i/hat did you de in yOur ownIbuse? A went about 

ork. I attended to .the phildren. 

Q Well, how long did yoar work take you? A 1 cleaned up 

the table. It waS right-teter supper. 

Q Well, what other work did you have? A Then I undressed 

the ohildre nd put them:to bed. 

Q And how long did that household work -te you? A. Until . 

eleven o'clock and then I Was going to sleep, and prior'to that 

r was going to take i?,the wash. 

Q Tell, do you mean to tell this Court and jury that your 

housewOrk took you from a quarter past eight to eleven clock; 

is.thatr.ight? A Of bourse, cleaning up the house 'washing the 

dishes and putting the children to sleep, it takes that much tio 

,Q And, dij you 3ef3 the gas light in Yett 's room? A':In the 

.dining room, •also .in the k itche'n. 

Q When for the first time.did you see it lighted? A Abou 

eight o'clock, when he came. 

Q well, wore they there all the time after you left them? 

At least thr.y were in the dining room-. 

:Q- But they were in her apartment ever since you left her 

apartment' that night \toren!' they? •A To140 I can tell you. 

I saw them in the dining rood' and in the kitchen, und then again 

in the dining room, 

Q But you.sa:1,,them for the entire period after you loft their 



house, and remained 

' • !•••••'., ' 

n ybUr own house; is that 13 

Q You are positive about that?. A Poeitive 

Q And if it has been testifiecriV previous witnes 

? A Tes Suie., 

• the deitigs.0 and the .defendant and the complaining witness had  

left that sane.evening, and then came back again, that: would be 

untrue, wouldn't it? 
1. 

MR. OLOOTT: Oh, Iobjcct to that, sir. 

THE COURT: Custained. . 

H. AUENtiA OE : Ex e pt 6n . 

Q Now, you volunteer the information that you hau. seen 

:these people c],Cse toaether to anybody in Yetta" e house A .Yee, 

eir; I told it to Mrs. Silverman. 

Q When did, you tell,it? A I told it to Mrs. SilverMat in 

the m rning.. I told her, "Tt.looks as if they are going to get' 

' married soon', and ehe said, "Of cou: eft.. 

Q Did you ,teal it to her in her own house? A Yes, sir. 

Q Not in your house? A No  

, And .then the next time that you saw the defendant was when? 

4'A Two weeks afterwards in .his house in Eldridge Street.' 

Q, Didn 01; you 'see him in Yetta's house that following Friday, 

the, Friday following, Wednesday, May 16th? A No I saw him twice 

in his own house.. 

Q Well, you always looked across from your rooms into this 

and-saW anybody that was in Mrs. Silvermanse house, • 

'didn't you? A At the time he ca.11.1c1Xgain, I was to a slater. n 

' 
A .1 ;4. 



mine. I was told afterwards that Rosen was there. 

Q And you  and Mrs. Silverman went up to the defendant's 

house, after the complainant, Yetta had lodged a complaint ag tlet 

the defendant in the magistrates' Court, didn't you? A Yes, sir*. 

of course. 

MR. AUERBACH:- That is all 

MR. OLCOTT: . .That is all.— The People re 

'MR. AUERBAbH: If ycur. Honor please, I move to dismi a 

the compla.int which charges the prisoner, on the following 

grbunds: 

The People have failed to prove several element neces-

sary to prove the crime of seduction under a promise to 

marry. 

In the first placer they have failed to prove that she 

was of previous 'chaste character. 

Ther. is boolutely no testimony in that respect. 

They have, in qddition to that, ..kailed to prove that the 

defendant wavthe first one 'to have had intercourse with her., 
P f 

They havefaileCi to/prove that he was the first one who I 
• 

^ 

"penetrateJ hci.„ af-your'HOnor, please. 

And np —orQund. they have fallee; to prove that 

on the oor: i, 1., o7 ti P pl'omicie of the defendan. 

uls th  get. marr:il, obe.h:vi "Inte 

THY.1'..".0YOT; 

MhI, tti71 144 h.! I,. . • 



THE DEFENSE: 

U EL JR 0 S E N0 of 216 Eldridge Street, the defendan 

being duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. AUERBACH: 

Q How old are you, Rosen? A ThiTty-two. 

Q And hOw long have you been in this country? A Seve 

BY THE COURT: 

Q You have been here in New York seven years? A Yes, el 

this March. 

BY MR. AUERBACH: 

Q And what ie your butane s? A Mattress making._ 

MR. OLCOTT: I think we aaght to have the interpreter,. 

if your Honor pleaue: 

THE COURT: Very well, 

MR.KUERBACJit Now, speak up loud, so that 

juror can hetic 'you. 

THE COI RT : t 

having the intrpreter. 

(Th witrion'teetjfiod through the sage Official Inter-

pretei%) 

think we will save time by it, by 

Pn AU ENDA CF 

.44.1f y 

"1 

And wheTt:, t , -orCzt 1,loonlinfOule T.Tothe.,Jks, 

And how y cu L" the:y.1.'0 A 3.ix (.;;P 

And did yCJU L LJ v., ;1°1'4, . t.c!.ont y t 0 

.1k 
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1.1 

Q, Do you know Yetta LvofskY0 the oornp1in.nt it this .p 
• 

eding? A tes0 sir. 

Q How 16ng do you know her? A I knew her from the let 

.May until the 28th 'of May, thats all. 

Q ,What year? A 1917. 

Q Where did you first meet h ?- A In Avenue 13 th 

tel Probe 

Q Were you introduced the to her for the first t 

Yes, sir. -

Q And what wao s• id by you or b anyb.-ody .else at that timer 

A Bo-thing, Was B. ±( came up there at half ,past eight. She 

came up there 'about a.' civarter to ni Ett 1 Prober. oame, 

•

 

over and introduce.d the çiri to me. 

Q At Whose' invitation were you in that house? k Ettel 

Prober, 

Q And what was s/Ii.O.. by your or by anybody. else in that louse 

on that occasion. Nothing. 

Q. well what .0.iscuesion, if any, there? A Ettel 

Prober „spoke. 4.1,1)c..tt 1161: con-2 affair's, about having' a husband of her 

own, .sOme t ime • bef oa...e , r3. .Jout separating- from him. 

Did you e.ay irt6 .tb7c,) about r.r1.t . lier 

it that tizt.-.e? A 1'.!c ,r 

Was therx., -t1 

,tYlye t ; t 3: c:Lt 

e 

::Q1.1 Old n,r /Ly nyi.ociy 

Le: t Lk: ; rt 



: 

r-r-^ 

1 t I 4.4 E' tot„, zuar4 uiciiy? 

sir. 

now, what, did, you do after .you left that houee; Mr. Rosen? 

At .ten 0' °look I got' up and wanted to go home'. F,tt 1 Prober 

me over and asked me to take the gir,l  
• 

Had,you.ever-net'thiej- r/-1).efare in your lif.  before this 

18th of .:May  1917? A.
 

NevEretz:a nlY Ufe 

Q And you didn't ',,:now whO she was? A 'No, 

Did you take r home? A yes, 

And where did you the her to; "where was her home? A.@90 

Or 293onrce Street. _ 

0, Did you_ an.;., conversation with her downstairs, at her 

house? A Yes, wie e walked. 

Q 'What wabi •the topict of your conversation, Angeneral? A . She 

told lite she caril to this country, that she was living in. Ettel 

Prober 4*house, and that she cane to a brother of hers, and that 

she lived the t66; that ehø had no money to pay for the rooa 

and Ett 1 Prober told hcr to rovel'and she wouldngt have coins 

this time, but .he reed a4resb, ,and Mrs Ettel Prober Was .a. 

n;oo . dressmaker. 

, a 

Wall,:•theYP 0$3tween uou ana thc-(..,omp Anent. 

1, 'It. mar r  

nia you L-: me..vr14 h&r?. A •N 

A Nover1 

t'• 



Q  New, how iOng.,were you downstairs At her hOubt 

minutes.' 

Vhat did you 0.0 after that? A' It was late, and I told 

her F wanted to go home, 'because. I Will have to go to work the 
next day.. 

Q That was Friday,wasn't It? A Yes, 0 

And didshe Mention anything about your calling agai ? 

-A said. she wants t(, nee me again; she wants to tel.) :me som 

thing. 

i P 19 , way when ollF: wanted to see you? A She toId, 

me, "Come up tomorrow morn' ng," :-..-'-, "Tomorrow ni.gh d I ans 
to 

her,"If I don't r /fiee my CD1AS ne , I will be over. 

Q. And did you e'all to see_ her the  fo1wing night? Ye 

At lAbat time did you get there? A Half past, eight. 

Did.- you t the ,house where she lived? A Yes,. sir. 

What floor ti s.he live on? A Fourth floor. 

ell; hov cfl 1, ,iou know tha, she livei the fourth floor? 

She gave me tho fus, q;ave me the room number,number 23 

t .J jury what transpired on Saturday 

4 “ caw!. up and. T found her And the 

m.1 et'or. and xi.rs 

With theM.. 

They u. 

,r 
I. 

' 
Lltoben 



They told mo 

Iwor,,t_l do is not dir 

s a'nice place." 

wi a.Very,dirtY-work. I told them "The 

work for Bloomingdale Brothers and i 

Q Was there any di 

ainant? 

on a 

Q Well: was the ny discussion about Y 

ether? A No, 

:Oat was the general line of di cussion or oonvereation whi 

arr•ie to -

u were the.-

Q. 

th t•Saturd Y? About the war. 

Arli what time did you I ave? A Ten o'clock. 

Well, was everybody there. When you left? A res 

•Q Who was there .e.t- ..he time? A The •rriissis, the •mister 

herself. 

Q •anta  ri nci1,you meal. 'Mr .and Mrs.. S lverman 

Yes sir, 

Q And Yetta nd y,.r•Sf3-.1.t, ) you mean? A Yez 

Was. there. (-) i!.! of hens there too? A No, sir. 

Well, wh i ; ;leave the. house that nibt? 

fq Where 

t 

l'ou• left 

r)(1 We) 

-11 shn nlei 

t al-te 

to sleep.. 

4, 
itif ith y)U? A 

Yce,a 

P,he aokaa 

cx ten ro 

4,4 41t1 ttd. then.* 



• - • • • • • I.- • A^ " 

but I =It 

to 

.Q 

come anOther time. 

Well, 6he th't intimat att me what oh 

you, lid she? A No, sir. 

And she h d'told you at the time previous, that she 

hat ti Wanted 

wanted to tell, you something important, didn't sll'Et? A Than 

But she 4idn't, tell it to yoU? A No, 

So that when did you 11 aTain? A Wednesday night. 

And that wa the Wednesday following that Saturday that 

you were up there last? A Yes, 

Q: Now, state to the Co;Art andjury what transpirec that 

night?. A I came up at. half past eight. The misses was down-

stairs. 

Q The Mrs. wh Her misses. 444' 

(R Mrs. Silverman? I don't icnow 

that Yetta wasupotTAro. 

ame She told me 

30 

. I oame.up,' Yetta .was uputs.irs, and she aikld nié to sit 

in the dining room, and. I (nu. 

She told mo weir' t. working a+ the .time; that she 

• was someplace, and di,in'F—",a:ny upperpand she wanted to make 

supper for herseAf. 

And one went in  tr ihsn ana one was preparing eUpC. 

A as. on sne. rai 

..11 

A 

LIA . ' • 

• 4 4. '. . • 

, prepl:rM Tryoupper, htlr 

n • nc nc.lr naMe. vwfin.A.J. 

A , 

Pfic. 



ahead? A She, had siapie and we camo into the 

kitch no and l'went in.t000 and' then hex mister and mispi0 

and then another woman came in. 

Somebody brought In some theatre tioket for a ben 

,r)rmanceo and th s woman took some tickets, 

Now, at wh t timewas it that you bare up to that houe  

that :night? A Half past ei-ght* 

Q And when you p:o. ')1p0tairci, yot :found. Y.Otta ao.ne there,; 

ia that right?- A Y c 

Q And howl • wab b. zatine -before this  cou in of her 

up? A A120Ut fivtt! minutes. 

d TAI arq wqy attampt to have•.anyincourse 

with hexin .that p(IrAc.(. timo? A No,ir. 

Did you rrie,h,,. e,(1,vtinGes tG her at all? A 

even talk  to her. She went late the kitohen 

.•6••••• 

• 

. you hug, os ki 38 her? 

9,11. OLOOTT = 

diAn't 

if ycl..r pleace as tv what 

-transpired on P. clay Oben. it io riot alloed that the defend,. 

did anything. e4.4. 

TTIE Wha. 

MR ADERDAtH, 

r.47,aima that:116 

ther. 

,-
• 

1 

o you refer to? 

y• lbot. tAi el;,,fendant• 

docontt deny t.4ilt ho was.  

7 7. in :•inslifer. 



AUERBAOR: 

Whe.t wee, you t31 ina ab if,anythin / We, didn't 

ay ,Anythine. We had w) ohamo. *omen 5ot in soon., and we 

had a general convereition. 

Well, who else ccx.e up, if b.nybody A Nt,body else. 

.No W4 go right , 

It wae hBlf 

ayid.T ot up and 

to buy, hat. 

And, at that t,11couI 

etc'k! a hurry? We'll gc tgi.tr," 

,ate wt Lappened that night? 

Pc-trier aJ. rv,nvere tion, 

r!utidn c eho was goin7, 

di to ri;ei nYhy. re you in 

eat down th4.re cicek, and I go up 

again, and, t'heT Polr,rilt: me•go W le±'t- tha oase twenty 

minutes et -eleven. 

lnd where 6i Su4(i1k, corner of Stantn'. • 

When we reach tuit the asked re to wait for then 

that they had hou3o, axid. I t)ld them that it -in 

eleven. 

And dVd. 7;70.1) 

+,,Ald  

VVO, 

bUUNG., 

nee witneeeY. 

mo to oomr,!:,. 

was thr.ln ten minutes hfter 

404ket 

yoursel ? 

14 y 1416 ft ,Ao.00ir 

r 
' ? hi 0 rris 



ot vi oi t tht you arc talk1nt 

af tor, IN dnoOday . the 23rd . 

'Where did  ,ne complal flirt wit!. eer? 

ou oane to call t. ':or 

What tine 

What was .h 

th,;.r I found, and 

C  'Was that 

es, sir.. 

How ng U. thu  ,nvarz:ation take pace? A Unlia half • 

past i&ne 

Q•Anf., then what 4a  A T. went down stair apd he 

'followed me. 

Q. And what y to you, and what you. say t(::her? 

A. She told me that H he ranted t ell • me about thitr.—woman  Et el , 

Prober.' 

• ec, 

bout • i,,xtmr after • 

Ther 

;a1Lint, gbf.ut thf.1 r f 

yeu were talking about? 

rt.43 another m4.n 

Q.•I thavrt h.. told he want ed to t el 1 yoU, 1.;1;OUt 

a eti-oret 7 

(.; ALd wh 4 

Aot being 

•;11 oald ' • 

him, o,nC 

And what 

.1.k A , , I..old 1115 &&1  cut this .F.;tt.. 
, , . 

I .1 :4. 1 t thy oalhe c,a,th,..,,, came, towl 

n. ? 

haf i(r fl(.$ Tram 

anci nt, wlth o6rbody•elso.-

.1( )1.1 .1 t 1.0 E1,116 



.told.her •goodni&t and went tr own 

'Tap that tho last timo vu,elaw hers Or ,did yQo 

Th.e 

• Well; that was th lrIxt time at her home? 

Then a witnesd? 

w4F1 vp7-er. shop whon a man arpreached 

."Mr. I.'10f)o_n '1.a,i1,ing for you 0ownatair 

And did you t,;tt t her? A Yes, ii 

(4 -Who was  it? 

be there with anybody .else? 

any oonveratIon between you. 

"What are you doine; here?" and 

.neighborboodo I oaNe 

re7ieter, becau3? 

ppsned to be in the 

re7istration •day. 

:.ely don't register. 

q :Did she sa7 anything about getting marri d at that time?.. 

Did you say !itny ;ettin& marri 

was 411q/%14 mAnutes. had to finish my 

wark. I wont 

was thp% a 

fi A:et time • ywi 

iS to your YymoTiT. 

.s-cuesion fr•am'the 

Did )1100,1 ("Pfl' pr...oicA? 

•'4'010 nov whon 'no 7th 



82 
e handod me the eumtOns downstairs about 

t seven. 

At Yo'llr hue? my house, doWnotairo. I. was going 

And was she the  with atiybody se? A No. sir: 

Now, did you •have any converati.on with r at t at ti 

eir 

Di.d you evereee her again? 

(iepe  A In Oonr 

on wht'd.ay? A In 

Well, did', she ever cal at yuur 1-c,u Witt.  anybody e1ee, 

or did anyb.14..elpe infher behalf, callat your house A 'Never 

.in her life. 

Was !'re. .Silverman in your house, you know. Mrs. Silverman 

nr:. time. 

don't you,th  is with whom he complainant lived? A Yes sir. 

After ths Court, the, 7th of June at niaht. 

, _And who was shethere with? A WIththe other woman, 

Do, you ipan .Silverminz? A s sir, 

_And what Conversation, 71 vly.to0 pJacc at.tbat time? 

I came home from work,' anc.. I round them :fl my houS 

Mrs. Silverman came ) tmt ahe was a got:i. t#10, 

t. 1 rthould marry her.) to-JO T 

1-.kimthr 

0-41on had you becn koepiTw:. comp ry with WA) 

vor a ear. 

you ev.c.r 

her, boo-

hor thu- cktwero r.q.mpany ivith 



• *0 

, 

atotirr girl; 414 you tell thf. o,ompin nant, les ? 

you ever ip.(Nfurag 6,nd Make hcr feel that 

were imYing.attentions to her,ahd r ing het? A N 

no time to do it. 

No what was the'conversation 1%.t tn:vt ,:ith Mts. 

-NO, six. 

13ilvermini, and 'Mr 'Silverman/ A Mr3Bilvermi &mi(1 that she w 

testify that she ..w meembrac r -b6rAnd kissing 1)o 

f„), AiS what d1 you .:413r?A T denied it. 

z 
Wha+ did YCi.  

'BY .AUERBAH.: 

C What diA you i3ta A "You oculdnt tefiR• 17, never done.itA 

0 Well, what Idas said e.bout matryinc her, if anythil 

both 'talked about marrying her. 

Q Did they tell you that you 1140 raised her —that the 

wanted you to marry her? n No sir. 

Q Bid your landlady y that it appeDred you, were gui 

an tha, you cught roarrq 

,Did you at an 

-plf-linant here?, :levi:-;r ifl m 

Q. Old you evr ,eolv 
. • 

TivnfsliY, In 

so w(:..? 

r, 11; Jewic 

• • • 1 „A 

having ruined thiS com.-

'.-... ," •i. 

•4 

T , " 11Ib 0 LC s 

p. 



OX)Veancio.a yy,lu attt hOr-Th the Ang rooM 

of h r a.pertrn$nta nd that 'you uere hu6giUg.s4d kit:Win(; 

that )ordeXter You coax d ahd induced her t,c have jrite'rOoUr00 

With You, premising hir tha 

Did any such obourrence t „g!e place? A. 

Were you there 

'Mat time did you. 

yi)1.1 were me,rry 1-4,:r shortly thereafter. 

103th? "Ke,.. air • 

.aavo? A Ahout twoho 

ten After 11 I was in SLM11., 2trkc 

It 'was testified 

of leven,; and 

c th“.t you lpft 

.ah'out• tbree or 011T 0 ClOQL ei 7 . Io .:pat. so/ A  .pan. 

swear,that.I was  heyer thc twelVe clockk 

Q Di you ever tell. comPlain rr--•withe that wouldfloh.rr • 

her in  a..bou* six weekb time, sir. 

nr that you ww2,11 marry her, the felle-in: dasrf, 

Or that you were stirA and you coulrin"- nrrr her? A '.11‘ 

pid you ever nok tu 

as s mistress? A iI 

o 

Come with yr.,u,. nd live with 

suv. thincr tr her 

.witnesses who,testlil u fv tli. I.:cp1e?, A .Ney$r. 
• 

' -Did ircyu'ever .tace comPqaihan41 cfmplaining witness 

or to ahy 

_ ahy movinc; picture Cho/ N6vor. 

Did you 

Mr 

014,71v6 you 

,P.!4TFATT0N. 

f,%nyt,oincr? 

',060 oh tl 



£1t iht that you were thW2e, don t'youvi 

Arid yot are au o Lt wa4 twenty minu6sof løven? 

was thelascorld time. 

ere, you there on tho 1Dth? A .1" never was the 4* A:. 4.'`..er 44.417 • • • • — .—

a sume. that there is e, confusion of dated in your rpt, 

and T cion't want to take aavantaa'e of that When were you first 

there? A The 19th of May. 

•You were not n In  n MX.  rnmnt s hou 

thr.tt night?, A Yea, 

What time ' di 0. 
• 

And where did 

C, • ITA1 pa 6i ght . 

rdC from? A Frem my hoUsei 

Wa'snt t •that, the 171 r s t trai yOu rr,e t her , On 8.atul.'de,y 

according to your ry ? A ' pir; this was the second time. 

Well, en the condnight, Wednealay night, how do you 
4 

ber, that it was twenty minutes of eleven whe, you left -he house". 

A •A soon as we came downs+ airs., we, ps,ssed a Candy sto. and. 

saw a °loch, and I said, "You' sOe it is alr.y-idy twenty minute 

after eleven." 

Y :sem:ember -that clist-i tmt3 y .now, do you? A Yes 40 gar* 

Now 1, when Were you wit'L other girl, when were you 

with her, this ethF‘r gir f yourgs? A he .was at that time in 
• t 

Phil  rh ia , 1. s. uonsi,': 

, .11)1.1 • 

T 'm " 
fiTtit with her , after oho ar v.•ci y 

nigbt  r th1ni It 3 u..t: o Bno 

What time 016 'thAt 

.wher were y 

, wKs a Frid 



Alec 'ton. 

.'Exactly ten c'eloch 

ten

 

Q. ettetr ten 

Wella.how do you rom6mber no 

? yb o minut a 

that it was ten. o'clock? 

T know f never Was at a irl bott e later th n ten ot look. 

Well, a little thilqo yr,u said that you wre never 

other. sir] ho  1f!...tHr than el p complain 

ballet)... • Wha"did you men that? A No tT; 

Well, you didn't leave her hous.e. until twenty minutes teb. 

-taeVen?. That is lit torn o clock, ion' it? use they 

.71.1ere farcim-f me iv-, stay.. 

And Rt another time or at 'another c7ilts house, were you 

later, than ten o'clock; '10. that -it? A UnisseI went to  the 

theatre to a ehow with her. 

Ana thatts hy you arc GO sure that'it was ten o'clock 

when you left your houael.i;sn June 17th, is that rigtt? 

A Yes •sirs. becauSe it was my custom Pe to bed early., bee 

have got to go to .work the .fo17owi 

1 when did you first know that -4 Wednebiay night., in 

May mas ar imparttint date f r tr remenber? When was it that 

anybod'y 

Mar? A 

accused .yo''. of dol)- anY-1,hin wron on Wednesday night in 

They brouf; " 4 ccUmmoho wer to me 0.71' june TO). 
,o 

aid you know t..hat that: involed auq o.tiGn,a3ainst. 

Yv.o. on A Wednesday night in M.i'iy? No, MI, 

.Q Isn't' it a f4ct .tht10, ;1,110 first time y61.) 1...now that you, 

-were •aooussd .of doing sdd htc .1.14 .'My was .on 



ow. 4.10. No le; 4,1111. 

the 28th 

the 28th. 

f June at a hcn n 'no Magistrate,s 00.6rt? A 

.Wel,14 When was' the hearing in the gitretós. Court? 

The lawyer told me) after I brough.Y.the summons over to him. 

Well) you heard ac,me people testify in the Magistrates!:: 

Court, didn't you; these witnesses who have been. here today? A 

6 That was 801710 time aro1.nt7 ,0 first of July,'was. it not? 

; was in the middlet-.of Jun 

june 2 lot A Maybe 

wisn't fLot th time you hearkthese p ()pia 

testify was thejirst tlme, anOu:rj, ng. to your story, that you %new 

you ''ere accuoed• of anything miadle of May, or on a rednesday 

ni ..ht in gay? A Yes 

Do und#rstand you t• .say -,-. Question withdrawn, And  

that was the firs time waSn't it, hat.yru had any ooc&sion to 

think of what time you _-.1ft tbiG housr on a Wednesday njht in May? 

A It. is not a v -'y 

'Eut you rprrember that you•left i. a tenty minutes.to 

eloyen.;'is that iht? A Ys,.sure. 

•And ydu are so .sure ol.that iaty, repeg 

ts'unde.oath t- ;ha• is .he ;ime that youleft?. 

twol 

'1117-OrMPT: '1 third; ‘0111 noutluuo 

g, Mr. Oloott. 

(The Court admonishe0. thr ;n tonoo with Seotion 

,tc) mor row 

415 the Codr.- of Criminal ProGolIllrr okjournod. the fur-,. 

ther trial of the case unti Tucsy mornin, April 9th,191 

t n.thirty 0Olook.) 



c. ....-•••• • • .. 

TnIAL RStWEID 

Now York, Tuesday APril 9th, 191S, 

n 0 $ tr, the defendant 'his cross examination 

ing continued through the Off ioial Int rpreter Mr. 

Rosenthal, testified as follows: 

OROSS.EXAYINATIN CONTINUED BY MR.. OLOOTT! 

Q Now, Mr. Rosen., dd yop ever see any of these witnesses 

who appe ed here? I refer to Mrs SilverMan, J. Si1vermint1.-

Mr's. Xreieer and 'Mrs. Freedman?. bJd. you see. tImm, before May, 19 

A Never. 

23rd. 

• -*When wasit that irc,ti • li-ok.1•Yy first 

And di 1 you ever bee Wirs K:reiser again? 

,1 don'V now r by .n=0. 

Q • She . is the fir,'witness that appeared; here af ter 

ofsky-, ayeunr, woman., tr.1.-.; •vionlati? A She was In. 1y house 

:p opl 

may know 

And. when-. ilras that? • A )0i,t the . tenth or eleventh of 

June. 1t was anyway, fer, the 7th of June. 

nd LthP)r, yolk saw ,:j. fl 1311. vice; - t41, 

,1 to ge the r 

•r.,. You 3) ver 

cos.son that yo 

.t..Ian spoke to 'fic 

• Wire „. •,. 

21Vh, 

t' ;June any quaxr el with 

testify hr.? 

; t ,par trnent tbz; 
• 

May 18th 



q •That was's, Friday? A Saturda 

Saturday? A _Yes.,„ r, 

And how often after the it 

Q Both times athor house? A Yes,sir. 

And obe never creme to your touse7 A ,The 7 
m. 

given the summons, after work, wtheevoning;, 

Cl 

And did she have a talk with • you the/ 

IL 
I •1/4,, 

Well, please tes11 v what that conve!osation. was? A She 

eam to me and..told. me tiwt Tho A f7-0 and married- with her. 

Was that the firt timt. that she had ever talked to you 

about -ettinu; ied •witi. Yotta?- A Yes sir. 

Q Never had said arytbir),e. .Dout ;:,-etting married before that; 

riEht? A No, 

Nothing was ever srid r ttinarried on the (Domed' 

when you saw her at ''er• hous? 4ever spoke. 

n never., up to the d4te, had had any. quarrel with 3i.er?. 

A' Except that_i_spoke to hey I didn't speak to her 

at all, 

And v ha+ did yoit husband? A Once when 

UP th.,.) .spoke.abor 

was tivit 

ordinar 

1,"1.4t, 

4Alk. 

then, 

a'quarr 

Anse people 

otr.%r and 

1' 



_ 

- 

sPeak very itu_ph4 pay a fow word0., 

Q Do you know Mis.oilvortlinz? A Yea, sir. 

ci Had you ever seen her before May, 1917? Neve 

Q When iLid you se? her for the first tii,1 

3r. 

And', aft, r't'le a3rd 

EIFIN7 

The 23rd, 

)f May, di you .t any..til 

in t)'w .:071 j11116 ,.:1!11116 'with her 

Witt' Mrs,. •Silvirtne..n, underatand. tO vlo&n by 

ni!oia;t. thl.t 755i uir. 

Never had any quarreIwith her or any worthier A 

only. sc.ia'she  knew my.falily,' and she didnit,.want to .t 

she was. 

Then w.3 that? On June 7th. -

low lon ai6:1 :nT en the 23rd of My - 

in'theev nin6, af,,er wcrk. It Vly talf,. ten Linutes.or 

half ar, until 1 

uupptap. 

Mr. i1verrnin, I • 

tii 7snt awty to 
.ettiW;q 

,.ut now. On the.23rA' 

• t:he, in3e Mr. 11lverman how 1/7 4asit  • '!", ba;t you saw. Mr 

Silverminz? .1,1. be ablAt ' 

07•-'4gfric' 

cinutes. 

jf 1'1(.1! lw 

t 

tbe Yth' f 

7).npe or  

and 1-,br.:t 

0444.51 



., • Ire 

7 

:11.roneitio„,t, you4 r,loquaintanootu m•ot yull t Silve:mwo!u 

Thtliti0 not true. Sbe balre seen me, hutaidn t 

-knovr her-. 

The point I make i, YOU any oonversati 
' • 

about having seen ea6h oidi.r, n.:)wr • •,• -PQr severai 

-yoaltFIT 

isn't 

or any ..f.ac 

marriag(0 wvh N;etta or r, 

7t11-. whth t.ts6 

nnrrre 

•t iU1 t bat any 

; Lut 

;'101:ry t., ‘Gtta, was on the  

Le.1)1 to yoUV. 1.10USO A I. on sWest 

everything that ie Wholly Lop was firet time  

You haven 'Ione anyt.hiii t. the ,;1rl;,youhaven1t:1 

intero3urse with hsr,')r. even t en . c;.tion;. t. her.;is that" 

right? A 'Vethin;3  

Can yr..0• ahy'r!ile,son t ua-why Ibis should 

. :have piokl: r.)u out. the whbil,.e o ,1;4471 )./1 the east sid.1: 

7!1. AUT79.7A Obje, F yu4 

You ,re.not there , 16th of May th ho.0se 

Eqlvertnan? A. I- d.i(In't 

And on the 23rd ;).f: 
-•;14xtvs. . ,.• 

f mqvr-4 
11-4-11tZA.m.-"F7.. 

- 

• r i Jag ,idthat. 11..1•• 

- n•-• !A! 

• 

.phere 

• 

was. 

14.'y 3rou VI Ore ther,a • 

ria)oh you  

a no 



4V4iffift*P-041ft 

WelI  row tell us w111.yaapjus'i; what the top 

versation wa wha. was said by the v4xlcuo ople t 

,you said'i on tIle night of the 23r1 of 4 A On the 23rd 

4 oonverea ion wit them in iese than ten4ninutse.. 

' When  :1 came in there, a cousin of tho yunT i1' O12  in and 
, 

oho, said phe awe tc go out.wi h hex to , and they otaxted 

te'tAA about .bats. 

you e 7 thmf only ;.t..i I tr io t at right? 

st 
3 ' r N longer tir;o, 

talk. 

D 4 they say anything about Yettzt.' zar"riage to you, 

ahything-lik,,! that? No,

find lists 

You were just as callr there 

and,, theee psOle IIIITIpea to b 

There weie 

couiia Mtta? 

A.4.: right; t 

tht!rel Yes,sir. 

A.1•10.0,Z. 

see Yeti., 

4.1 

weren't they, .6 af41:0 the 

The other two :Iiitales ile;i7e there about- ten f';r 

fifteen minutes,and they isft. 

u-lr, after these pop lc 15Ct, did yo cut? A I wantini to 

go away, but they wu1dn t le', we 

And. you at yed there a.).1 

Oeven, Ic that right? A 3ix. 

1.5.,4 WV-4y, tAloy 1.111.111T, 

• 4to, tO  

, Flay "tby!' 

in th;' 

, 

tweaty minate 

Several • times.' .g.ot 

1 

"7\.,u have 



•nigh.11,411110* 

rui 'dicl you talk to h.. about,.apythingi Bid you. 

join• in the conve;:eation?'. A Noo 

• Just sat there and never s word? 

a picture, her picture., and they shrwed it 

But nothing- w:,3,i3 said about arriage? A Nc. 

The4-brouish 

Q And, after the 83ti, hq1.94 often 'did you see. Yetta? A 

the :38th thRt was Monday night f ter cybr holiday,Pentacost. 

ho.usd. 

Where was that that you saw Yet,tR, fiu11 ? A In her 

'tow lon diAT yol:; e ay ± .1 her house tht nigh -Until 

a quarter aft,r nine, about. 

.4 Were ."there other people prent th,7re then?. A 'AMan was 

there. 

Q Well,. you just -stayed. thevE: and talked; is that tight? 

Well, we were talking about .r.f;cistrattor day, that- they 

tutto'go nd register. 

nythins.. said about, MeCtr:' on.t a. , asio 

JTd y-.11,1 rut  your arm eiroitnj..her or 113r. or make 
'0 • 

uny other frig, J3y derlf,nqt.with vett;a? 

vv,R1.4ii k a .rag?'  

29t11, VQI). 

neNier. 

"lave iu a Ihith :the 

thnt WfE thj ti r+?h,!;, , LA_ , yollr 

in" Sir . 

bofore-



you. mo.,r=y h all the Said when. she Came to '7our 

rAaoo oX business, wasnt t-it? A Noo A man came up arid Gadd4 

woman wanted tO see me, and I came down in my workinG olothop„ 

and ieawher the-e  

.11.nd 1 asked her,'Ina you doing h re?" She said, she 

, had tught that I would go t* register the following day, 

omail to tell ins :that -T. shouldn't o to. re gi star.. 

rI And no.thin, altie was' said, A iN nir. 

And -nothing was idbout MarriaL A . No, sir. 

Did she 51P3r say any,, 1/1 tt ycu. Ooute marriage.? No, 4ir. 

4. Not until she testif 6d in e trates  Court is-tto.t 

right? ANo . 

THF TrELF H041.11'.10P.: MAy 

T:"E COTiRT 4Y e*., certainly. 

THE TWELFTH JTAM:.-

Q What lay- r,f t'le month wre. you born on, Mr, .1.1.o.3en7 

t1±1rF,. day of January. 

4.17 '1172LF.TH: Well, 1would like t know the date of 

nionth tTla,tio mplainant was born, pn. 

OL 0 T : We- oan .reoTj.l.' the oonplainaint as to that 0. 

. your, Honor. .. 

THF COURT: My not' L.ir was tw'eq.1 

r 6 of ago. 

T T DZFENDA :' 1 

k n).y ur Honor. 

.',1NAT:i..ON 

• I Arpy 

• • L. .L1: 1'066 

's.. 
Pti 



*Mk' rt 

the Xi:cot occasion trna 11.P40 you 4fter PrOPooin3rriie 

tOld her to stop work to •utop from the Work that. ho 

Dia y u ever toll lor any *acii.thine? A neve 

said that to her. 

It WOO testified to here t complaining witneetfil, 

4nd the other witnesses for the prosecution, that you 11,14 at vartc--

12undr 1,4411ars in thslosa? 

n. witne00? 

selid that you ha!). twanty-f.' 

ma any. 

YA ever mako 

whu testified here?., A No 

:J4(it otherwitneso.e.S. 

It was testified 4, . ,..)mplainiag 'itn 

the 16th day of .May, 1917, c& .:, met you, and.,told.you that'Obs 

w.as afraid she ,was in a p:;icnant condition? A She didn't say 

anythinG of the kind to me. 

And she t53tified th you had advi d go and 

s ee a -dcat and shecy 

Q:1in of the .kin  

AUE.17.13A 

zio vv-olto:3..you t.o accompany h 

wiii rocal 

u sir. 

complaininj witness. 

'twe1ith jur nted to as'. hi- a Tuestion, your Tdc)nc:17. 

7HP 7ory wel), 

A L V 7) F r < Y, t'ne c'mplaJnin0; witness, "Seine ro-. 

LLed by. the Detri.ct At4.orney1 

.fallowe: 

.MR, AUERBACH: If you. 1.1nnr P 

0.)utl. 14 testified us 

Just, want onu 
h. 4 



, 

r 

COUnT: VerY well' 

4 OLCOTm:- Shall we have this one 

r"•111 CVIRT Yes . We might as veil' 

oNINATION 8Y 1R.. OTACir 

know theday o Lth wnth and,- yon,r 

'.'•octre born? A N. 

t O1 d U 6 t.11 at. 'you -Tor. ,  t, 

yt.0 o1ebrat. s yoor rtt 

but. T have...no borth 

And each year 

)1(ler..; ie that right? 

,hr of age 1:ww,.! 

T ]now i ab6u-4.; 

ld T M not "sur a 

about you ay that you •a.r,e 

Yr=.P 

CI), And .you vre nty -thy w 

;id r. 

1,r.s December, 1t Chr 

s that ribt7 A La t. st.futo I was twerity thr 

MR 7,-.)-BA • 

0 T. D 

SUR 14 'TB U'I'T 
• 'too 

a witnoss..o.,11 

f6mse, f 214 Eldridze, S ly.1.1' 1. ed. as f oil 7,8: 
. • . 

Uf,XMiNATIc)N BY MR  AUEHBAC 

you''peak 

, pxar. busineesi 

tme,44 

ye ay 

4noess I Malw 

,4n business for y&',.;r1-..4.::.0....f"?. sir • 

, inpyr 1;110 deft' pel t • '.11-,:nt,)* sarh 



-116w.lotIg lave. you ImmikhimT L (liso'.anrwol 

,(The ciPpet.ion zepeatov., the Official 

'than thiliv year 

Now .) yop oome 

O?., =.1,rt.-,flP•n:11. at.nd" h&C1.a 'bed 

up a sta4n "To leim 

he been liviLF- r, n Di9 ? A y 

has been teetified-t:? 11-0.,r,e:,My•s• GOld6tein, that. 
, 

te the lc..3th of hrttLy , )17 , e.Lnd 

'19.m4a•e.to your bowie 'to SA1ij ctna t:t. fter a con-

• vLi,r.f..:!atiori that you heard, y c/u that if those vere.the faots 

these woman. stat -ft them to br. that the 'efenthtnt we,:s guilty 

ought to marry this • rromar, r.eferTing to .Yetta •Lvofsky? -A 

don'r.t remember %nything about 

Q. • Bid over 'eW'" thifendant -- A I myself.lam 

Inc); at a machine n theeveni,.ir. We are buSy people. 

Q. Now, you voh,1t)coasion on). Coldstien to observe the • 

bitsof the deforidrtnt? A Y •:; cy 

No'./, the defendant ter,1,1 fit 

early bour. 

(0b.jooted. to. 

Nil1y6u tel.] the 

L•.; J.1 

0,A L.1 • 

(.101.)..1:4 4: 

tovicinity) 

.e,..r; to re$pectaLi1it4., 

t).:1,00T11:! objE r..# t, • 

that 'h. h as at all t Iles; 

(.4hs.6r, at ato )iirtde 
. . 

may irhael, 

(". of the -ler ende.a.). 

1?-,p1.1.1.(11,3anTlinese? 

•nil Of P 11..testion, 



'01.1Stained1 rzitoopti.r, 

? A.TTICFMACTI: Tha.tt.t1.el,:  

a. OWInTT.: No 143s ion& 

11,13ERPA.Q 

1'01 11 • ,OOTT:. We 

0 4 MACH:- If 

1.E.Imiss the complaint., 

i.tflt on the tame groun• pnr 

. case, and. 'o n . th flar tlat, 

C make ou, cas 

•a lieged in ths, indiotaient. 

mTIF. COURT: Motion deniod.,, 

MR. 4111R'9ACT: Execpticn. 

INN 

-1. new. renew  

0.1 la char.ge of the 'do—

th clooe of the People's 

the:, 1)eop have f 

n under promise of marriage 
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